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Looking forward, we believe that Powerwave has one of the
strongest product portfolios in the wireless infrastructure
industry. With our acquisition of Filtronic’s Wireless Infra-
structure division business, we believe that we now have the
wireless industry’s best filter design and manufacturing re-
sources and capability. We believe these assets will provide
key enabling technologies for the next generations of wireless
solutions. In fact, all of our leading edge technologies—such
as fully digital Remote Radio Heads that are revolutionizing
the industry and WiMAX solutions—are focused on delivering
the next generation of technology that our customers are de-
manding.

We continue to be determined and committed to exceed the
expectations of our customers and in doing so, we believe
that we will be able to deliver long-term returns to you, our
shareholders. We greatly appreciate your continued support
and we remain extremely focused an returning this company
to profitability and we will do everything we can to build and
maintain your confidence going forward.

v

Ronald }. Buschur
President and Chief Executive Officer

July 2007




Letter to Shareholders

Powerwave. Powering the Next Wave of Growth in Wireless™

| Powerwave. We're [EV@B'Q] where

| Wireless Communications are.

CED Letter | July 2007

Dear Shareholders,

2006 was a year of both opportunities and challenges
for Powerwave Technologies. On the opportunity side,
we completed several trapsactions and implemented key
infrastructure respurces that we believe are necessary
for our long-term success. This included the acquisitions
of both the Filtronic plc Wireless Infrastructure division
business and the VersaFlex™ enclosure business, which
broadened and enhanced our praduct portfolio as well
as opened opportunities in new market segments. We
also completed the initial implermentation of our new
ERP system as well as continued the integration of our
previous acquisitions.

On the other hand, market forces beyand our contral—
primarily a significant slowdown in demand across our
glabal customer base due to the consolidation among
several major original equipment manufacturers as well
as several large wireless netwark operatars—negatively
impacted both our revenues and our profitability. This
impact was felt throughout our industry and in both our
0EM and wireless network cperatar customer bases. For-
tunately, we do not believe that this spending slowdown
is a long-term trend and we do believe that as these con-
solidations slow down, our customers will once again
demanstrate growth in demand for our types of products
and services, We continue to believe that the fundamen-
tat long-term outlook for our industry remains quite posi-
tive as we see continued grawth in worldwide subscribers

and continued growth in the use of wireless data, We also see
increasing demands for faster access to data in whatever form
that may take, including email, videa, internet, etc,

In response to market facters, we have taken aggressive steps
10 reduce our casts, including numerous consalidation activities
in our giobal operations. Our objective is to better structure aur
global manufacturing operations in fight of market conditions
with the goal of reducing our overhead costs and excess manu-
facturing capacity. Actions include the closure of our Casta Rica
manufacturing location in the fourth quarter of 2006 as well as
the consolidation af our Shanghai and Wuxi manufacturing loca-
tigns to gur Suzhou, China location during 2007.

In addition, we are taking actions to reduce head count in select
locations and will continue to wark an reducing cur operating ex-
penses as we mave through 2007.

While the industry has experienced a significant stowdown
aver the last year, we do not believe that we lost market share
to our competition, On the centrary, we believe that we're well
positioned to increase market penetration as spending returns
to more normal levels. It appears that many network operatars
are entering the early stages of significant spending that should
extend over the next few years as they rollout next generation
products and services, such as video, music and Internet. This
plays directly to Powerwave's competitive strengths,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA:
Net sales
Gross profit
Dperating income {loss)
Income [(loss] fram continuing operations
Total discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income [loss)
Earnings (loss] per share from continuing
operatians:

Basic

Diluted
Earnings (loss] per share from discontinuing
operations:

Basic

Diluted
Net earnings (loss} per share:

Basic

Diluted
Basic weighted average common shares
Diluted weighted average common shares

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA:

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and
short-term investments

Working capftal

Total assets

Long-term debt, net of current portion

Total shareholders’ equity

December 31,
2006 1

$ 716,885
99,891
(135,839)
(137.546)
(21,357

$ (158,803

$[1.19)
$[1.19]

$(0.18}
${0.18)

$(1.37)
$(1.37)
115,918
115,918

$ 47836
249,464
1,215,732
330,000
$ 651,598

(1] Fiscal year 2006 includes the financial results of Filtronic beginning October 2006.
(2] Fiscal year 2005 includes the financial results of REMEC's Wireless beginning Septemnber 2005

January 1,
2006 @

$ 784,330
204,553
54,236
52,560
(1,914]

$ 50,646

$0.51
$0.44

$(0.02)
$(0.02]

$0.49
$0.42
103,396
135,906

$ 232479
384,677
1,130,184
330,000
$ 581,261

January 2,
2005

$ 448,868
104,383
(27,304)
{72,788)

665

§[72,122]

$(0.81]
${0.81]

$0.01
$0.01

${0.80]
$[0.80]
90,212
90,212

$ 289,443
344,132
1,020,771
330,000
$ 515,612

December 28,
2003

$ 239,069
16,215
(55.824)
132,859)

$ (32,859)

$(0.51)
$(0.51]

§ —
$ —

$(0.51)
$(0.51)
64,667
64,667

$ 260,528
280,245
466,257
130,000

$ 271,037

December 29,
2002

$ 384,889
62,782
3,910
4,111

$4,111

$0.06
$0.06

$ —
$ —

$0.06
$0.06
65,485
66,230

$ 162,529
218,504
369,173

$ 325,661




UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006

OR
[ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission File Number 000-21507

POWERWAVE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

{Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 11-2723423
(State or other jurisdiction of (LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization}) Identification No.)

1801 E. St. Andrew Place, Santa Ana, CA 92705

{Address of principal executive offices, zip code)
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (714} 466-1000
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: Common Stock, Par Value $.0001 Nasdaq Global Select Market
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act. Yes No []

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange
Act. Yes ] No

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months {or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file
such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No []

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant 1o Item 4035 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and
will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference
in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See

definition of “accelerated filer” and “large accelerated filer” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer [ ] Non-accelerated filer []

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).  Yes [] No

As of July 2, 2006, the aggregaie market value of the voting stock of the Registrant held by non-affiliates of the Registrant
was $1,000,786,994 computed using the closing price of $9.12 per share of Common Stock on June 30, 2006, the last trading day
of the second quarter, as reported by Nasdaq, based on the assumption that directors and officers and more than 10% stockholders
are affiliates. As of February 23, 2007 the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock. par value $.0001 per share, of the
Registrant was 130,201,727,

Documents Incorporated by Reference
Document Description 10-K Part

Portions of the Registrant’s notice of annua!l meeting of stockholders and proxy statement to be filed
pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after Registrant’s fiscal year ended of December 31,
2006 are incorporated by reference into Part Il of thisteport. ... ... .. .. ... oo i L, III (Items 10, 11,12, 13, 14)




POWERWAVE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

INDEX
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT RELATED TO FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS ............. 3
HOW TO OBTAIN POWERWAVE SECFILINGS .. ... .. .. it 3
PART I L e e s 3
ITEM L. BUSIDESS .ottt e et et e et e et e et 3
ITEM TA. Risk Factors ... ... .ot i e e e i3
ITEM IB. Unresolved Staff Comments . . ... .. ... ... . . i i i 25
ITEM 2. Properties ............cuiiniiiin ittt i ia et iaee s 26
ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings . ... ...ttt ittt iaaaianens 26
ITEM 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders ......................... 27
PART Il L. e e e e 28
ITEM 5 Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities .. ...... ... ... o 28
ITEM 6 Selected Financial Data .. .. ... ... . . . i i s 31
ITEM 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financia}! Condition and Results of
OPerations . .. ... ... .. e e e 32
ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk .. ................. 54
ITEM 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ......... ... .. ... ... ... ..... 56
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ................ 57
Consolidated Balance Sheets . ........ . .. .. ... i iiiiininn. 58
Consolidated Statements of Operations . ...... ... 0 i 59
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Operattons . .................. 60
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity ............... .. ....... 61
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows .......................... . 62
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . ......... .. ... .. ... 63
Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) .............. ... ... .. .o, 96
ITEM 9.  Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
DHSCIOSUIE . .. e 97
ITEMOA, Controlsand Procedures . .. ... .. ... ... .. . i iiiiriniiiniiinnaanns 97
ITEM9B. OtherInformation ....... ... ... ..o e, 100
N 53 N 1 100
ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance .. .................... 100
ITEM 11. Executive COmMpensation . ................ oo miiiiaiiiiianss 100
ITEM 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters .. ............iiiii i ianan 100
ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence ... .... 100
ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services ........... ... ... .. ... .. n... 100
PART [V L e e e 101
ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules ........ ... ... ... .. ... .. .. ... ... 101
SIGNATURES ... i e et e e e e e e 107
SCHEDULE II-—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS ... . . e 108

2




CAUTIONARY STATEMENT RELATED TO FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes forward-looking statements as defined within Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
relating to revenue, revenue composition, market conditions, demand and pricing trends, future expense levels,
competition and growth prospects in our industry, trends in average selling prices and gross margins, product
and infrastructure development, market demand and acceptance, the timing of and demand for next generation
products, customer relationships, tax rates, employee relations, the timing of and cost saving synergies from
integration activities of the former LGP Allgon and REMEC, Inc.’s Wireless Systems Businesses (“"REMEC
Wireless” ) and the Wireless Infrastructure Division Business of Filtronic plc ( "Filtronic Wireless”),
restructuring charges, the completion of integration activities related to LGP Allgon, REMEC Wireless and
Filtronic Wireless and the level of expected future capital and research and development expenditures. Such
SJorward-looking statements are based on the beliefs of, estimates made by, and information currently available to
Powerwave Technologies, Inc.’s (“Powerwave” or the “Company" ) management and are subject 1o certain
risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Any other statements contained herein {including withour limitation
Statements {o the effect that Powerwave or management “estimates,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “plans,”
“believes,” “projects,” “continues,” "may,” “will,” “could,” or “would” or statements concerning “potential”
or “opportunity” or variations thereof or comparable terminology or the negative thereof) that are not
statements of historical fact are also forward-looking statements. The actual results of Powerwave may vary
materially from those expected or anticipated in these forward-looking statements. The realization of such
Sorward-looking statements may be impacted by certain important unanticipated factors, including those
discussed in under Part I, Item [A, "Risk Factors.” Because of these and other factors that may affect
Powerwave's operating results, past performance should not be considered as an indicator of future
performance, and investors should not use historical results 10 anticipate results or trends in future periods. We
undertake no obligation to publicly release the results of any revisions to these forward-looking statements that
may be made 1o reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or 1o reflect the occurrence of unanticipated
events. Keaders should carefully review the risk factors described in this and other documents that Powerwave
files from time 10 time with the Securities and Fxchange Commission, including subsequent Current Reports on
Form 8-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Annual Reports on Form 10-K.

"o

FLINTY FYINTY

HOW TO OBTAIN POWERWAVE SEC FILINGS

All reports filed by Powerwave with the SEC are available free of charge via EDGAR through the SEC
website at www.sec.gov. In addition, the public may read and copy materials filed by the Company with the SEC
at the SEC’s public reference room located at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Powerwave also
provides copies of its Forms 8-K, 10-K, 10-Q, Proxy Statement and Annual Report at no charge to investors upon
request and makes electronic copies of its most recently filed reports available through its website at
www.powerwave.com as soon as reasonably practicable after filing such material with the SEC.

PART 1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

Powerwave Technologies, Inc. (“Powerwave” or the “Company” or “our” or “we™) was incorporated in
Delaware in January 1985, originally under the name Milcom International, Inc., and changed its name to
Powerwave Technologies, Inc. in June 1996. Powerwave is a global supplier of end-to-end wireless solutions for
wireless communications networks. OQur business consists of the design, manufacture and marketing and sale of
products to improve coverage, capacity and data speed in wireless communications networks, including antennas,
boosters, combiners, filters, radio frequency power amplifiers, repeaters, tower-mounted amplifiers, and
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advanced coverage solutions. These products are utilized in major wireless networks throughout the world which
support voice and data communications by use of cell phones and other wireless communication devices. We sell
such products to both original equipment manufacturers, who incorporate our products into their proprietary base
stations (which they then sell to network operators), and directly to individual wireless network operators for
deployment into their existing networks.

We believe that our future success depends upon continued growth in demand for wireless services as well
as our ability to broaden our customer base. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 (“fiscal 2006™), our
largest customer was Nokia, who accounted for approximately 21% of our net sales. Our next largest customer in
fiscal 2006, Siemens, accounted for approximately 13% of our net sales. These two customers have proposed to
form a new joint venture company consisting of both companies wireless infrastructure divisions. During the
fourth quarter of 2006, these two customers significantly reduced their purchases of our products due to what we
believe is an effort to minimize their inventory levels prior to the completion of their proposed joint venture. This
reduction had a negative impact on our business and results of operations. The loss of either of these customers,
or a significant loss, reduction or rescheduling of orders from any of our customers would have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. See “We rely upon a few customers
for the mhjority of our revenues...; and Our success is tied to the growth of the wireless services communications
market...” under Part [, Item LA, “Risk Factors.”

A limited number of large original equipment manufacturers and large global wireless network operators
account for a majority of wireless base station equipment purchasers in the wireless equipment market, and our
future success is dependent upon our ability to establish and maintain relationships with these types of customers.
While we regularly attempt to expand our customer base, we cannot give any assurance that a major customer
will not reduce, delay or eliminate its purchases from us. During fiscal 2006 we experienced significant
reductions in demand from Cingular Wireless, Nokia and Siemens, which had an adverse effect on our business
and resulis of operations. We have also previously experienced significant reductions in demand from our
customers, including the significant reduction in demand during fiscal 2003 as compared to fiscal 2002 that had
an adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Any future reductions in demand by any of our major
customers would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. See
“We rely upon a few customers for the majority of our revenues..."” under Part 1, item LA, “Risk Factors.”

We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, declining average sales prices for our products.
Consolidation among wireless service providers has enabled such companies to place increased pricing pressure
on wireless infrastructure manufacturers, which in turn has resulted in downward pricing pressure on our
products. In addition, ongoing competitive pressures and consolidation within the wireless infrastructure
equipment market have put pressure on us to continually reduce the sales price of our products. Consequently, we
believe that our gross margins may decline over time and that in order to maintain or improve our gross margins,
we must achieve manufacturing cost reductions, reduce our overhead costs as well as our operating expenses and
develop new products that incorporate advanced features that may generate higher gross margins. See “Our
success is tied to the growth of the wireless services communications market...; and Our average sales prices
have declined...” under Part I, Item 1A, *Risk Factors.”

Significant Business Developments in Fiscal 2006

On September 29, 2006 we completed the sale of Arkivator Falkoping AB (“Arkivator”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary. Arkivator consisted of all of our contract manufacturing segment. Therefore, with its sale, our
contract manufacturing segment is classified as discontinued operations and the results of operations of this
segment are removed from our continuing operations for all periods presented (see Note 18 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements under Part [1, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”).

On October 13, 2006, we entered into a Credit Agreement with the Lenders party thereto from time to time,
Bank of America, N.A., as Documentation Agent, and Comerica Bank, as Administrative Agent (the “Credit
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Agreement”). The Credit Agreement was amended in February 2007 with an effective date of December 31,
2006 (see Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statement under Part I1, Item 8, “Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data’™).

The Amended Credit Agreement provides for up to a $75 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolving
Credit Facility”), which includes a $10 million sublimit for the issuance of standby letters of credit and a $20
million sublimit for multicurrency borrowings in Euro, Sterling, Yen and Swedish Krona. The obligations under
the Amended Credit Agreement are guaranteed by Powerwave Wireless, Inc. and secured by substantially all
present and future assets and properties of the Company, its subsidiaries and Powerwave Wireless Inc. The
obligations under the Amended Credit Agreement are also secured by a pledge of 65% of the capital stock of
Powerwave Technologies Sweden AB. The Amended Credit Agreement requires the Company to maintain
certain financial covenants, including liquidity ratio, minimum EBITDA and accounts receivable borrowing base.

On October 15, 2006, we completed the acquisition of the Wireless Infrastructure Division business of
Filtronic ple, which consisted of acquiring all the outstanding voting securities of Filtronic {Overseas Holdings)
Limited and substantially all of the assets of Filtronic Comtek (UK) Limited, each such entity a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Filtronic plc, a company registered in England and Wales (such transaction, the “Filtronic Wireless
Acquisition”). The purchase price consisted of $185 million in cash and 17.7 million shares of our Common
Stock valued at $163.1 million based on the average closing price of $9.22 per share for three days before and
after the announcement of the acquisition on June 12, 2006 (see Note 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements under Part I1, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”}.

Industry Segments and Geographic Information

Powerwave operates in one reportable business segment: “Wireless Communications.” All of our revenues
are derived from the sale of wireless communications network products and coverage solutions, including
antennas, boosters, combiners, filters, radio frequency power amplifiers, repeaters, tower-mounted amplifiers and
advanced coverage solutions for use in cellular, PCS, and 3G wireless communications networks throughout the
world. Our products are sold globally and produced in multiple locations.

On September 29, 2006, we sold our Arkivator subsidiary which consisted of our entire contract
manufacturing segment. Consequently, our contract manufacturing segment is now classified as a discontinued
operation and the results of this segment are removed from continuing operations for all reporting periods (see
Note 18 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Part 11, Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data™),

Business Strategy

Powerwave’s stralegy is to become the teading supplier of advanced solutions to the wireless
communications industry and includes the following key elements:

+ providing leading technology to the wireless communications infrastructure equipment industry through
research and development that continues to improve our products’ technical performance while reducing
our costs and establishing new levels of technical performance for the industry;

» utilizing our research and development efforts combined with our internal and external manufacturing
and supply chain capabilities to raise our productivity and to lower our produci costs;

« leveraging our position as a leading supplier of wireless communication products and coverage solutions
to increase our market share and expand our relationships with both our existing customers and potential
new customers;

+ continuing to expand our customer base of witeless network original equipment manufacturers and
leading wireless network operators; and

= maintaining our focus on the quality, reliability and manufacturability of our wireless communications
products and coverage solutions.




Our focus on radio frequency technology and the experience we: have gained through the implementation of
our products in both analog and digital wireless networks throughout the world has enabled us to develop
substantial expertise in various aspects of wireless infrastructure equipment technology. We intend to continue to
research and develop new methods to improve our products performance, including efforts to support future
generation transmission standards. We believe that both our existing products and new products under
development will enable us to continue to expand our customer base by offering a broad range of products at
attractive price points to meet the diverse requirements of wireless original equipment manufacturers and
network operators. We also intend to leverage our preduct lines in an attempt to expand our relationships with
our existing customers and to add new customers. We believe that we are able to respond quickly and cost-
effectively 10 new transmission protocols and design specifications by obtaining components from numerous
leading technology companies and utilizing various contract manufacturers. We also believe that our focus on the
manufacturability of our product designs helps us to increase our manufacturing productivity while reducing our
product costs. We believe that this ability to offer a broad range of products represents a competitive advantage
over other third-party manufacturers of wireless infrastructure equipment.

If we are unsuccessful in designing new products, improving existing products or reducing the costs of our
products, our inability to meet these objectives would have a negative effect on our gross profit margins,
business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, if our outstanding customer orders were to be
significantly reduced, the resulting loss of purchasing volume would also adversely affect our cost competitive
advantage, which would negatively affect our gross profit margins, business, results of operations and financial
condition. See “Our average sales prices have declined...; and We may fail to develop products that are
sufficiently manufacturable...” under Part I, ltem 1A, “Risk Factors.”

Markets

As a global supplier of end-to-end wireless solutions for wireless communications networks, our business
consists of the design, manufacture, marketing and sale of products to improve coverage, capacity and data speed
in wireless communication networks, including antennas, boosters, combiners, filters, radio frequency power
amplifiers, repeaters, tower-mounted amplifiers and advanced coverage solutions. These products are utilized in
major wireless networks throughout the world that support voice and data communications by use of cell phones
and other wireless communication devices. We sell such products to both original equipment manufacturers, who
incorporate our products into their proprietary base stations (which they then sell to wireless network operators),
and directly to individual wireless network operators for deployment into their existing networks,

Our business depends upon the worldwide demand for wireless communications and the resulting
requirements for infrastructure spending by wireless network operators to support such demand. Today, the
majority of the wireless network operators offer wireless voice and data services on what are commonly referred
to as 2G, 2.5G or 3G networks. These wireless networks utilize commaon transmission protocols including Code
Division Multiple Access or CDMA, Time Division Multiple Access or TDMA, and Global System for Mobile
or GSM, all of which define different standards for transmitting voice and data within wireless networks. Within
these ransmission protocols, there are various improvements available 1o increase the speed of data transmission
or to increase the amount of voice capacity in the network. These types of improvements are generally referred to
as 2.5G and include upgrades to GSM such as General Packet Radio Service or GPRS and Enhanced Data rates
for Global Evolution or EDGE. For CDMA networks, various upgrades are referred to as CDMA 1x,
CDMAZ2000 and CDMA EV/DO.

The newest generation of wireless voice and data transmission protocols is commonly referred to as 3G.
These next generation transmission protocols provide significantly higher data rate transmissions, with
significant additional voice capacity and the ability to transmit high capacity information, such as video and web
access. The major 3G transmission protocol is known as Wideband Code Division Multiple Access or WCDMA.
This protocol is being utilized in the next generation of GSM networks, which are referred to as Universal
Mobile Telecommunication Systems or UMTS.




Principal Product Groups
Our wireless communications business segment is divided into the following product groups:
Antenna Systems

This product group includes base station antennas and tower mounted amplifiers. Powerwave offers an
extensive line of base station antennas which cover all major radio frequency bands including the cellular, PCS
and 2100 MHz bands. Qur products also support all major wireless transmission protocols. Our base station
antenna products include single, dual and triple-band solutions based on proprietary technology in a variety of
sizes. Powerwave also offers remote adjustable electrical tilt antennas which provide remote control and
monitoring capabilities.

We also manufacture a full line of tower mounted amplifiers which improve wireless network performance
by filtering and amplifying as close as possible to the receiving antenna, thus significantly reducing signal loss
and noise. Our tower mounted amplifier products cover all major wireless frequency ranges and transmission
protocols.

Base Station Subsystems

This product group includes products that are installed into or around the base station of wireless networks

" and include products such as boosters, combiners, filters, radio frequency power amplifiers, outdoor cabinets and

radio transceivers,

We offer both single and multi-carrier radio frequency power amplifiers for use in cellular networks,
including ultra-linear multi-carrier radio frequency power amplifiers for CDMA, cdma2000, TDMA and GSM
digital cellular systems as well as analog systems utilizing AMPS and TACS protocols. We also offer both single
and multi-carrier radio frequency power amplifiers for use in PCS networks that operate in the international
DCS-1800 frequency (1800 MHz) and the United States PCS band at 1900 MHz and multi-carrier radio
frequency power amplifiers for 3G UMTS networks operating at 2100 MHz. Typical system applications include
CDMA, CDMA 2000, W-CDMA, TDMA, and GSM protocols with output power ranging from 10 to 180 Watts.

We also produce filters which can improve the signal transmission for both up and down link as well as help
to reduce out of band performance. Our filters cover various wireless frequencies, including cellular, PCS and
2100 MHz. Along with filters we also provide radio frequency power combiners which allow for the connecting
of multiple radio frequency power signals.

We also provide a range of integrated radio solutions. These integrated radio solutions offer new alternative
approaches to providing lower cost base station solutions, One current product offering is the digital remote radio
head, which provides operators the ability to partition the radio transceiver, power amplifier and duplexer in a
remote chassis, which can then be co-located near the antenna to minimize signal loss over the traditional
antenna path. The digital radio head utilizes base band (/) signals from the cutput of the modem via fiber optic
cables which offer improved performance over distance versus traditional cable. This next generation technology
offers significant potential cost reduction opportunities and we have been publicly recognized as a leading
innovator in this product segment.

Coverage Solutions

This product group consists primarily of distributed antenna systems, repeaters and advanced coverage
solutions. Our distributed antenna systems solutions provide the equipment to co-locate multiple wireless
operators on multiple frequency bands within a single location, while allowing each operator to maintain full
control over parameters critical to their network performance. These systems are custom designed by us for
convention centers, airports, transportation centers, dense urban business districts and business campuses. These
custom designed antenna systems are designed to be readily connected to base station equipment, thereby
reducing installation costs.




Our repeater systems are utilized in wireless communications networks to improve signal quality where
physical structures or geographic constraints cause low radio-frequency signal strength. They can also be utilized
as a low cost alternative to base stations in areas where coverage is more critical than capacity. These products &,
can be used for both single and multiple-operator applications. Our systems are available in a wide frequency
range from 800 MHz to 2100 MHz, support all major transmission protocols, and have features and functions
that allow network operators to remotely menitor and adjust these systems.

Our advanced coverage solutions team provides an integrated team of radio frequency and system engineers
to design and implement wireless coverage applications utilizing our coverage solutions products. We provide
advanced coverage engineers to design the right solution for any type of wircless coverage issue. Based upon our
design, we will oversee installation and operation of the chosen coverage solution. The types of sites utilizing our
services include convention centers, airports, hotels, office buildings, and various locations where traditional
wireless service coverages are not available.

Customers

We sell our products to customers worldwide, including a variety of wireless original equipment
manufacturers, such as Alcatel/Lucent, Ericsson, Huawei, Motorola, NEC, Nokia, Nortel, Samsung and Siemens.
We also sell our products to operators of wireless networks, such as ALLTEL Corporation, Cingular Wireless,
Orange, O2, Sprint, T-Mobile, Vodafone and Verizon Wireless.

For fiscal 2006, our largest customer, Nokia, accounted for approximately 21% of our net sales. Qur next
largest customer in fiscal 2006, Siemens, accounted for approximately 13% of our net sales. The loss of any one
of these customers, or a significant loss, reduction or rescheduling of orders from any of our customers, would
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. We experienced a
significant reduction in demand during 2006 by Cingular Wireless and by Nokia and Siemens in the fourth
quarter of 2006, which both contributed to a significant negative impact on our business and results of
operations. These reductions and losses highlights this risk in our business. See “We rely upon a few customers
for the majority of our revenues...” under Part [, Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

Marketing and Distribution, International Sales

We sell our products through a highly technical direct sales force, through independent sales representatives
and, in certain countries, through resellers. Direct sales personnel are assigned to geographic territories and, in
addition to sales responsibilities, may manage selected independent sales representatives. We utilize a network of
independent sales representatives selected for their familiarity with our potential customers and their knowledge
of the wireless infrasiructure equipment market. Our direct sales personnel, resellers and independent sales
representatives generate product sales, provide product and customer service, and provide customer feedback for
product development. In addition, our sales personnel, resellers and independent sales representatives receive
support from our marketing, product support and customer service departments,

Our marketing efforts are focused on establishing and developing long-term relationships with potential
customers. The initial sales cycle for many of our products are lengthy, typically ranging from six to eighteen
months. OQur customers typically conduct significant technical evaluations of our products before making
purchase commitments. [n addition, as is customary in the industry, sales are made through standard purchase
orders that can be subject to cancellation, postponement or other types of delays., While certain customers
provide us with estimated forecasts of their future requirements, they are not typically bound by such forecasts.

International sales (excluding North American sales) of our products approximated 72%, 64%, and 71% of
net sales for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2006, January 1, 2006, January 2, 2005, respectively. Foreign
sales of some of our products may be subject to national security and export regulations and may require us to
obtain a permit or license. In recent years, we have not experienced any significant difficulties in obtaining
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required permits or licenses. International sales also subject us to risks related to political upheaval and economic
downturns in foreign countries and regions, such as the economic downturn in the South Korean and Asian
markets in 1998 and the Brazilian market during 1999. Since a large percentage of our foreign customers
typically pay for our products with U.S. Dollars, a strengthening of the U.S. Dollar as compared to a foreign
customer’s local currency would effectively increase the cost of our products for that customer, thereby making
our products less attractive to such customers. See “Qur future success is dependent upon our ability to compete
globally...” under Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

Service and Warranty

We offer warranties of various lengths which differ by customer and product type and typically cover
defects in materials and workmanship. We, along with our contract manufacturers, perform warranty obligations
and other maintenance services for our preducts in the U.S., Sweden, Estonia, Hungary, Finland, China, and at
our contract manufacturing locations. :

- Product Development

We invest significant resources in the research and development of new products within our wireless
communications preduct area. This includes significant resources in the development of new products to support
new transmission protocols, including EDGE and third generation protocols such as W-CDMA, HSDPA,
TD-SCDMA and CDMA2000. Qur development efforts also seek to reduce the cost and increase the
manufacturing efficiency of both new and existing products. Our total research and development staff consisted
of 696 people as of December 31, 2006. Expenditures for research and development approximated $71.2 million
in 2006, $61.0 million in 2005, and $47.2 million in 2004, See “The wireless communications infrastructure
equipment industry is extremely competitive...; and if we are unable to hire and retain highly qualified technical
and managerial personnel...”” under Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

Competition

The wireless communications infrastructure equipment industry is extremely competitive and is
characterized by rapid technological change, new product development, rapid product obsolescence, evolving
industry standards and significant price erosion over the life of a product. Qur products compete on the basis of
the following key characteristics: performance, functionality, reliability, pricing, quality, designs that can be
efficiently manufactured in large volumes, time-to-market delivery capabilities and compliance with industry
standards. While we believe that we compete favorably with respect to the foregoing characteristics, there can be
no assurance that we will be able to continue to do so.

Our current competitors inciude Andrew Corporation, Comba Telecom, Fujitsu Limited, Hitachi Kokusai
Electric Inc., Japan Radio Co., Ltd., Kathrein-Werke KG, Mitsubishi Electric Corporation and Radio Frequency
Systems. We also compete with a number of other foreign and privately held companies throughout the world,
subsidiaries of certain multinational corporations and, more importantly, the captive design and manufacturing
operations within certain leading wireless infrastructure original equipment manufacturers such as Alcatel/
Lucent, Ericsson, Huawei, Motorola, Nokia, Nortel and Samsung. Some competitors have significantly greater
financial, technical, manufacturing, sales, marketing and other resources than Powerwave and have achieved
greater name recognition for their existing products and technologies than we have. We cannot guarantee that we
will be able to successfully increase our market penetration or our overall share of the wireless communication
infrastructure equipment marketplace. Qur results of operations could be adversely impacted if we are unable to
effectively increase our share of the marketplace.

Our success depends in large part upon the rate at which wireless infrastructure original equipment
manufacturers incorporate our products into their systems. We believe that a substantial portion of the present

worldwide production of various infrastructure components is captive within the internal manufacturing
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operations of a small number of leading wireless infrastructure manufacturers such as Ericsson, Motorela, Nokia
and Samsung. In addition, most large wireless infrastructure original equipment manufacturers maintain internal
design capabilities that may compete directly with our products and our own designs. Many of our customers
internally design and/or manufacture their own components rather than purchase them from third-party vendors
such as Powerwave. Many of our customers also continuously evaluate whether to manufacture their own
components or whether to utilize contract manufacturers to produce their own internal designs. Certain of our
customers regularly produce or design products in an attempt to replace products sold by us. We believe that this
practice will continue. In the event that a customer manufactures or designs their own products, such customer
could reduce or eliminate their purchase of our products, which would result in reduced revenues and would
adversely impact our results of operations and liguidity. Wireless infrastructure equipment manufacturers with
internal manufacturing capabilities, including many of our customers, could also sell such products externally to
other manufacturers, thereby competing directly with us. If, for any reason, our customers decide to produce their
products internally, increase the percentage of their internal preduction, require us to participate in joint venture
manufacturing with them or compete directly against us, our revenues would decrease which would adversely
impact our results of operations.

We have experienced significant price competition and we expect price competiticn in the sale of our
products to increase. No assurance can be given that our competitors will not develop new technologies or
enhancements to existing products or introduce new products that will offer superior price or performance
features. We expect our competitors-to offer new and existing products at prices necessary to gain or retain
market share, Certain of our competitors have substantial financial resources which may enable them to
withstand sustained price competition or a market downturn better than us. There can be no assurance that we
will be able to compete successfully in the pricing of our products, or otherwise, in the future.

Backlog

Our six-month backlog of orders on December 31, 2006 was estimated at $86.5 million as compared to
approximately $63.5 million on January 1, 2006. We include in our reported backlog only the accepted product
purchase orders with respect to which a delivery schedule has been specified for product shipment within six
months. Our backlog does notreflect our expectations of future orders and has not been an’appropriate measure
of our future revenue. This is due to the fact that the majority of our customers do not place long lead time orders
for our products. : . T

Product orders in our backlog are frequently subject to changes in delivery schedules or to cancellation at
the option of the purchaser without significant penalty. While we regularly review our backlog of orders to
ensure that it adequately reflects product orders expected to be shipped within a six-month period, we cannot
make any guarantee that such orders will actually be shipped or that such orders will not be delayed or cancelled
in the future. We make regular adjustments to our backlog as customer delivery schedules change and in
response to changes in our production schedule. Accordingly, we stress that backlog as of any particular date
should not be considered a reliable indicator of sales for any future period and our revenues in any given period
may depend substantially on orders placed in that period. ' ) '

Manufacturing and Suppliers

Qur manufacturing process involves the assembly of numerous individual components and precise fine-
tuning by production technicians. The parts and materials used by us and our contract manufacturers consist
primarily of printed circuit boards, specialized subassemblies, fabricated housings, relays and small electric
circuit components, such as integrated circuits, semiconductors, resistors and capacitors.

We operate both company-owned manufacturing locations as well as utilize contract manufacturers for a
significant percentage of our manufacturing activities. We currently have owned manufacturing operations in

China, Estonia, Hungary, Finland, Sweden and the United States. In addition, we utilize contract manufacturers
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in Asia and the United States, In March 2006, we sold our manufacturing facility located in the Philippines to one
of our contract manufacturing suppliers. In December 2006 we closed our manufacturing facility in Costa Rica
and we began the process of closing our Shunghai and Wuxi, China manufacturing locations.

As a result of our utilization of contract manufacturers for a significant pertion of our manufacturing, the
cost, quality, performance and availability of our contract manufacturing operations are, and will continue to be,
essential to the successful production and sale of our products. Any delays in the ramp-up of our production lines
at contract manufacturers, or any delays in the qualification by our customers of the contract manufacturer
facilities and the products produced there, could cause us to miss customer agreed product delivery dates.
Similarly, the inability of our contract manufacturers to meet production schedules or produce products in
accordance with the quality and performance standards established by us or our customers could also cause us to
miss customer agreed product delivery dates. In addition, the cost, quality, performance and availability of cur
company-owned manufacturing is alse essential to the successful production and sale of cur products. Any
delays in the ramp-up of production lines at our plants, or any delays in the qualification by our customers of our
facilities and the products produced there, could cause us to miss customer agreed product delivery dates. Any
failure to meet customer agreed delivery dates could result in lost revenues due to customer cancellations,
potential financial penalties payable by us to our customers and additional costs to expedite products or
production schedules.

Our manufacturing, production and design operations are 150 9001, 1SO 14001, TL-9000 and TickIT-5
certified. 150 refers to the quality model developed by the International Organization for Standardization. TL
refers to the set of quality system requirements that are specific to the telecommunications industry. TickIT refers
to the set of quality standards that are specific to the software industry. Numerous customers and potential
customers throughout the world, particularly in Europe, require that their suppliers be 1SO certified. In addition,
many customers require that their suppliers purchase components only from subcontractors that are 1SO certified.
The manufacturing facilities acquired as part of the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition are 1SO 9001 and ISO 14001
certifted. We require that all of its contract manufacturers maintain SO and/or TL. certifications,

A number of the parts used in our products are available from only one or a limited number of outside
suppliers due to unique component designs as well as certain quality and performance requirements. To take
advantage of volume pricing discounts, we, along with cur contract manufacturers, purchase certain customized
components from single or limited sources. We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience,
shortages of single-source and limited-source components. Shortages have compelled us to adjust our product
designs and production schedules and have caused us to miss customer requested delivery dates. If single-source
or limited-source components become unavailable in sufficient quantities in the desired time periods, are
discontinued or are available only on unsatisfactory terms, we would be required to purchase comparable
components from other sources and “retune” our products to function with the replacement components, or may
be required to redesign our products to use other components, either of which could delay production and
delivery of our products. If production and delivery of our products are delayed such that they do not meet the
agreed upon delivery dates of our customers, such delays could result in lost revenues due to customer
cancellations, as well as potential financial penalties payable to our customers. Any such toss of revenue or
financial penalties would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Our reliance on certain single-source and limited-source components exposes us to quality control issues if
these suppliers experience a failure in their production process or otherwise fail to meet our quality requirements.
A failure in single-source or limited-source components or products could force us to repair or replace a product
utilizing replacement components. If we cannot obtain comparable replacements or effectively retune or redesign
our products, we could lose customer orders or incur additional costs, which could have a material adverse effect
on our gross margins and results of operations.

We believe that the production facilities that we utilize, including those owned by our contract
manufacturers, are in good condition and well maintained and are not currently in need of any major investments.
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Intellectual Property

We rely upon trade secrets and patents to proteci our intellectual property. We execute confidentiality and
non-disclosure agreements with our employees and suppliers and limit access to, and distribution of, our
proprietary information. We have an on-going program to identify and file applications for both U.S. and
international patents for various aspects of our technology. We currently own approximately 163 U.S. patents
and approximately 261 foreign patents, and we have filed applications for over 45 additional U.S. patents and
over 105 additional foreign patents. All of these efforts, along with the knowledge and experience of our
management and technical personnel, strengthen our ability to market our existing products and to develop new
products. The departure of any of our management and technical personnel, the breach of their confidentiality
and non-disclosure obligations to us, or the failure to achieve our intellectual property objectives may have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and resulls of operations.

We believe that our success depends upon the knowledge and experience of our management and technical
personnel, our ability to market our existing products and our ability to develop new products. We do not have
non-compete agreements with our employees who generally are employed on an ““at-will” basis. Therefore,
employees have left and may continue to leave us and go to work for competitors. While we believe that we have
adequately protected our proprietary technology and that we have taken all legal measures to protect it, we will
continue to pursue all reasonable means available to protect it and to prohibit the unauthorized use of our
proprietary technology. In spite of our efforts, the use of our processes by a competitor could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and resulis of operations.

Our ability to compete successfully and achieve future revenue growth will depend, in part, on our ability to
protect our proprietary technology and operate without infringing upon the rights of others. We may not be able
to successfully protect our intellectual property, or our intellectual property or proprietary technology may
otherwise become known or be independently developed by competitors. In addition, the laws of certain
countries in which our products are or may be sold or manufactured may not protect our products and intellectual
property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States,

The inability to protect our intellectual property and proprietary technology could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We have received third party claims of
infringement in the past and have been able to resolve such claims without having a material impact on our
business. As the number of patents, copyrights and other intellectual property rights in our industry increases,
and as the coverage of these rights and the functionality of the products in the market further overlap, we believe
that we, along with other companies in our industry, may face more frequent infringement claims. Such litigation
or claims of infringement could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. A third party claiming infringement
may also be able to obtain an injunction or other equitable relief, which could effectively block our ability or our
customers’ ability to distribute, sell or import allegedly infringing products. If 1t appears necessary or desirable,
we may seek licenses from third parties covering intellectual property that we are allegedly infringing. No
assurance can be given, however, that any such licenses could be obtained on terms acceptable to us, if at all. The
failure to obtain the necessary licenses or other rights could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, Powerwave had 4,223 full and part-time employees, including 2,747 in
manufacturing, 306 in quality, 696 in research and development, 186 in sales and marketing and 288 in general
and administration. We believe that we have good relations with our employees.

Contract Personnel

Powerwave also utilizes contract personnel hired from third party agencies. As of December 31, 2006, we
were utilizing approximately 828 contract personnel, primarily in our manufacturing operations.
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ITEM 1A.RISK FACTORS

We rely upon a few customers for the majority of our revenues and the loss of any one of these customers, or
a significant loss, reduction or rescheduling of orders from any of these customers, would have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We sell most of our products to a small number of customers, and we expect that this will continue. For the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, sales to Nokia accounted for approximately 21% of net sales and sales to
Siemens accounted for 13% of our net sales. Nokia and Siemens, who announced in 2006 their plan to combine
their wireless business in 2007, accounted for approximately 34% of our revenues in 2006. For fiscal year 2005,
Cingular Wireless accounted for approximately 16% of our net sales and Nokia accounted for approximately
14% of our net sales. During fiscal year 2006, our direct sales to Cingular Wireless significantly declined
compared to 2005 and such decline contributed to our operating loss and reduced financial performance for fiscal
2006. During the fourth quarter of 2006, Nokia and Siemens significantly reduced their demand, which also
contributed to our operating loss for 2006. In addition, Nokia and Siemens have announced that their planned
combination is to be delayed until at least the end of the first quarter of 2007. This combined entity is a
significant percentage of our business and any continued decline in this business will have an adverse impact on
our business and results of operations, Our future success is dependent upon the continued purchases of our
products by a small number of customers such as Nokia/Siemens, Cingular Wireless, and any fluctuations in
demand from such customers or other customers would negatively impact our results of operations. If we are
unable to broaden our customer base and expand relationships with major wireless original equipment
manufacturers and major operators of wireless networks, our business will continue to be impacted by
unanticipated demand fluctuations due to our dependence on a small number of customers. Unanticipated
demand fluctuations can have a negative impact on our revenues and business, and an adverse effect on our
results of operations and financial condition. In addition, our dependence on a small number of major customers
exposes us to numerous other risks, including:

¢ aslowdown or delay in deployment of wireless networks by any one customer could significantly
reduce demand for our products;

* reductions in a single customer’s forecasts and demand could result in excess inventories;

+ consolidation of customers can reduce demand as well as increase pricing pressure on our products due
to increased purchasing leverage;

« cach of our customers has significant purchasing leverage over us to require changes in sales terms
including pricing, payment terms and product delivery schedules;

¢ direct competition should a customer decide to increase its level of internal designing and/or
manufacturing of wireless communication network products; and

« concentration of accounts receivable credit risk, which could have a material adverse effect on our
liquidity and financial condition if one of our major customers declared bankruptcy or delayed payment
of their receivables.

We may incur unanticipated costs as we complete the integration of our business with businesses we
recently acquired,

On May 3, 2004, we completed the exchange offer for the outstanding shares of LGP Allgon Holding AB.
On September 2, 2005, we completed the REMEC Wireless Acquisition and on October 13, 2006, we completed
the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition. All of these acquisitions involve the integration of companies and operations,
many of which are based in different countries that previously operated independently. This is a complex, costly
and time consuming process. We have limited experience integrating operations as substantial and
geographically diverse as those of LGP Allgon, REMEC Wireless and Filtronic Wireless, and as a result, we may
not successfully integrate these operations with our own in a timely manner, or at all. We have previously
encountered difficulties and delays in integrating and consolidating operations which have had a negative impact
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on our results of operations. The failure to successfully integrate these operations could undermine the
anticipated benefits and synergies of the acquisitions, which could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations. The anticipated benefits and synergies of these acquisitions relate to cost
savings associated with operational efficiencies, greater economies of scale and revenue enhancement
opportunities. However, these anticipated benefits and synergies are based on projections and assumptions, not
actual experience, and assume a smooth and successful integration of these businesses.

In addition, the recent acquisition of Filtronic’s Wireless Systems business is one of the largest acquisitions
we have undertaken and the complex process of integrating this business requires significant resources. We have
incurred and will continue to incur significant costs and commit significant management time in integrating this
operation, information, communications and other systems and personnel, among other items. The integration of
this business has resulted and will continue to result in cash outflows related to the integration process, such as:

= additional restructuring costs, including the closure of facilities and personnel severance costs;

» fees and expenses of professionals and consultants involved in completing the integration process;
= settling existing labilities of the acquired businesses;

» integrating and converting technology and manufacturing systems as well as bills of material; and

+ integrating personnel,

We have begun the process of implementing a new worldwide enterprise resource planning system and if we
are unsuccessful in deploying the system or, if it takes longer than anticipated to deploy the system, we may incur
significant additional costs which would negatively impact our financial results as well as potentially weaken our
systemic internal controls.

At the end of 2004, we made the decision to replace our existing enterprise resource planning systems with a
single global system from Oracle. We have begun the implementation phase and have converted the majority of
the existing Powerwave operations to the Oracle system. With the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition, we are now
planning the conversion of the Filtronic systems and intend to convert the Filtronic enterprise resource planning
systems during fiscal 2007 to the Oracle platform. System conversions are expensive and time consuming
undertakings that impact all areas of the Company. While a successful implementation will provide many
benefits to the Company, an unsuccessful or delayed implementation will cost the Company significant time and
resources, as well as expense. During the third quarter of 2006, we encountered delays in our conversion of our
European operations. These delays coupled with production transfer issues, resulted in delayed preduction and
less revenues which negatively impacted our results in the same quarter, While we have implemented our plans
to finish the conversion process, these delays did have a negative impact on our operating costs. In addition, due
to the systemic internal control features within enterprise resource planning systems, any changes in our
enterprise resource planning system will have an impact on the testing of our internal controls over financial
reporting under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. If we encounter unanticipated delays in
deploying our new enterprise resource planning system, we may be unable to complete within the currently
required time period our Section 404 testing of the systemic internal controls within such system, which could
create a material weakness or significant deficiency in our overall internal controls as of the end of a fiscal year.

We have previously experienced significant reductions in demand for our products by certain customers and
if this continues, our operating results will be adversely impacted.

We have a history of significant unanticipated reductions in demand that demonstrates the risks related to
our customer and industry concentration levels. While our revenues have increased at times during fiscal years
2005 and 2006, a significant portion of this increase was due to our acquisitions of LGP Allgon and REMEC
Wireless. During fiscal 2006, we experienced significantly reduced demand for our products due to lower than
anticipated purchasing plans by a major North American wireless network operator. In addition, in the fourth
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quarter of 2006, when we acquired Filironic Wireless, Nokia and Siemens significantly reduced their demand
which had a significant negative impact on both Powerwave and the Filtronic Wireless businesses. As a result of
this reduction and general slowness in the wireless infrastructure marketplace during the fourth quarter of fiscal
2006, our revenues decreased to $169.8 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 from $258.7 million in the
fourth quarter of 20035. These types of reductions in overall market demand had a negative impact on our
business and results of operations.

During fiscal 2005 and 2006, we also experienced a significant reduction in demand from Nortel. We cannot
guarantee that we will be able to continue to generate new demand to offset reductions from existing customers.
If we are unable to continue to generate new demand, our revenues will go down and our results of operations
will be negatively impacted.

Also, in the past we have expertenced significant unanticipated reductions in wireless network operator
demand as well as significant delays in demand for 3G, or next generation service based products due to the high
projected capital cost of building such networks and market concerns regarding the inoperability of such network
protocols. In combination with these market issues, a majority of wireless network operators have, in the past,
regularly reduced their capital spending plans in order to improve their overall cash ftow. The continuation of
any delays in development of 3G networks will result in reduced demand for our products which will have a
material adverse effect on our business.

We have experienced, and will continue to experience, significant fluctuations in sules and operating results
[from quarter to quarter.

Our quarterly results fluctuate due to a number of factors, including:
+ the lack of any obligation by our customers to purchase their forecasted demand for our products;

= cost associated with restructuring activities, including severance, inventory obsolence and facility
closure costs;

* variations in the timing, cancellation, or rescheduling of customer orders and shipments;

* cost associated with consolidating acquisitions;

+ high fixed expenses that increase operating expenses, especially during a quarter with a sales shortfall;
= product failures and associated warranty and in-field service support costs; and

* discounts given to certain customers for large volume purchases.

We have regularly generated a large percentage of our revenues in the last month of a quarter. Since we
attempt to ship products quickly after we receive orders, we may not always have a significant backlog of
unfilled orders at the start of each quarter and we may be required to book a substantial portion of our orders
during the quarter in which such orders ship. Our major customers generally have no obligation to purchase
forecasted amounts and may cancel orders, change delivery schedules or change the mix of products ordered with
minimal notice and without penalty. As a result, we may not be able to accurately predict our quarterly sales.
Because our expense levels are partially based on our expectations of future sales, our expenses may be
disproportionately large relative to our revenues, and we may be unable to adjust spending in a timely manner to
compensate for any unexpected revenue shortfall. Any shortfall in sales relative to our quarterly expectations or
any delay of customer orders would adversely affect our revenues and results of operations.

Order deferrals and cancellations by our customers, declining average sales prices, changes in the mix of
products sold, delays in the introduction of new products and longer than anticipated sales cycles for our products
have, in the past, adversely affected our results of operations. Despite these factors, we, along with our contract
manufacturers, maintain significant finished goods, work-in-progress and raw materials inventory to meet
estimated order forecasts. If our customers purchase less than their forecasted orders or cancel or delay existing
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purchase orders, there will be higher levels of inventory that face a greater risk of obsolescence. If our customers
desire to purchase products in excess of the forecasted amounts or in a different product mix, there may not be
enough inventory or manufacturing capacity to fill their orders.

Due to these and other factors, our past results are not reliable indicators of our future performance. Future
revenues and operating results may not meet the expectations of public market analysts or investors. In either
case, the price of our Common Stock could be materially adversely affected.

Our average sales prices have declined, and we anticipate thut the average sales prices for our products
will continue to decline and negatively impact our gross profit margins.

Wireless service providers are continuing to place pricing pressure on wireless infrastructure manufacturers,
which in turn, has resulted in lower selling prices for our products, with certain competitors aggressively
reducing prices in an effort to increase their market share. In addition, the consolidation of original equipment
manufacturers such as Alcatel/Lucent and Nokia/Siemens is concentrating their purchasing power at the
surviving entities, which is placing further pricing pressures on the products we sell to such customers. We may
be forced to further reduce our prices to such customers, which would have a negative impact on our business
and results of operations. We believe that the average sales prices of our products will continue to decline for the
foreseeable future. The average sales price for our products declined by between 2% to 12% from fiscal 2005 to
fiscal 2006. Since wireless infrastructure manufacturers frequently negotiate supply arrangements far in advance
of delivery dates, we must often commit to price reductions for our products before we know how, or if, we can
obtain such cost reductions. With ongoing consolidation in our industry, the increased size of many of our
customers allows them to exert greater pressure on us to reduce prices. In addition, average sales prices are
affected by price discounts negotiated without firm orders for large volume purchases by certain customers. To
offset declining average sales prices, we must reduce manufacturing costs and ultimately develop new products
with lower costs or higher average sales prices. If we cannot achieve such cost reductions or increases in average
selling prices, our gross margins will decline.

Our suppliers, contract manufacturers or customers could become competitors.

Many of our customers internally design and/or manufacture their own wireless communications network
products. These customers also continuously evaluate whether to manufacture their own wireless
communications network products or utilize contract manufacturers to produce their own internal designs.
Certain of our customers regularly produce or design wireless communications network products in an attempt to
replace products manufactured by us. We believe that this practice will continue. In the event that our customers
manufacture or design their own wireless communications network products, such customers could reduce or
eliminate their purchases of our products, which would result in reduced revenues and would adversely impact
our results of operations and liquidity. Wireless infrastructure equipment manufacturers with internal
manufacturing capabilities, including many of our customers, could also sell wireless communications network
products externally to other manufacturers, thereby competing directly with us. In addition, our suppliers or
contract manufacturers may decide to produce competing products directly for our customers and, effectively,
compete against us, If, for any reason, our customers produce their wireless communtications network products
internally, increase the percentage of their internal production, require us to participate in joint venture
manufacturing with them, engage our suppliers or contract manufacturers to manufacture competing products, or
otherwise compete directly against us, our revenues would decrease, which would adversely impact our results of
operations,

Our success is tied to the growth of the wireless services communications market and our future revenue
growth is dependent upon the expected increase in the size of this market.

Our revenues come from the sale of wireless communications network products and coverage solutions. Our
future success depends solely upon the growth and increased availability of wireless communications services.
Wireless communications services may not grow at a rate fast enough to create demand for our products, as we
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experienced during fiscal 2003 and again in fiscal 2006. During fiscal 2003, wireless network operators reduced
or delayed capital spending on wireless networks in order to preserve their operating cash and improve their
balance sheets. Such reduced spending on wireless networks had a negative impact on our operating results. If
wireless network operators delay or reduce levels of capital spending, our operating results will be negatively
impacted.

Our reliance on contract manufacturers exposes us to risks of excess inventory or inventory carrying cosis.

If our contract manufacturers are unable to timely respond to changes in customer demand, we may be
unable to produce enough products to respond to sudden increases in demand resulting in lost revenues, or
alternatively, in the case of order cancellations or decreases in demand, we may be liable for excess or obsolete
inventory or cancellation charges resulting from contractual purchase commitments that we have with our
contract manufacturers. We regularly provide rolling forecasts of our requirements to our contract manufacturers
for planning purposes, pursuant to our agreements, a portion of which is binding upon us. Additionally, we are
committed to accept delivery on the forecasted terms for a portion of the rolling forecast. Cancellations of orders
or changes to the forecasts provided to any of our contract manufacturers may result in cancellation costs payable
by us. In the past, we have been required to take delivery of materials from other suppliers and subcontractors
that were in excess of our requirements and we have previously recognized charges and expenses related to such
excess material. We expect that we will incur such costs in the future.

By using contract manufacturers, our ability to directly control the use of all inventory is reduced since we
do not have full operating controt over their operations. If we are unable o accurately forecast demand for our
contract manufacturers and manage the costs associated with our contract manufacturers, we may be required to
pay inventory carrying costs or purchase excess inventory. If we or our contract manufacturers are unable to
utilize such excess inventory in a timely manner, and are unable to sell excess components or products due to
their customized nature, our operating results and liquidity would be negatively impacted.

Our acquisition of Filtronic's Wireless Infrastructure Division business, as well as future acquisitions, or
strategic alliances, may present risks, and we may be unable to achieve the financial and strategic goals intended
at the time of any acquisition or strategic alliance.

On October 15, 2006, we completed the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition. In the past, we have acquired and
made investments in other companies, products and technologies and entered into strategic alliances with other
companies. We continually evaluate these types of opportunities. In addition to the Filtronic Wireless
Acquisition, we may acquire or invest in other companies, products or technologics, or we may enter into joint
ventures, mergers or strategic alliances with other companies. Such transactions subject us to numerous risks,
including the following:

+ difficulty integrating the operations, technology and personnel of the acquired company;

« inability to achieve the anticipated financial and strategic benefits of the specific acquisition or strategic
alliance;

« significant additional warranty costs due to product failures and or design differences that were not
identified during due diligence, and such costs could result in charges to earnings if they are not
recoverable from the seller;

* inability to retain key technical and managerial personnel from the acquired company;
« difficulty in maintaining controls, procedures and policies during the transition and integration process,
+ diversion of our management’s attention from other business concerns;

«  failure of our due diligence process to identify significant issues, including issues with respect to
product quality, product architecture, legal and financial contingencies, and product development; and

« significant exit charges if products acquired in business combinations are unsuccessful.
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If we are unable to effectively manage these risks as part of any acquisition or joint venture, our business
would be adversely affected.

We depend on single sources or limited sources for key components and products, which exposes us to risks
related to product shortages or delays, as well as potential product quality issues, all of which could increase the
cost of our products thereby reducing our operating profits,

A number of our products and the parts used in our products are available from only one or a limited number
of outside suppliers due to unique component designs, as well as certain quality and performance requirements. To
take advantage of volume pricing discounts, we also purchase certain products, and along with our contract
manufacturers, purchase certain customized components from single or limited sources. We have experienced, and
expect to continue to experience, shortages of single-source and limited-source compoenents. Shortages have
compelled us to adjust our product designs and production schedules and have caused us to miss customer requested
delivery dates. To date, the missed customer delivery dates have not had a material adverse impact on our financial
results. If single-source or limited-source components become unavailable in sufficient quantities in the desired time
periods, are discontinued or are available only on unsatisfactory terms, we would be required to purchase
comparable components from other sources and may be required to redesign our products to use such components
which could delay production and delivery of our products, If production and delivery of our products are delayed
such that we do not meet the agreed upon delivery dates of our customers, such delays could result in lost revenues
due to customer cancellations, as well as potential financial penalties payable to our customers. Any such loss of
revenue or financial penalties could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

As part of the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition, we are purchasing certain components from Filtronic plc for
use in certain products included in the acquisition. Filtronic plc is a sole source of these components. If we were
unable to obtain such compenents, we would have to redesign certain products and find an alternative source of
supply, which would likely increase our costs and have a negative impact on our business and results of
operations. We may also be subject to penalties if we could not find a timely replacement if we were unable to
meet customer delivery requirements.

Our reliance on certain single-source and limited-source components and products also exposes us and our
contract manufacturers to quality control risks if these suppliers experience a failure in their production process
or otherwise fail to meet our quality requirements. A failure in a single-source or limited-source component or
product could force us to repair or replace a product utilizing replacement components. If we cannot obtain
comparable replacements or redesign our products, we could lose customer orders or incur additional costs,
which would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

We may fail to develop products that are sufficiently manufacturable, which could negatively impact our
ability to sell our products.

Manufacturing our products is a complex process that requires significant time and expertise to meet
customers’ specifications. Successful manufacturing is substantially dependent upon the ability to assemble and
tune these products to meet specifications in an efficient manner. In this regard, we largely depend on our staff of
assembly workers and trained technicians at our internal manufacturing operations in the U.S., Europe and Asia,
as well as our contract manufacturers’ staff of assembly workers and trained technicians predominantly located
in Asia. If we cannot design our products to minimize the manual assembly and tuning process, or if we or our
contract manufacturers [ose a number of trained assembly workers and technicians or are unable to attract
additional trained assembly workers or technicians, we may be unable to have our products manufactured in a
cost effective manner.

We sold our Philippines manufacturing facility to Celestica. If we do not mainiain certain volumes of
production with Celestica, we could be adversely gffected.

On March 10, 2006, we sold our manufacturing facility in the Philippines to Celestica. As part of this sale,
we have committed to buy products from Celestica manufactured in the Philippines facility. If we do not
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maintain certain production levels with Celestica, we could be adversely impacted and required to pay certain
penalties for failing to reach certain production volumes. Such failure could have a negative impact on our
operating results.

We may fail to develop products that are of adequate quality and reliability, which could negatively impact
our ability to sell our products.

We have had quality problems with our products in the past and may have similar problems in the future.
We have replaced components in some products and replaced entire products in accordance with our product
warranties. We believe that our customers will demand that our products meet increasingly stringent performance
and reliability standards. If we cannot keep pace with technological developments, evolving industry standards
and new communications protocols, if we fail to adequately improve product quality and meet the quality
standards of our customers, or if our contract manufacturers fail to achieve the quality standards of our
customers, we risk losing business which would negatively impact our results of operations. Design problems
could also damage relationships with existing and prospective customers and could limit our ability to market our
products to large wireless infrastructure manufacturers, many of which build their own products and have
stringent quality control standards.

If we are unable ro hire and retain highly qualified technical and managerial personnel, we may not be able
to sustain or grow our business.

Competition for personnel, particularly qualified engineers, is intense. The loss of a significant number of
such persons, as well as the failure to recruit and train additional technical personnel in a timely manner, could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. The departure of any
of our management and technical personnel, the breach of their confidentiality and non-disclosure obligations to
Powerwave or the failure to achieve our intellectual property objectives may also have a material adverse effect
on our business.

We believe that our success depends upon the knowledge and experience of our management and technical
personnel and our ability to market our existing products and to develop new products. Qur employees are
generally employed on an at-will basis and do not have non-compete agreements. Therefore, we have had, and
may continue to have, employees leave us and go to work for competitors.

There are significant risks related to our internal and contract manufacturing operations in Asia.

As part of our manufacturing strategy, we utilize contract manufacturers in China, Philippines, Singapore
and Thailand. We also maintain our own manufacturing operatiens in China, Hungary, Finland and Estonia, as
well as limited capability in the United States. We closed our Costa Rica manufacturing facility in December
2006.

The Chinese legal system lacks transparency, which gives the Chinese central and local governmeni
authorities a higher degree of conirol over our business in China than is customary in the United States and
makes the process of obtaining necessary regulatory approval in China inherently unpredictable. In addition, the
protection accorded our proprietary technology and know-how under the Chinese and Thai legal systems is not as
strong as in the United States and, as a result, we may lose valuable trade secrets and competitive advantage.
Also, manufacturing our products and utilizing contract manufacturers, as well as other suppliers throughout the
Asia region, exposes our business to the risk that our proprietary technology and ownership rights may not be
protected or enforced to the extent that they may be in the United States.

Although the Chinese government has been pursuing economic reform and a policy of welcoming foreign
investments during the past two decades, it is possible that the Chinese government will change its current

policies in the future, making continued business operations in China difficult or unprofitable.
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In February 2006, the Philippines experience a failed coup to overturn the existing government, which
prompted the government to declare a state of emergency. While the state of emergency was eventually lifted,
this highlights some of the political risks of relying upon manufacturing operations in this location. In September
2006, Thailand experienced a military coup which overturned the existing government. We are not able to
currently estimate what the long-term impact of this coup will have on our operations in Thailand. If there were
to be future coups or some other type of political unrest, such activity may impact the ability to manufacture
products in this region and may prevent shipments from entering or leaving the country, Any such disruptions
could have a material negative impact on our operations and financial results.

We require air or ocean transport to ship products built in our various manufacturing locations to our
customers. High energy costs have increased our transportation cost which has had a negative impact on our
production costs. Transportation costs would escalate if there were a shortage of air or ocean cargo space and any
significant increase in transportation costs would cause an increase in our expenses and negatively impact our
results of operations, In addition, if we are unable 10 obtain cargo space or secure delivery of components or
products due to labor strikes, lockouts, work slowdowns or work stoppages by longshoremen, dock workers,
airline pilots or other transportation industry workers, our delivery of products could be adversely delayed.

The initial sales cycle associated with our products is typically lengthy, often lasting from nine to eighteen
months, which could cause delays in forecasted sales and cause us to incur substantial expenses before we
record any associated revenues.

Our customers normally conduct significant technical evaluations, trials and qualifications of our products
before making purchase commitments. This qualification process involves a significant investment of time and
resources from both our customers and uvs in order to ensure that our product designs are fully qualified to
perform as required. The qualification and evaluation process, as well as customer field trials, may take longer
than initially forecasted, thereby delaying the shipment of sales forecasted for a specific customer for a particular
quarter and causing our operating results for the quarter to be less than originally forecasted. Such a sales
shortfall would reduce our profitability and negatively impact our results of operations,

We conduct a significant portion of our business internationally, which exposes us to increased business
risks.

For fiscal years 2006, 2005, and 2004, international revenues {excluding North Amertcan sales) accounted
for approximately 72%, 64%. and 71% of our net sales, respectively. There are many risks that currentty impact,
and will continue to impact our international business and multinational operations, including the following:

« compliance with multiple and potentially conflicting regulations in Europe, Asia and North and South
America, including export requirements, tariffs, import duties and other trade barriers, as well as health
and safety requirements;

* potential labor strikes, lockouts, work slowdowns and work stoppages at U.S. and international ports;
» differences in intellectual property protections throughout the world;

« difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations in Europe, Asia and South America, including
dealings with unionized labor pools in Europe and in Asia;

+ longer accounts receivable collection cycles in Europe, Asia and South America,
+ currency fluctuations and resulting losses on currency translations;
* terrorists attacks on American companies;

¢ economic instability, including inflation and interest rate fluctuations, such as those previously seen in
South Korea and Brazil;

» competition for foreign based suppliers throughout the world;
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« overlapping or differing tax structures;

 the complexity of global tax and transfer pricing rules and regulations and our potential inability to
benefit/offset losses in one tax jurisdiction with income from another;

= cultural and language differences between the United States and the rest of the world; and

* political or civil turmoil.

Any failure on our part to manage these risks effectively would seriously reduce our competitiveness in the
wireless infrastructure marketplace.

Protection of our intellectual property is limited.

We rely upon trade secrets and patents to protect our intellectual property. We execute confidentiality and
non-disclosure agreements with certain employees and our suppliers, as well as limit access to and distribution of
our proprietary information. We have an ongoing program to identify and file applications for U.S. and other
international patents.

The departure of any of our management and technical personnel, the breach of their confidentiality and
non-disclosure obligations to us, or the failure to achieve our intellectual property objectives could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. We do not have
non-compete agreements with our employees who are generally employed on an at-will basis. Therefore, we
have had, and may continue to have, employees leave us and go to work for competitors. If we are not successful
in prohibiting the unauthorized use of our proprietary technology or the use of our processes by a competitor, our
competitive advantage may be significantly reduced which would result in reduced revenues.

We are at risk of third-party claims of infringement that could harm our competitive position,

We have received third-party claims of infringement in the past and have been able to resolve such claims
without having a material impact on our business. As the number of patents, copyrights and other intellectual
property rights in our industry increases, and as the coverage of these rights and the functionality of the products
in the market further overlap, we believe that we may face additional infringement claims, Such claims, whether
or not valid, could result in substantial costs and diversion of our resources. A third party claiming infringement
may also obtain an injunction or other equitable relief, which could effectively block the distribution or sale of
allegedly infringing products, which would adversely affect our customer relationships and negatively impact our
revenues.

The communications industry is heavily regulated. We must obtain regulatory approvals to manufacture and
sell our products, and our customers must obtain approvals to operate our products. Any failure or delay by us
or any of our customers to obtain such approvals could negatively impact our ability to sell our products.

Various governmental agencies have adopted regulations that impose stringent radio frequency emissions
standards on the communications industry. Future regulations may require that we alter the manner in which
radio signals are transmitted or otherwise alter the equipment transmitting such signals. The enactment by
governments of new laws or regulations or a change in the interpretation of existing regulations could negatively
impact the market for our products.

The increasing demand for wireless communications has exerted pressure on regulatory bodies worldwide to
adopt new standards for such products, generally following extensive investigation and deliberation over
competing technologies, The delays inherent in this type of governmental approval process have caused, and may
continue to cause, the cancellation, postponement or rescheduling of the installation of communications systems
by our customers. These types of unanticipated delays would result in delayed or cancelled customer orders.
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The price of our Common Stock has been, and may continue to be, volatile and our shareholders may not be
able 1o resell shares of our Common Stock at or above the price paid for such shares.

The price for shares of our Common Stock has exhibited high levels of volatility with significant volume
and price fluctuations, which makes our Common Stock unsuitable for many investors. For example, for the two
years ended December 31, 2006, the price of our Common Stock ranged from a high of $15.76 to a low of $5.87.
The fluctuations in the price of our Common Stock have occasionally been unrelated to our operating
performance. These broad fluctuations may negatively impact the murket price of shares of our Common Stock.
The price of our Common Stock has also been influenced by:

» fluctvations in our results of operations or the operations of our competitors or customers;

» failure of our results of operations and sales revenues to meet the expectations of stock market analysts
and investors;

» reductions in wireless infrastructure demand or expectations of future wireless infrastructure demand by
our customers;

» delays or postponement of wireless infrastructure deployments, including new 3G deployments;
» changes in stock market analyst recommendations regarding us, our competitors or our customers;

= the timing and anncuncements of technological innovations, new products or financial results by us or
our competitors;

= lawsuits attempting to allege misconduct by the Company and its officers;
* increases in the number of shares of our common stock outstanding; and

* changes in the wireless industry.

In addition, the increase in the number of shares of our outstanding Common Stock due to the Filtronic
Wireless Acquisition adds 17.7 million shares in addition to the potential conversion of our outstanding
convertible debt instruments would add approximately 30.4 million shares of Common Stock to our outstanding
shares. Such an increase may lead to sales of such shares or the perception that such sales may occur, either of
which may adversely affect the market for, and the market price of, our Common Stock. Any potential future sale
or issuance of shares of our Common Stock or instruments convertible or exchangeable into shares of our
Common Stock, or the perception that such sales or transactions could occur, could adversely affect the market
price of our Common Stock.

Based on the above, we expect that our stock price will continue to be extremely volatile. Therefore, we
cannot guarantee that our investors will be able to resell their Powerwave shares at or above their acquisition
price.

Possible Goodwill Impairment

If our revenues do not grow or reach anticipated levels or if our common stock continues to trade at current
low levels, it is possible that in the near future an indicator of impairment of cur goodwill may exist and we may
need to recognize an impairment in our goodwill. A large portion of the value of the Company is dependent upon
continued future growth in demand for our products. If such growth does not materialize or our forecasts and
internal expectations are significantly reduced, we will likely have to recognize an impairment in the value of our
goodwill. Such an impairment could result in a significant loss for the period in which such impairment occurs. In
addition, our acquisition of Filtronic’s Wireless Infrastructure Division business has an initial accounting value of
$352.9 million, which reflects a purchase price that includes $185 million in cash and 17.7 million shares of our
Common Stock valued at an average price of $9.22 per share based on the average closing price for three days
before and after our announcement of the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition in June 2006. Since that date our stock has
declined significantly. On October 13, 2006, the last trading day prior to the close of the Filtronic Wireless
Acquisition, our stock closed at $6.28 per share. On February 27, 2007, our stock closed at $5.28 per share.
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We may need additional capital in the future and such additional financing may not be available at
Javorable terms.’ )

In conjunction with the acquisition of Filtronic's Wireless Infrastructure business, we paid $185 million to
Filtronic, significantly reducing our.cash balance. In association with the acquisition, we have entered into a $75
million revolving credit agreement. While this agreement gives us an additional source of liquidity, we may need
to raise additional funds through public or private debt or equity financings in order to fund current operations or
to take advantage of opportunities, including more rapid international expansion or acquisitions of
complementary businesses or technologies. If we are not successful in integrating our businesses and managing
the worldwide aspects of our company, our operations may not generate profits and may consume our cash
resources faster than we anticipate. Such losses would make it difficult to obtain new sources of financing. In
addition, if we do not generate sufficient cash flow from operations, we may need to raise additional funds to
repay our $330.0 million of outstanding convertible debt that we issued in 2003 and 2004, of which $130.0
million is due in July 2008, Qur ability to secure additional financing or sources of funding is dependent upon
numerous factors, including the current outlook of our business, our credit rating and the market price of our
common stock, all of which are directly impacted by our ability to increase revenues and generate profits. Our
ability to increase revenues and generate profits is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties and any significant
decrease in our revenues or profitability could reduce our operating cash flows and erode our existing cash
balances. If we are unable to secure additional financing or such financing is not available at acceptable terms,
we may not be able to take advantage of such opportunities, or otherwise respond to unanticipated competitive
pressures.

The wireless communications infrastructure equipment industry is extremely competitive and is
characterized by rapid technological change, frequent new product development, rapid product obsolescence,
evolving industry standards and significant price erosion over the life of a product. If we are unable to compete
effectively, our business, results of operations and financial condition would be adversely affected.

Our products compete on the basis of the following characteristics:
» performance;

» functionality;

« , reliability;

. pricfng;

+ quality;

. glesigns that can be efficiently manufactured in large volumes;
* time-to-market delivery capabilities; and

+ compliance with industry standards.

If we fail to address the above factors, there could be a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Our current competitors include Andrew Corporation, Fujitsu Limited, Hitachi Kokusai Electric Inc., Japan
Radio Co., Ltd., Kathrein-Werke KG, Mitsubishi Electric Corporation, and Radio Frequency Systems, in
addition to a number of privately held compantes throughout the world, subsidiaries of certain multinational
corporations and the internal manufacturing operations and design groups of the leading wireless infrastructure
manufacturers such as Alcatellf..ucent, Ericsson, Motorola, Nokia, Nortel, Samsung and Siemens. Some
competitors have adopted aggressive pricing strategies in an attempt to gain market share, which in return, has
caused us to lower our prices in order to remain competitive. Such pricing actions have had an adverse effect on
our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, some competitors have significantly greater
financial, technical, manufacturing, sales, marketing and other resources than we do and have achieved greatér
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name recognition for their products and technologies than we have. If we are unable to successfully increase our
market penetration or our overall share of the wireless communications infrastructure equipment market, our
revenues will decline, which would negatively impact our results of operations.

Our failure to enhance our existing products or to develop and introduce new products that meet changing
customer requiremenis and evolving technological standards could have a negative impact on our ability 1o sell
our products.

To succeed, we must improve current products and develop aod introduce new products that are competitive
in terms of price, performance and quality. These products must adequately address the requirements of wireless
infrastructure manufacturing customers and end-users. To develop new products, we invest in the research and
development of wireless communications network products and coverage solutions. We target our research and
development efforts on major wireless network deployments worldwide, which cover a broad range of frequency
and transmission protocols. In addition, we are currently working on products for next generation networks, as
well as development projects for products requested by our customers and improvements to our existing
products. The deployment of a wireless network may be delayed which could result in the failure of a particular
research or development effort to generate a revenue producing product. Additionally, the new products we
develop may not achieve market acceptance or may not be able to be manufactured cost effectively in sufficient
volumes. Our research and development efforts are generally funded internally and our customers do not
normally pay for our research and development efforts. These costs are expensed as incurred. Therefore, if our
efforts are not successful at creating or improving products that are purchased by our customers, there will be a
negative impact on our operating results due to high research and development expenses.

Failure to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting could adversely affect our business
and the market price of our Common Stock.

Pursuant to rules adopted by the SEC implementing Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we are
required to assess the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting and provide a management
report on our internal controls over financial reporting in all annual reports. This report contains, among other
matters, a statement as to whether or not our internal controls over financial reporting are effective and the
disclosure of any material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting identified by management.
Section 404 also requires our independent registered public accounting firm te audit management’s report.

The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) provides a framework
for companies to assess and improve their internal control systems. Auditing Standard No. 2 provides the
professional standards and related performance guidance for auditors to attest to, and report on, management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting under Section 404, Management’s
assessment of internal controls over financial reporting requires management to make subjective judgments and,
particularly because Section 404 and Auditing Standard No. 2 are newly effective, some of the judgments will be
in areas that may be open to tnterpretation. Therefore, our management’s report on our internal controls over
financial reporting may be difficult to prepare, and our auditors may not agree with our management’s
assessment.

While we currently believe our internal controls over financial reporting are effective, we are required to
comply with Section 404 on an annual basis. If, in the future, we identify one or more material weaknesses in our
internal controls over financial reporting during this continuous evaluation process, our management will be
unable to assert such internal controls are effective, Although we currently anticipate being able 1o continue to
satisfy the requirements of Section 404 in a timely fashion, we cannot be certain as to the timing of completion
for our future evaluation, testing and any required remediation due in large part to the fact that there are limited
precedents available by which to measure compliance with these new requirements.-In addition, we have begun
the process of replacing our enterprise resource planning system and such system replacement during fiscal 2007
may create unanticipated delays in completing the documentation and testing requirements of Section 404.
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Therefore, if we are unable to assert that our internal controls over financial reporting are effective in the future,
or if our auditors are unable to attest that our management’s report is fairly stated or they are unable to express an
opinion on the effectiveness of our internal controls, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports, which would have an adverse effect on our business and the market price
of our Common Stock,

Qur shareholder rights plan and charter documents could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire
us, even if doing so would be beneficial to our shareholders.

Qur shareholder rights plan and certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and Delaware law are
intended to encourage potential acquirers to negotiate with us and allow our Board of Directors the opportunity to
consider alternative proposals in the interest of maximizing sharcholder value. However, such provisions may
also discourage acquisition proposals or delay or prevent a change in control, which in turn, could harm our stock
price and our shareholders.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes and other natural catastrophic events, and to
interruptions by man made problems such as computer viruses or terrorism.

Our corporate headquarters and a large portion of our U.S. based research and development operations are
located in the State of California in regions known for seismic activity. In addition, we have production facilities
and have outsourced some of our production to contract manufacturers in Asia, another region known for seismic
activity. A significant natural disaster, such as an earthquake in either of these regions, could have a material
adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. In addition, despite our implementation
of network security measures, our servers are vulnerable to computer viruses, break-ins, and similar disruptions
from unauthorized tampering with our computer systems. Any such event could have a material adverse effect on
our business,

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVYED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We believe that our existing facilities provide adequate space for our operations. The following table shows
our significant facilities:

Approximate

Floor Areain

Location . Owned/Teased Square Feet
Santa Ana,California ........ ... . .. L Owned 360,000
Salisbury, Maryland . ...... ... .. ... ... ... .. ... ... Owned 79,000
El Dorado Hills, California . ... ........................ Leased 20,000
Coppell, Texas . ... ... . i Leased 17,000
Merrimack, New Hampshire .......................... Leased 37,000
Santa Ana,California .......... .. ... ... i i Leased 46,000
US.sub-total ......... ... ... ... . ., 559,000
Shanghai,China .......... ... .. ... .. .. i, Leased 94,000
Suzhou.China.......... i i Leased 158,000
Wuxi,China . ... ... . . Leased 22,000
Heredia, Costa Rica ... ... ... i Owned 93,000
SakuVald,Estonia ........... ... i Leased 38,000
Berenyt Ut, Hungary ........ .. ... .. . s, Leased 86,000
Kempele, Finland ......... ... ... o0, Owned 94,000
Tdby, Sweden . ... ... i Owned 178,000
Wolverhampton, United Kingdom . ..................... QOwned 24 000
Non-US.sub-total .............. . it 787,000
Total . ... e 1,346,000

Additionally, we maintain over 15 sales, engineering, and operating offices worldwide. In December 2006
we closed the Costa Rica manufacturing facility.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In January and February 2007, three purported shareholder class action complaints were filed in the United
States District Court for the Central District of California against the Company, its President and Chief Executive
Officer, its Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors and its Chief Financial Officer. The complaints are
Jerry Crafton v, Powerwave Technologies, Inc., et. al., Kenneth Kwan v. Powerwave Technologies, Inc., et. al.,
and Achille Tedesco v. Powerwave Technologies, Inc., et. al. and were brought under Sections 10(b) and 20{a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 thereunder. The complaints purport to state claims on behalf
of all persons who purchased Powerwave securities between May 2, 2005 and October 9, 2006. The essence of
the allegations are that the defendants made misleading statements or omissions concerning the Company’s
projecied and actual sales revenues, the integration of certain acquisitions and the sufficiency of the Company’s
internal controls, The Company believes that the purported shareholder class actions are without merit and
intends to defend them vigorously.
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

The 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company was held on October 27, 2006. The following
matters were submitted to a vote of the Company’s shareholders:

1. Election of Directors. The following directors were elected to hold office until the 2007 Annual Meeting
and until their successors have been elected and have qualified to hold such office. The results of the election for
each director are as follows:

Directors Votes For Votes Withheld
Daniel A, ArTuSE ..ottt e i e 90,165,809 11,945,069
RonaldI.Buschur ......... ... . it 89,532,620 12,578,258
JohnL.Clendenin ............ .. 0 iiiivninann... 90,258,686 11,852,192
Bruce C.Edwards ........... ... . ... iiiiiinnnn.n. 89,631,676 12,479,202
DavidL.George . ....... ... i 89,651,500 12,459,378
Eugene L.Goda .. ...... ..o 89,617,838 12,493,040
Carl W.Neun . ... ... .. . et 90,235,879 11,874,999
Andrew J. Sukawaty ... ... ... 89,568,986 12,541,892

2. Ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm for 2006. The ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Company’s independent
registered public accounting firm for 2006 was approved. The voting results are as follows:

In Favor Of Apainst Abstain
00,105,770 . e 11,878,806 66,302
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PART I1
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information

Powerwave’s Common Stock is quoted on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol PWAV. Set
forth below are the high and low sales prices as reported by Nasdaq for Powerwave’s Common Stock for the
periods indicated.

High Low

Fiscal Year 2006

First Quarter Ended April 2,2006 . .......................... $1576  $12.05

Second Quarter Ended July 2,2006 ............coiivnnnnias $1360 $ 8.62

Third Quarter Ended October 1,2006 . ....................... $936 §6.20

Fourth Quarter Ended December 31,2006 .................... $ 782 § 587
Fiscal Year 2005

First Quarter Ended April 3,2005 ... ...... ... ... . oLl $ 860 § 664

Second Quarter Ended July 3,2005 ... ... ... .. ... . ... ..., $1067 5 6.84

Third Quarter Ended October 2,2005 . ... .. ... ............. 513.08 $ 999

Fourth Quarter Ended January 1,2006 ....................... $13.92  $10.75

Holders

There were approximately 616 stockholders of record as of February 23, 2007. We believe there are
approximately 23,000 stockholders of Powerwave’s Common Stock heid in street name.

Dividends

We have not paid any dividends to date and do not anticipate paying any dividends on our Common Stock
in the foreseeable future, We anticipate that all future earnings will be retained to finance future growth.

Securities Authorized For 1ssuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

QOur shareholders have previously approved all stock option plans under which our Common Stock is
reserved for issuance. The following table provides summary information as of December 31, 2006, for all of our
stock option plans:

Number of Shares of

Number of Shares of Weighted Common Stock
Common Stock to Average Remaining Available
be Issued upon Exercise Price for Future Issuance
Exercise of of Qutstanding under our Stock
Outstanding Options, Option Plans
Options, Warrants Warrants and (Excluding Shares
and Rights Rights Reflected in Column 1)
Approved by Shareholders ............ 7,056,242 $9.57 8,379,259
Not Approved by Shareholders ... ...... — — —
Total ....... ... 7,056,242 $9.57 8,379,259

(O The number of securities remaining available for future issuance has also been reduced to reflect 200,000
shares of restricted stock issued under the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table details the repurchases that were made during the three months ended December 31,
2006.

Approximate Dollar
Total Total Number of Value of Shares
Number Average  Shares Purchased That May Yet Re
of Shares  Price per  as Part of Publicly Purchased Under
Period Purchased Share Announced Plan the Plan

(In thousands) (In thousands)
October 1—October 31 .. ... ... ... .0 — — — —
November 1—November 30 .. ....................... — _—
December | —December 31 ......................... 7.150  $6.50 — —_—

M On December 19, 2006, Ronald Buschur, the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer, surrendered 7,150
shares of common stock to cover his tax withholding obligation with respect to the vesting of 20,000 shares under a
December 2005 restricted stock grant.
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STOCK PERFORMANCE COMPARISON

The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder returns for Powerwave’s Common Stock
with the cumulative total return of the S & P 500 Index and the S & P Communications Equipment Index. The
presentation assumes $100 invested on December 30, 2001 in Powerwave’s Common Stock, the § & P 500 Index
and the S & P Communications Equipment Index with all dividends reinvested. No cash dividends were declared
on Powerwave’s Common Stock during this period. Shareholder returns over the indicated period should not be
considered indicative of future shareholder returns.

COMPARISON OF S YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
AMONG POWERWAVE TECHNOLOGIES, INC., THE S & P 500 INDEX
AND THE § & P COMMUNICATIONS EQUIPMENT INDEX
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* 5100 invested on 12/30/2001 in stock or on 12/31/2001 in index-including reinvestment of dividends.

S&P
Measurement Period Powerwave Communications
(Fiscal Year Covered) Technologies, Inc. 8§ & P 500 Index Equipment Index
200 e e e $29 $§ 78 546
2003 . e e e e e e 542 $100 8§76
200 . e e e e $47 5111 $78
2005 . . e e e e e 569 $117 580
2000 . e e e e $35 $135 592
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data has been derived from Powerwave’s audited consolidated
financial statements. The audited consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2006 and Janvary 1, 2006
and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2006, January 1, 2006, and January 2, 2005 are included herein. The
consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2006, January 1, 2006 and January 2, 2005 and for the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2006. January 1, 2006, and January 2, 2005 exciuded Arkivator. The
information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of the expectations of results for future operations and
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

December 31, January 1, January 2, December 28, December 29,
2006 2006 2005 2003 2002
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Data:
Netsales ... o, $ 716,886 $ 784330 § 448868  $239,069 $384.889
Grossprofit ...................... ... $ 90,891 $ 204653 §$ 104383 § 16215 $ 62,782
Operating income (loss) ............... $(135839) $ 54236 § (27.304) $(55.824) % 3910
Income (loss) from continuing
Operations ...............ciiinnn-. $(137,546) § 52,560 § (72,788) $(32.859) $ 4,111
Total discontinued operations, netof tax .. $ (21,357) § (1914) § 666 § — $§ —
Net income (loss) .................... $(158903) § 50646 $ (72,122) $(32859) $ 4111
Earnings (loss) per share from continuing
operations:
Basic ... $ (.19 % 051 §$ (0.81) $ @051y $ 006
Diluted ......................... $ (1.19) % 044 $ (0.81) § (051) % 006
Loss per share from discontinuing
operations:
Basic ... $ (0.18) % (0.02) $ 001 % — 5 —
Diluted . ........ ... .. . ... 3 {0.18) $ (0.02) § 001 $  — 5 —
Net earnings (loss) per share:
Basic ......... . $ (t.37) 3 049 $ (080) $ 051 $ 006
Diluted . ........................ 3 (137 8 042 § 080y $ 0.51) % 006
Basic weighted average common shares . . . 115918 103,396 90,212 64,667 65,485
Diluted weighted average common
shares ...l i 115918 135,906 90,212 64,667 66,230
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and
short-term investments .............. $ 47836 § 237479 § 289443 $260,528 $162,529
Working capital ......... ... ... 0. $.249464 $ 384677 § 344,132 $280,245 $218,504
Total a8Se1s ... ov vttt $1,215,732 51,130,184 $1,020,771  $466,257 $369,173
Long-term debt, net of current portion .... $ 330,000 $ 330,000 $ 330,000 $130,000 $  —
Total shareholders’ equity .. ............ $ 651,598 $ 581,261 §$ 515612 $271,037  $325,661

0} Fiscal year 2006 includes the financial results of Filtronic beginning October 2006. See “Note 17.
Acquisitions” of the “Notes 1o Consolidated Financial Statements” under Part II, Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.”

) Fiscal year 2005 includes the financial results of REMEC’s Wireless beginning September 2003, See “Note
[7. Acquisitions™ of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements™ under Part II, Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.”
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto. This discussion contains forward-looking statements, the realization of which may be impacted by
certain important factors including, but not limited to, those risk factors disclosed pursuant to Item 1A.

Introduction and Overview

Powerwave is a global supplier of end-to-end wireless solutions for wireless communications networks. Our
business consists of the design, manufacture, marketing and sale of products to improve coverage, capacity and
data speed in wireless communication networks, including antennas, boosters, combiners, filters, radio frequency
power amplifiers, repeaters, tower-mounted amplifiers and advanced coverage solutions. These products are
utilized in major wireless networks throughout the world that support voice and data communications by use of
cell phones and other wireless communication devices. We sell such products to both original equipment
manufacturers, who incorporate our products into their proprietary base stations (which they then sell to wireless
network operators), and directly to individual wireless network operators for deployment into their existing
networks.

On September 29, 2006, we sold our contract manufacturing subsidiary, Arkivator. Consequently, the
contract manufacturing segment is classified as a discontinued operation and its results are removed from
continuing operations for all reporting periods presented. For periods prior to fiscal 2006, we have presented our
previously reported results excluding the contract manufacturing segment.

On Octeber IS, 2006, we completed the acquisition of the Wireless Infrastructure Divison business of
Filtronic plc (the “Filtronic Wireless Acquisition™).

During the last six years, demand for wireless communications infrastructure equipment has fluctuated
dramatically. While demand for wireless infrastructure was strong during 2005, it weakened for Powerwave
during 2006 due to significant reductions at three customers. In the past there have been significant slowdowns in
capital spending by wireless network operators due to delays in the expected deployment of infrastructure
equipment and financial difficulties on the part of the wireless network operators who were forced to consolidate
and reduce spending to strengthen their balance sheets and improve their profitability, These changes had a
significant negative impact on overall demand for wireless infrastructure products, and at various times, have
directly reduced demand for our products and increased price competition within our industry which has in the
past Jed to reductions in our revenues and contributed to our reported operating losses. During fiscal 2006, we
experienced a significant slowdown in demand from one of our direct network operator customers, Cingular
Wireless, as well as reduced demand from one of our original equipment manufacturing customers, Nortel
Networks and a significant reduction in demand from Nokia and Siemens in the fourth quarter of 2006, ali of
which combined directly reduced demand for our products and contributed to our operating loss for fiscal 2006.

We believe that we have maintained our overall market share within the wireless communications
infrastructure equipment market during this period. We continue to invest in the research and development of
wireless communications network technology and the diversification of our product offerings, and we believe
that we have one of our industry’s leading product portfolios in terms of performance and features. We believe
that our proprietary design technology is a further differentiator for our products.

Looking back over the last several years, beginning in fiscal 2004 we focused on cost savings while we
expanded our market opportunities, as evidenced by our acquisition of LGP Allgon. This acquisition involved the
integration of two companies based in different countries that previously operated independently, which was a
complex, costly and time-consuming process. We have implemented our plans to restructure and integrate LGP
Allgon’s operations, technology and personnel with ours. During fiscal 2005, we continued to focus on cost
savings while we expanded our market opportunities, as evidenced by our acquisition of selected assets and
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liabilities of REMEC, Inc.’'s Wireless Systems Business (the “REMEC Wireless Acquisition.””) We believe that
this acquisition further strengthened our position in the global wireless infrastructure market. We have
implemented our plans to restructure and integrate the acquired REMEC operations, technology and personnel
with our operations. In October 2006, we completed the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition. We believe that this
strategic acquisition provides us with the leading position in transmit and receive filter products, as well as
broadens our RF conditioning and base station solutions product portfolio and adds significant additional
technology to our intellectual property portfolio. For fiscal year 2007, we are focused on finalizing our plans to
integrate this acquisition, consolidate its operations and reduce our overall cost structure. These acquisitions do
not provide any guarantee that our revenues will increase.

We measure our success by monitoring our net sales by product and consolidated gross margins, with a
short-term goal of maintaining a positive operating cash flow while striving to achieve long-term operating
profits. We believe that there continues to be long-term growth opportunities within the wireless communications
infrastructure marketplace, and we are focused on positioning Powerwave to benefit from these long-term
opportunities.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We prepare our condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. As such, we are required to make certain estimates,
judgments and assumptions that we believe are reasonable based upon the information currently available. These
estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods presented. Any future changes
to these estimates and assumptions could cause a material change to our reported amounts of revenue, expenses,
assets and liabilities. The critical accounting policies that we believe are the most significant for purposes of fully
understanding and evaluating our reported financial results include the following:

Revenue Recognition

The majority of our revenue is derived from the sales of products. We recognize revenue from product sales
at the time of shipment or delivery and passage of title depending upon the terms of the sale. We offer certain of
our customers the right to return products within a limited time after delivery under specified circumstances,
generally related to product defects, We monitor and track such product returns and record a provision for the
estimated amount of such future returns based on historical experience and any notification we receive of
pending returns. While such returns have historically been within our expectations and the provisions established,
we cannot guarantee that we will continue to experience the same return rates that we have in the past. Any
significant increase in product returns could have a material adverse effect on our operating results for the period
or periods in which such returns materialize.

Accounts Receivable

We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and adjust credit limits based upon payment
history, the customer’s credit worthiness and various other factors, as determined by our review of their credit
information. We monitor collections and payments from our customers and maintain an allowance for estimated
credit losses based upon our historical experience and any specific customer collection issues that we have

identified, While such credit losses have historically been within our expectations and the provisions established, ‘

we cannot guarantee that we will continue to experience the same credit loss rates that we have in the past. Since
our accounts receivable are highly concentrated in a small number of customers, a significant change in the
liquidity or financial position of any one of these customers could have a material adverse effect on the
collectibility of our accounts receivable, our liquidity and our future operating results.

Inventories

We value our inventory at the lower of the actual cost to purchase and/or manufacture the inventory or the
current estimated market value of the inventory. We regularly review inventory quantities on hand and on order
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and record a provision for excess and obsolete inventory and/or vendor cancellation charges related to purchase
commitments. Depending on the product line, such provisions are established based on historical usage for the
preceding twelve months, adjusted for known changes in demands for such products, or the estimated forecast of
product demand and production requirements for the next twelve months. These provisions reduce the cost basis
of the respective inventory. Qur industry is characterized by rapid technological change, frequent new product
development, and rapid product obsolescence that could result in an increase in the amount of obsoclete inventory
quantities on hand. As demonstrated during the past three fiscal years, demand for our products can fluctuate
significantly. A significant increase in the demand for our products could result in a short-term increase in the
cost of inventory purchases while a significant decrease in demand could result in an increase in the amount of
excess inventory quantities on hand. In addition, our estimates of future product demand may prove to be
inaccurate, in which case we may have understated or overstated the provision required for excess and obsolete
inventory. In the future, if our inventory is determined to be overvalued, we would be required to recognize
additional expense in our cost of goods sold at the time of such determination. Likewise, if our inventory is
determined to be undervalued, we may have over-reported our costs of goods sold in previous perieds and would
be required to recognize additional gross profit at the time such inventory is sold. Although we make reasonable
efforts to ensure the accuracy of our forecasts of future product demand, any significant unanticipated changes in
demand or technological developments could have a material effect on the value of our inventory and our
reported operating results.

Income Taxes

We recognize current and deferred tax assets and liabilities, as well as the associated income statement
benefit or expense, based on our reported operating results and the differences between the financial statement
carrying values and the tax bases of assets and liabilities in each separate tax jurisdiction within which we
conduct business. We do not provide deferred U.S. income taxes on undistributed earnings from certain foreign
subsidiaries where we consider such earnings to be permanently reinvested. Given the global scope of our
operations and the complexity of global tax and transfer pricing rules and regulations, it has become increasingly
difficult to predict and thereafter realize our earnings within each tax jurisdiction. This has resulted in, and could
continue to result in, significant fluctuations in our effective tax rate.

We regularly review our deferred tax assets for recoverability and establish a valuation allowance based on
historical taxable income, projected future taxable income, and the expected timing of the reversals of existing
temporary differences within each taxing jurisdiction.

Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Long-Lived Assets

We record the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations at their respective fair values
at the date of acquisition, with any excess purchase price recorded as goodwill. Because of the expertise required
to value intangible assets and in-process research and development, we typically engage independent valuation
specialists to assist us in determining those values. Valuation of intangible assets and in-process research and
development entails significant estimates and assumptions including, but not limited to, determining the timing
and expected costs to complete development projects, estimating future cash flows from product sales,
developing appropriate discount rates, estimating probability rates for the successful completion of development
projects, continuation of customer relationships and renewal of customer contracts. and approximating the useful
lives of the intangible assets acquired. To the extent actual results differ from these estimates, our future results
of operations may be affected.

We review the recoverability of the carrying value of goodwill on an annual basis or more frequently when
an event occurs or circumstances change to indicate that an impairment of goodwill has possibly occurred. The
determination of whether any potential impairment of goodwill exists is based upon a comparison of the fair
value of a reporting unit to the accounting value of the underlying net assets of such reporting unit, To determine
the fair value of a reporting unit, we utilize subjective valuations for the reporting unit based upon a discounted
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cash flow analysis. The discounted cash flow analysis is dependent upon a number of various factors including
estimates of forecasted revenues and costs, appropriate discount rates and other variables. If the forecast
assumptions utilized materially change, it could result in a lower fair value calculation which could require an
impairment of existing goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying value of the
underlying net assets, goodwill is deemed impaired and an impairment loss is recorded to the extent that the
carrying value of goodwill is less than the difference between the fair value of the reporting unit and the fair
value of all its underlying identifiable assets and liabilities.

Purchased intangible assets with determinable useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortization,
and are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which generally range up to 6
years. We review the recoverability of the carrying value of identified intangibles and other long-lived assets,
including fixed assets, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is determined based upon the forecasted undiscounted
future net cash flows expected to result from the use of such asset and its eventual disposition. Our estimate of
future cash flows is based upon, among other things, certain assumptions about expected future operating
performance, growth rates and other factors. The actual cash flows realized from these assets may vary
significantly from our estimates due to increased competition, changes in technology, fluctuations in demand,
consolidation of our customers and reductions in average selling prices. If the carrying value of an asset is
determined not to be recoverable from future operating cash flows, the asset is deemed impaired and an
impairment loss is recognized to the extent the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair market value of the
asset. While we do not believe that any of our intangible or other long-lived assets are currently impaired, there
have been impairments in the current year as well as in the past, and any future impairment of such assets could
have a material adverse affect on our financial position and results of operations.

Warranties

We offer warranties of various lengths to our customers depending upon the specific product and terms of
the customer purchase agreement. Qur standard warranties require us to repair or replace defective product
returned to us during such warranty period at no cost to the customer. We record an estimate for standard
warranty-refated costs based on our actual historical return rates and repair costs at the time of the sale and
update such estimate throughout the warranty period. While our warranty costs have historically been within our
expectations and the provisions established, we cannot guarantee thai we will continue to experience the same
warranty return rates or repair costs that we have in the past. We also have contractual commitments to various
customers that require us to incur costs to repair an epidemic defect with respect to our products outside of our
standard warranty period if such defect were to occur. Any costs related to epidemic defects are generally
recorded at the time the epidemic defect becomes known to us and the costs of repair can be reasonably |
estimated. While we have experienced occasional significant costs due to epidemic defects, we have nat
historically regularty experienced significant costs related to epidemic defects. We cannot guarantee that we will
not experience significant costs to repair epidemic defects in the future. A significant increase in product return
rates, a significant increase in the costs to repair our products, or an unexpected epidemic defect in our products,
could have a material adverse effect on our operating results during the period in which such returns or additional
costs materialize.

Accruals for Restructuring and Impairment Charges

We recorded $53.0 mitlion, $1.3 million and $2.6 million of restructuring and impairment charges during
fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. In the fourth quarter of 2006 and in connection with the Filtronic
Wireless Acquisition, we formulated and began to implement a plan to restructure our global manufacturing
operations with an initial primary focus on our operations in China. The China restructuring plan involves
consolidating our manufacturing facilities in Wuxi and Shanghai, China, into the manufacturing facility in
Suzhou, China, acquired in the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition. We are continuing to evaluate our initial
restructuring and consolidation plans for the Filtronic Wireless operations and we expect to finalize these plans in
the first half of fiscal 2007.

35




In connection with the REMEC Wireless Acquisttion during the third quarter of fiscal 2005, we recognized
$10.4 million as liabilities in connection with the acquisition for estimated restructuring and integration costs
related to the consolidation of REMEC’s Wireless operations, including severance and future lease obligations
on excess facilities. Integration activities related to this restructuring plan are substantially complete,

In addition, as a result of the acquisition of LGP Allgon in May 2004, we recorded $26.6 million of
additional restructuring liabilities and asset write-downs under purchase accounting for expected integration and
consolidation activities related to their operations. Integration activities related to this restructuring plan are
substantially complete.

All of these restructuring and impairment accruals related primarily to workforce reductions, consolidation
of facilities, and the discontinuation of certain product lines, including the associated write-downs of inventory,
manufacturing and test equipment, and certain intangible assets. Such accruals were based on estimates and
assumptions made by management about matters which were unceriain at the time, including the timing and
amount of sublease income that will be recovered on vacated property and the net realizable value of used
equipment that is no longer needed in our continuing operations, While we used our best current estimates based
on facts and circumstances available at the time to quantify these charges, different estimates could reasonably be
used in the relevant periods to arrive at different accruals and/or the actual amounts incurred or recovered may be
substantially different from the assumptions utilized, either of which could have a material impact on the
presentation of our financial condition or results of operations for a given peried. As a result, we periodically
review the estimates and assumptions used and reflect the effects of those revisions in the period that they
become known.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Interpretation No. 48,
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" (“FIN 48”). FIN
48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement process for recording in the financial statements uncertain
tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109”). Tax positions must meet a more-likely-
than-not recognition threshold at the effective date to be recognized upon the adoption of FIN 48 and in
subsequent periods. The accounting provision of FIN 48 is effective for the Company beginning January 1,

2007. The cumulative effect of adopting FIN 48 will be recorded in retained earnings and other accounts, as
applicable. We are currently evaiuating the provisions of FIN 48 and have not yet completed our determination
of the impact of adoption on our results of operations or financial position.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurement” (“SFAS 1577). SFAS 157
establishes a single authoritative definition of fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value, and
required additional disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 applies only to fair value
measurements that are already required or permitted by other accounting standards. SFAS 157 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact that adopting SFAS 157
will have on our results of operations and financial condition.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108,
“Considering the Effects Prior Period Year Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year
Financial Statements,” (“SAB 108”). SAB 108 provides interpretative guidance on how the effects of the
carryover or reversal of prior year misstatements should be considered in quantifying a current year
misstatement. SAB 108 was effective for the Company in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006. The adoption
of SAB 108 did not impact our results of operations or financial condition.

In November 2003, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FAS123R-3, Transition Election to Accounting
for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards (“FSP”). We have elected to follow the alternative transition
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method as described in the FSP for computing 1ts additional paid-in capital pool. In addition, we treat the

tax deductions from stock options as being realized when they reduce taxes payable in accordance with the
principles and timing under the relevant tax law. Under this transition method, compensation cost is recognized
on or after the required effective date for the portion of outstanding awards for which the requisite service has not
yet been rendered, based on the grant-date fair value of those awards previously calculated under SFAS No. 123
for pro forma disclosure purposes. The financial statements for periods prior to the date of adoption have not
been restated in accordance with the modified prospective application.

In May 2005 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 154, Accounting Changes
and Error Corrections (“SFAS 1547). SFAS 154 replaces APB Opinion No. 20 and SFAS No. 3. SFAS 154
provides guidance on the accounting for and reporting of accounting changes and error corrections, SFAS
No. 154 is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2005. We have adopted this Statement beginning January 1, 2006 and it had no impact on our
results operations or financial condition.

Results of Operations

The following table summarizes Powerwave’s results of operations as a percentage of net sales for the years
ended December 31, 2006, January 1, 2006, and January 2, 2005:

Fiscal Years Ended
December 31, January |, January 2,
006 2006

2005
Netsales . .. ..o 100.0% 100.0%  100.0%
Cost of sales:
Costof goods . ... .. i i 80.1 72.3 75.5
Intangible asset amortization . .. ... ... .. .. . . . e 29 1.0 0.9
Restructuring and impairment charges ....... ... ... ... ... ... ... 4.0 — 0.1
Acquired inventory incremental costs .. ....... ... .. L 0.3 0.2 0.2
Total cost of sales ... ... . e 87.3 73.9 76.7
Gross Profil ... e s 12.7 26.1 233
Operating expenses:
Salesand marketing .. ....... .. it s 54 5.0 6.3
Research and development . .................................. 5.9 1.7 10.5
General and administrative ............. ... . i, 8.1 5.2 5.2
Intangible asset amortization .. ......... ... ... ... L, 1.4 1.1 1.6
In-process research and development ......... . ... ... ... ... ... 35 — 53
Restructuring and impairment charges . ................ ... ..... 33 0.2 0.5
Total operating expenses .. ............ ... i 316 19.2 29.4
Operating income (J0SS) ... ...ttt et et {18.9) 6.9 (6.1}
Other income (EXPense), MEL . ... ... .ttt rnn e innnnnns 0.4 0.3 0.1
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes . .......... (18.5) 7.2 (6.2)
Provision for income taxes ......... ... ... . .. ... ... i 0.7 0.5 10.0
Income (loss) from continuing operations . ... .......ouiinrrnnenn.. (19.2) 6.7 (16.2)

Discontinued operations, net of income taxes:

Income (loss) from discontinued operations ...................... 0.3 (0.2) 0.1

Lossonsaleof subsidiary ........... ... ... ... ... ... .. ... 3.3) — —
Total discontinued operations, neteftax ............................ 3.0y 0.2) 0.1
Net income (10SS) . . ...t e e e _(%Z_Z_.g)% ___&_5% 16.1)%




Years ended December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006
Net Sales

Qur sales are derived from the sale of wireless communications network products and coverage solutions,
including antennas, boosters, combiners, filters, radio frequency power amplifiers, repeaters, tower-mounted
amplifiers and advanced coverage solutions for use in cellular, PCS, and 3G wireless communications networks
throughout the world,

Sales decreased by 8.6% to $716.9 million, for the year ended December 31, 2006, from $784.3 million, for
the year ended January 1, 2006. This decrease was due to several factors, which included significant lower
demand from our direct operator customers, which decreased by $133.6 million or 32% from fiscal year 2005 to
2006. One major contributor to this decline was Cingular Wireless who reduced direct purchases by $87.3
million and accounted for a large portion of the remaining reduction. While the reduced revenue from direct
operator customers was somewhat offset by increased demand from our original equipment manufacturer
customers of approximately $66.2 million, in the fourth quarter of 2006, we experienced a significant reduction
in demand from Nokia and Siemens. We believe that this reduction is due 1o the pending merger of Nokia's and
Siemens Wireless Infrastructure businesses. This reduction in demand also significantly impacted the revenues
from products acquired in the fourth quarter of 2006 associated with the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition.

The following table presents a further analysis of our sales based upon our various product groups:

Fiscal Years Ended
(in thousands)

December 31, January 1,
Wireless Communications Product Groups 2006 2006
ANIENNA SYSIEMS . .o vi et ettt vae e e, $195,879 27.3% $246,220 31.4%
Base station subsystems ......... ... i 449,276 62.7% 457,260 583%
Coveragesolutions . ......... ... ... ... ... .. oL 71,731 100% 80,830 10.3%
Total net sales .. .vvu vt $716.886 100.0% $784.330 100.0%

Antenna systems consist of base station antennas and tower-mounted amplifiers. Base station subsystems
consist of products that are installed into or around the base station of wireless networks and include products
such as boosters, combiners, filters, outdoor cabinets and radio frequency power amplifiers. Coverage solutions
consist primarily of repeaters and advanced coverage solutions. The decrease in all the product groups is due to
the impact of lower demand during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the fiscal year ended
Janvary 1, 2006.

We track the geographic location of our sales based upon the location of our customers to which our
products are shipped. Since many of our customers purchase products from us at central locations and then reship
the product with other base station equipment to locations throughout the world, we are unable to identify the
final installation location of our products.

The following table presents an analysis of our net sales based upon the geographic area to which a product
was shipped:

Fiscal Years Ended -~
(in thousands)

Geographic Area December 31, 2006 January 1, 2006
AMELICAS . o ottt it et $205,702 28.7% $307,055 39.2%
ASIA e 102,766 14.3% 76,303 9.7%
Burope ... ... 396,837 55.4% 393,022 50.1%
Other intemational . ... .................... 11,581 1.6% 7,950 1.0%
Totalnetsales ....................... $716,886  100.0% $784,330 100.0%




Revenues in the Americas decreased during fiscal 2006 as compared to fiscal 2005, primarily as a result of
reduced demand by Cingular Wireless and Nortel. Since wireless network infrastructure spending is dependent
on individual network coverage and capacity demands, we do not believe that our revenue fluctuations for any
geographic region are necessarily indicative of a predictable trend for our future revenues by geographic area. In
addition, as noted above, growth in one geographic location may not reflect actual demand growth in that
location due to the centralized buying processes of our original equipment manufacturer customers.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, total sales to Nokia accounted for approximately 21% of sales and
sales to Siemens accounted for approximately 13% for the period. For the year ended January 1, 2006. total sales
to Cingular Wireless accounted for approximately 16% of sales and sales to Nokia accounted for approximately
14%. We currently believe that the decrease in our sales to Cingular Wireless during fiscal 2006 was the result of
a reduction in demand for products due to excess original equipment manufacturer’s inventories at Cingular
Wireless which caused them to reduce new purchases during 2006. Notwithstanding our acquisitions, our
business remains largely dependent upon a limited number of customers within the wireless communications
market and we cannol guarantee that we will continue to be successful in attracting new customers or retaining or
increasing business with our existing customers.

A number of factors have caused delays and may cause future delays in new wireless infrastructure and
upgrade deployment schedules throughout the world, including deployments in the United States, Europe, Asia,
South America and other areas. In addition, a number of factors may cause original equipment manufacturers to
alter their outsourcing strategy concerning certain wireless communications network products, which could cause
such original equipment manufacturers to reduce or eliminate their demand for external supplies of such products
or shift their demand to alternative suppliers or internal suppliers. Such factors include lower perceived internal
manufacturing costs and competitive reasons to remain vertically integrated. Due to the possible uncertainties
associated with wireless infrastructure deployments and original equipment manufacturer demand, we have
experienced and expect to continue to experience significant fluctuations in demand from our original equipment
manufacturer and network operator customers, Such fluctuations have caused and may continue to cause
significant reductions in our revenues and/or operating results, which has adversely impacted and may continue
to adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

Qur cost of sales includes both fixed and variable cost components and consists primarily of materials,
assembly and test labor, overhead, which includes equipment and facility depreciation, transportation costs,
warranty costs and amortization of product-related intangibles. Components of our fixed cost structure include
test equipment and facility depreciation, purchasing and procurement expenses and quality assurance costs.
Given the fixed nature of such costs, the absorption of our overhead costs into inventory decreases and the
amount of overhead variances expensed to cost of sales increases as volumes decline since we have fewer units
to absorb our overhead costs against. In addition, as we have acquired additional businesses with additional
manufacturing facilities, as demand and sales decrease, the amounts expensed to cost of sales increases due to the
additional overhead costs that are not being absorbed. Conversely, the absorption of our overhead costs into
inventory increases and the amount of overhead variances expensed to cost of sales decreases as volumes
increase since we have more units to absorb our overhead costs against. As a result, our gross profit margins
generally decrease as revenue and volumes decline due to lower sales volume and higher amounts of overhead
variances expensed to cost of sales; and our gross profit margins generally increase as our revenue and volumes
increase due to higher sales volume and lower amounts of overhead variances expensed to cost of sales.
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The following table presents an analysis of our gross profit:

Fiscal Years Ended
{in thousands)

December 31, 2006 January 1, 2006
Netsales . ... e 3716,886  100.0% $784,330 100.0%
Cost of sales:
Costofgoods ........ .. oo i i, 573,975 80.1% 570,034 72.7%
Intangible asset amortization .. .................. 20,603 2.9% 8,238 1.0%
Restructuring and impairment charges ............ 29,003 4.0% — — %
Acquired inventory incremental costs . . ........... 2414 0.3% 1,405 0.2%
Total costofsales ..., 625,995 87.3% 579,677 73.9%
Grossprofit ...t 5 90,891 12.7% $204,653 26.1%

Our total gross profit decreased during fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005 primarily as a result of our
decreased revenues. In addition, our gross profit margin declined due to both the poor absorption of our
manufacturing overheads due to the lower sales revenues during the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2006 and
the increased manufacturing overhead costs associated with the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition. Also contributing
to the reduction in our gross profit percentage was a reduction in direct operator sales as a percentage of total
sales, which typically have carried higher margins than our original equipment manufacturers based sales. Our
gross profit percentage was also reduced due to increased intangible amortization costs due to the Filtronic
Wireless Acquisition and a full year of intangible asset amortization association with the REMEC Wireless
Acquisition. In the fourth quarter of 2006, we determined that approximately $3.6 million of identified intangible
assets had become impaired due to decisions to cease production of certain product lines acquired as part of the
REMEC Wireless Acquisition. This charge is included in intangible asset amortization for 2006. We also
incurred significant restructuring and impairment charges in 2006 related to restructuring plans implemented in
conjunction with the China manufacturing consolidation and certain acquisitions related restructuring plans (see
Note 9 “Restructuring and Impairment Charges” of the Notes to Consolidated financial Statements under Part 11,
Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”).

The wireless communications infrastructure equipment industry is extremely competitive and is
characterized by rapid technological change, new product development and product obsolescence, evolving
industry standards and significant price erosion over the life of a product. Certain of our competitors have
aggressively lowered prices in an attempt to gain market share, Due to these competitive pressures and the
pressures of our customers to continually lower product costs, we expect that the average sales prices of our
products will continue to decrease and negatively impact our gross margins. In addition, we have introduced new
products at lower sales prices and these lower sales prices have impacted the average sales prices of our products.
We have also reduced prices on our existing products in response to our competitors and customer demands. We
currently expect that pricing pressures will remain strong in our industry. Future pricing actions by our
competitors and us may adversely impact our gross profit margins and profitability, which could result in
decreased liquidity and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We continue (o strive for manufacturing and engineering cost reductions to offset pricing pressures on our
products, as evidenced by our decision to close our Costa Rica, Shanghai and Wuxi, China manufacturing
operations as part of our plan to reduce our manufacturing costs. However, we cannot guarantee that these cost
reduction, and our outsourcing or product redesign efforts will keep pace with price declines and cost increases.
If we are unable to further reduce our costs through our manufacturing, outsourcing and/or engineering efforts,
our gross margins and profitability will be adversely affected. See “Our average sales prices have declined...;
and Our reliance on contract manufacturers exposes us to risks,..” under Part I, Item 1 A. “Risk Factors.”
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Operating Expenses
The following table presents a breakdown of our operating expenses by functional category and as a
percentage of net sales:

Fiscal Years Ended
(in thousands)

Operating Expenses December 31, 2006 January 1, 2006
Salesand marketing ............... ... ............. $ 38,836 54% $ 39,199 5.0%
Research and development ........................... 71,193 99% 60,571 1.7%
General and administrative ... .............. ... ... ..., 58,016 8.1% 40,598 5.2%
Intangible asset amortization . .. .......... ... v tnnn 9.592 1.4% 8,368 1.1%
In-process research and development ................... 25,100 3.5% 350 — %
Restructuring and impairment charges .................. 23,993 33% 1,331 02%
Total operating expenses .. ...........covuvrernnn. $226,730  31.6% $150,417 19.2%

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of sales salaries and commissions, travel expenses, charges
for customer demonstration units and trade show expenses. Sales and marketing expenses decreased by $0.4
million during fiscal 2006 as compared to fiscal 2005. The decrease resulted primarily from reduced commission
costs due to our lower revenues, somewhat offset by increased personnel costs associated with the Filtronic
Wireless Acquisition. In addition, there was no bonus accrual in fiscal 2006, while $1.2 million was accrued

during fiscal 2005.

Research and development expenses consist of ongoing product design and development expenses as well
as design expenses associated with reducing the cost and improving the manufacturability of existing products.
Current programs include antennas, base station subsystems including radio frequency power amplifiers, filter
products and coverage solution products. Research and development expenses can fluctuate dramatically from
period to period depending on numerous factors including new product introduction schedules, prototype
developments and hiring patterns. Research and development expenses increased by $10.6 million, or 18%,
during fiscal 2006 as compared to fiscal 2005. The majority of this increase is due to the addition of the Filtronic
Wireless Acquisition, which added significant additional engineering resources in the fourth quarter of 2006. In
addition, for 2006 we had an entire year of the additional research and development costs associated with the
REMEC Wireless Acquisition which was completed in September 2005. Somewhat offsetting these costs was the
fact that no bonus has been accrued during 2006 while $2.4 million was accrued in 2005.

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and other expenses for management,
finance, information systems, facilities and human resources. General and administrative expenses increased
$17.4 million, or 43%, during fiscal 2006 as compared to fiscal 2005. This increase was due to several factors
including, additional personnel from our acquisitions, a whole year of general and administrative expenses and
facilities costs associated with the REMEC Wireless Acquisition, approximately $1.5 million of increased costs
incurred for both audit and testing of our internal controls over financial reporting due to an increased number of
locations acquired in our acquisitions, approximately $2.2 million of increased expenses incurred for the
implementation of our Oracle enterprise resource planning system as well as increased personnel costs and
general administrative costs due to the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition in the fourth quarter of 2006. In addition,
for 2006 compensation expense of approximately $3.0 million was recognized during fiscal 2006 for stock
options and employee stock purchase plan awards and no amount was recorded in fiscal 2003,

Amortization of customer-related intangibles, from the LGP Allgon, REMEC and Filtronic acquisitions,
amounted to $9.6 million for fiscal 2006, compared to $8.4 million for fiscal 2005, We recorded a one-time
charge of $25.1 million in fiscal 2006 based upon the preliminary purchase price allocation for the Filtronic
Wireless Acquisition for purchased in-process research and development that was expensed upon the completion
of the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition. This charge related to certain product development activities of Filtronic
Wireless that had not reached technological feasibility such that successful development was uncertain and no
future alternative uses existed.
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For fiscal 2006, we recognized restructuring and impairment charges of $24.0 million. These resulted
primarily from the loss of approximately $3.5 million from the sale of two facilities located in Sweden and the
impairment of approximately $18.3 million in the value of the remaining facility in Sweden.

Other Income, net

The following table presents a breakdown of other income, net:

Fiscal Years Ended
(in thousands)

December 31, 2006 January 1, 2006

Interest inCOMe . .. oottt et es $ 7,301 1.0% $ 7,609 1.0%
Interest eXpense ...y (7,931) (1.1)% (7,718) (1.0)%
Foreign currency gain, net ....................... 20 — % 1,361 0.2%
Otherincome, net . ..ot e 3,333 _Qi % 1,049 0_] %

Total other income . . ... ... $ 2,908 %% $ 2,301 0_.3_%

Other income consists primarily of interest income, less interest expense. Interest income decreased by $0.3
million during fiscal 2006 primarily due to reduction of cash balances in relation to the completion of the
Filtronic Wireless Acquisition in the fourth quarter of 2006 which included the payment of $185 miilion of cash.
This was somewhat offset by higher interest rates during 2006 as compared to 2005. Interest expense increased
by $0.2 million of additional interest expense accrued during fiscal 2006 associated with our subordinated
convertible notes. We also recognized a net foreign currency gain of $0.2 million for fiscal 2006 due to the
weaker U.S. dollar versus most major currencies. Other income, net consists of rental income and other
miscellaneous income and expenses. For fiscal 2005, there were non-recurring expenses of approximately $2.2
million.

Provision for Income Taxes

Qur effective tax rate differs from the U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 35% primarily due to the imposition
of a valuation allowance on both our U.S., Swedish and certain UK tax losses, as required under FAS 109, as
well as the geographic distribation of our income, which is taxed at various rates depending upon the country
where such earnings are reported, as well as the impact of state taxes on U.S. domestic operations. We recorded a
tax provision including continuing and discontinued operations of $5.4 million during fiscal 2006 as compared to
a tax provision of $3.2 million for fiscal 2005. Given the global scope of our worldwide operations and the
difficulty in predicting and, thereafter, realizing our earnings within each tax jurisdiction, we expect that our
effective tax rate may fluctuate dramatically in the future.
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Net Income (Loss)
The following table presents a reconciliation of operating income (foss) from continuing operations to net
income (loss):

Fiscal Years Ended
(in thousands)

December 3, January 1,
6

2006

Operating income (1088} « . -« vt $(135,839)  $54.236
Other income (expense), Nt . .......vouieerineennennnnn.. 2,908 2,301
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes . . (132,931) 56,537
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes . .................. 4,615 3,977

Income (loss) from continuing operations ............... (137.546) 52,560
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes:

Income (loss) from discontinuing operations ............ 2,107 (1,914)

Loss on sale of subsidiary . .......................... (23,464) —
Total discontinued operations, netoftax .................... (21,357) (1,914)
Netincome (J0S8) . ... it e $(158,903)  $50,646

Our net loss from continuing operations for fiscal 2006 of $137.5 million compared to a net income from
continued operations of $52.6 million for fiscal 2005. The significant loss during fiscal 2006 as compared to
fiscal 2005 is primarily the result of lower revenues due to reductions from major customers which resulted in
lower gross margins due to poor factory absorption and incrementa! operating expenses associated with the
Filtronic Wireless Acquisition, In addition, we incurred significant restructuring and impairment costs as we
began the process of lowering our cost structure as well as charges associated with the Filtrontc Wireless
Acquisttion. Lastly, our net loss for fiscal 2006 included the loss on the sale of Arkivator, which included the
write-off of its net assets, including goodwill.

Years ended January 1, 2006 and January 2, 2005
Net Sales

Sales increased by 75% to $784.3 million for the year ended January [, 2006, from $448.9 million, for the
year ended January 2, 2005, This increase was primarily due to the impact of our acquisition of LGP Allgon
during the second quarter of fiscal 2004 and our acquisition of selected assets and liabilities of REMEC Wireless
Business in the third quarter of fiscal 2005. Fiscal 2005 includes the results of LGP Allgon for the entire period
while fiscal 2004 only includes the results of LGP Allgon for May through December. Fiscal 2005 also includes
the results of the REMEC Wireless Acquisition from September 2005 forward. Fiscal 2005 also benefited from
increased demand for wireless infrastructure products particularly in the North America marketplace. During
2005, Cingular Wireless was the largest customer in North America, reflecting its multi-year GSM upgrade
program and its initial build out of a UMTS system in North America.

The following table presents a further analysis of our sales based upon product groups:

Fiscal Years Ended
(in thousands)

January I, January 2,
Wireless Communications Product Groups 2006 2005
Antennasystems ................... ..., $246,220 314% $110,991 24.7%
Base station subsystems ........... ... ..... 457,260 58.3% 277,521 61.8%
Coverage solutions ....................... 80,850 10.3% 60,356 13.5%
Totalnetsales ......... ... . ..., $784.330 100.0% $448.868  100.0%




The following table presents an analysis of our net sales based upon the geographic area to which a product

was shipped:
Fiscal Years Ended
(in thousands)

Geographic Area January 1, 2006 January 2, 2005
Americas ... ... i e $307,055 39.2% $141,292 31.5%
ASia .. e 76,303 9.7% 61,895 13.8%
Europe ... 393,022 50.1% 235,791 525%
Other international . . . .......... ... ... ..... 7,950 1.0% 9,890 2.2%

Totalnetsales ....................... $784,330 100.0% $448,868 100.0%

Revenues in the Americas, Asia Pacific, and Europe locations increased during fiscal 2005 as compared to
fiscal 2004 as a result of our acquisitions of LGP Allgon and REMEC Wireless as well as increased demand for
wireless infrastructure products. Since wireless network infrastructure spending is dependent on individual
network coverage and capacity demands, we do not believe that our revenue fluctuations for any geographic

region are necessarily indicative of a predictable trend for our future revenues

by geographic area.

For the year ended January 1, 2006, total sales to Cingular Wireless accounted for approximately 16% of
sales and sales to Nokia accounted for approximately 14% of sales. For the year ended January 2, 2005, total
sales to Nortel accounted for approximately 25% of sales and sales to Nokia accounted for approximately 11% of
sales. The decrease in the percentage of our sales to Nortel during fiscal 2005 is the result of our acquisitions,
which substantially increased our total revenues and number of cusiomers, as well as a reduction in demand for

products purchased by Nortel.

Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The following table presents an analysis of our gross profit:

Fiscal Years Ended
(in thousands)
January 1, 2006 January 2, 2005

Netsales ... e i e e s $784,330 100.0% $448,868 100.0%
Cost of sales:

Costofgoods .......... .. ..o, 570,034 72.7% 338,826 15.5%

Intangible asset amortization . ................... 8,238 1.0% 4,276 0.9%

Restructuring and impairment charges . ........... — — % 506 0.1%

Acquired inventory incremental costs . ............ 1,405 0.2% 877 0.2%

Total costofsales ........................ 579,677 739% 344,485 76.7%

Grossprofit ........ ... ... ... .. .... $204,653 26.1% $104,383 23.3%

Our gross profit margins improved during fiscal 2005 due to the increased revenue and cost savings realized
from the integration of purchasing activities following our acquisition of LGP Allgon, as well as cost reductions
realized from the relocation and consolidation of certain manufacturing activities to lower cost locations in Asia.
This impact was slightly offset by increased amortization of product-related intangibles primarily acquired in

connection with the acquisitions of LGP Allgon and REMEC Wireless.
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Operating Expenses

The following table presents a breakdown of our operating expenses by functional category and as a
percentage of net sales:

Fiscal Years Ended
(in thousands)

M January 1, 2006 Jamuary 2, 2005
Salesand marketing . ........... ... .. L. $ 39,199 5.0% § 28,070 6.3%
Research and development ........................... 60,571 7.9% 47,1882 10.5%
General and administrative .. ......... ... . ... e 40,598 52% 23,521 52%
Intangible asset amortization .. .............. ... ... ... 8,368 1.1% 7,355 1.6%
In-process research and development ................... 350 — % 23450 5.3%
Restructuring and impairment charges ............... ... 1,331 0.2% 2,103 05%
Total operating expenses . .............c.c.euvuenen.. $150,417  192% $131,687 29.4%

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $11.1 million, or 39.6%, during fiscal 2005 as compared to
fiscal 2004. The increase resulted from our acquisitions of LGP Allgon and REMEC Wireless, as well as
increased revenues and the associated increase in commission payments and accruals for incentive payments
earned under cur incentive bonus programs that are payable as a result of our improved profitability. These were
slightly offset by consolidation and cost reduction activities associated with our acquisitions.

Research and development expenses increased by $13.4 million, or 28.4%, during fiscal 2005 as compared
to fiscal 2004. This increase is due to our acquisitions of LGP Allgon and REMEC Wireless, which significantly
increased the number of people working in our research and development area as well as increased the number of
product areas within which such work is undertaken in, as well as accruals for incentive payments earned under
our incentive bonus programs that are payable as a result of our improved profitability. This increase was
partially offset by savings realized as part of our integration activities from personnel reductions and facility
consolidations.

General and administrative expenses increased $17.1 million, or 72.6%, during fiscal 2005 as compared to
fiscal 2004. This increase was due to our acquisitions of LGP Allgon and REMEC Wireless, which added
multiple operating locations. We incurred $2.5 million of costs associated with documentation and testing of our
internal controls over financial reporting as part of our Sarbanes-Oxley compliance efforts. In addition, fiscal
2005 included accruals for incentive payments earned under our incentive bonus programs that are payable as a
result of our improved profitability.

Amortization of customer-related intangibles, primarily from the LGP Allgon and REMEC Wireless
acquisitions, amounted to $8.4 million for fiscal 2005, compared to $7.4 million for fiscal 2004. There were no
in-process research and development expenses associated with the REMEC Wireless Acquisition. We recorded a
one-time charge of $0.4 million in fiscal 2005 for purchased in-process research and development that was
expensed upon completion of the Kaval acquisition, compared to $23.5 million in fiscal 2004 that was expensed
upon completion of the LGP Allgon acquisition. These charges related to certain product development activities
that had not reached technological feasibility such that successful development was uncertain and no future
alternative uses existed.
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Other Income, net
The following table presents a breakdown of other income, net:

Fiscal Years Ended -
(in thoasands)

January 1, 2006 January 2, 2005

Interest inCOMe . .. ... .. it $ 7,609 1.0% $ 2,906 0.6%
Interest EXPENSe .. ...oovvii i (7,718) (1.0%% (3.801) (0.8)%
Foreign currency gain,net ....................... 1,361 0.2% (182) — %
Other inCoOme . ..ot i i eee s 1,049 _9;1% 647 ﬂ %

Total other iINCOME . .. .ottt i ia i $ 2,301 03% $ (4300 (0.1)%

Interest income increased by $4.7 million during fiscal 2005 primarily due to increased cash balances
following the issuance of our 1.875% subordinated convertible notes in November 2004 and increased short-term
interest rates as compared to 2004. This was offset by $3.9 million of additional interest expense during fiscal
2005 primarily due to the interest expense associated with such subordinated convertible notes. While our foreign
currency gains were flat year to year, we cannot predict future foreign exchange gains or losses. Since a majority
of our revenues are earned outside the United States, we are subject to significant foreign currency impacts and
our results can be significantly impacted by such changes.

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate differs from the U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 35% primarily due to the utilization
of domestic net operating loss carryforwards that were fully reserved in the fourth quarter of 2004 and the
geographic distribution of our income, which is taxed at various rates depending upon the country where such
earnings are reported, as well as the impact of state taxes on U.S. domestic operations. We recorded a tax
provision inclusive of both continuing and discontinued operations of $3.2 million during fiscal 2005 as
compared to a $44.3 million tax provision for fiscal 2004. The fiscal 2004 provision was due primarily from the
establishment of a full valuation allowance against our net U.S. deferred tax assets. Given the global scope of our
operations and the difficulty in predicting our earnings in each tax jurisdiction, we expect that our effective tax
rate will continue to fluctuate in the future.

Net Income (Loss)
The following table presents a reconciliation of operating income (loss) from continued operations to net
income (loss):

Fiscal Years Ended
(in thousands)

January 1, January 2,
2006 2005
Operating income (0SS} . ......oiiveni i, $54,236 $(27,304)
Other income (eXpense), et . . ... ...ttt iinaiinnns 2,301 (430)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes ... 56,537 (27,734)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes .................... 3,977 45,054
Income (loss) from continuing operations ................ 52,560 (72,788)
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes:
Income (loss) from discontinuing operations .............. (1,914 666
Lossonsaleof subsidiary . . .......... ... ... ... ... — —
Total discontinued operations, netoftax ..................... (1,914) 666
Nettncome (108S) ... ...ttt i iaa s $50,646 $(72,122)




The net income from continuing operations for the year ended January 1, 2006 was $52.6 million compared
to net loss from continued operations of $72.8 million for the year ended January 2, 2005. The increase in net
income for fiscal 2005 as compared to fiscal 2004 was primarily due to our larger revenues and manufacturing
cost savings which generated larger gross profits which resulted in significant operating income, and thereby net
income. Fiscal 2004 was negatively impacted by our recording of a non-cash charge of $45.0 million to establish
a full valuation allowance against our net U.S. deferred tax assets as well as the in-process research and
development charge and increased amortization of purchased intangibles resulting from the LGP Allgon
acquisition in fiscal 2004. In addition, the results for fiscal 2004 included $25.5 million of in-process research
and development and restructuring and impairment charges.

Discontinued Operations

During the third quarter of fiscal 2006, we received an offer for the purchase of Arkivator Falkdping AB, a
wholly-owned subsidiary. Arkivator consisted of our entire contract manufacturing segment. Our Board of
Directors accepted the offer during the third quarter of 2006 with the sale being completed on September 29,
2006. The sales price was approximately $27.1 million, which includes the repayment of certain indebtedness,
The sales price was received in cash at closing with the exception of $1.5 million due and payable in three equal
installments of $500,000 on September 30, 2007, 2008 and 2009. The sale resulted in a loss of $23.5 million. In
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006, we recorded an adjustment related to certain tax liabilities of Arkivator which
reduced the loss on the sale of subsidiary by approximately $1.8 million, There is no tax benefit associated with
this capital loss under Swedish tax law. Consequently, our contract manufacturing segment is classified as a
discontinued operation and its results are removed from our continuing operations for all reporting periods
presented. The cash flow activities of the contract manufacturing segment remain in the statements of cash flows
for all periods presented.

For fiscal 2006, we classified the contract manufacturing segment as a discontinued operation as a result of
the sale of the business. For operating segment reporting, the contract manufacturing business was previously
reported as a separate operating segment,

Summarized financial information for discontinued operations is set forth below:

Fiscal Years Ended
{(in thousands)

December 31, Januaryl, January2,
006 2006 2005

Net Sales . o $ 35,736 $40.748  $25,046

Income (loss) from discontinued operations (net of tax of $888, $744 and
$259 for the years ended December 31, 2006, January 1, 2006 and

January 2, 2005 respectively) ... $ 2,107 $(1914) § o666
Loss onsale of subsidiary .. ...... ... ...t (23,464) — —
Totat discontinued operations, netof tax ............... ... ......... $(21,357) $(1914) % 666

Restructuring and Impairment Charges
2006 Plan for Consolidation of Operations

In the fourth quarter of 2006, and in connection with the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition, we formulated and
began to implement a plan to restructure our global manufacturing operations with an initial primary focus on our
operations in China. As part of this plan to reduce our costs, we are consolidating our manufacturing facilities in
Wuxi and Shanghai, China, into the manufacturing facility located in Suzhou, China, acquired in the Filtronic
Wireless Acquisition. The plan is expected to be completed by the end of the second quarter of 2007 and includes
reduction of workforce, impairment and disposal of inventory and equipment utilized in discontinued product
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lines, and facility closure costs. Management made a decision to cease production of certain product lines
manufactured in the two plants that are closing in China, as well as products manufactured in Costa Rica and
produced at a contract manufacturer in China due to efforts to reduce costs and to eliminate duplicative product
lines. The Costa Rica manufacturing facility was closed in December 2006. The Company recorded a charge of
approximately $21.0 million for the impairment of the related inventory value that wiil be disposed and not
generate future revenue. In addition, we recorded impairment of $0.7 million related to manufacturing equipment
located in our plants to be closed in both China and Costa Rica.

The inventory and manufacturing equipment impairment charges were recorded in restructuring and
impairment of cost of sales in the consolidated statements of operations. Also related to the discontinued product
lines, we recorded a charge of approximately $5.6 million for the impairment of the related developed technology
intangible assets valued as part of the purchase accounting for the REMEC Wireless Acquisition. The charge is
included in the intangible asset amortization line of cost of sales in the consolidated statements of operations.
There will be no future cash flows to sustain the value of these intangible assets subsequent to December 31,
2006. In addition, we recorded approximately $3.8 million of inventory provision related to the Filtronic
Wireless Acquisition to conform to Powerwave’s accounting policies.

During fiscal 2006, Powerwave listed for sale three facilities located in Sweden and entered into sale
agreements for two of the three facilities. The prices negotiated resulted in a net loss of approximately $3.5
million. The total amount of these impairments was recognized in operating expenses for fiscal 2006. In the third
quarter of 2006, we recognized impairment in the value of our remaining facility in Sweden of approximately
$18.3 million. We are currently preparing to sell the facility and expect the facility to be sold by the end of the
second quarter of 2007. '

In December 2006, we completed the closure of our manufacturing facility in Barreal de Heredia, Costa
Rica and offered the building for sale. We recorded an impairment charge of $0.2 related to the building in the
fourth quarter of 2006 and we expect that the sale of the building will be completed in 2007 (see Note 19 “Asset
Held For Sale” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Part [1, Item 8, “Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data™). The impairment charges are reflected within operating expenses and the restructuring
and impairment charges line in the consolidated statement of operations.

Lastly, in conjunction with the consolidation of operations described above, we recorded severance expense
of approximately $5.3 miilion in 2006, of which $3.1 million and $2.2 million is reflected in both restructuring
and impairment of cost of sales and operating expenses, respectively, in the consolidated statements of
operations. We paid $0.3 million in 2006 and, as a result, the accrued severance is $5.0 million at December 31,
2006,

As part of the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition, we are continuing to evaluate our initial restructuring and
consolidation plans for the Filtronic Wireless operations and we expect to finalize these plans in the first half of
fiscal 2007.

The costs associated with these exit activities were recorded in 2006 or will be recorded in the first half of
2007 in accordance with the accounting guidance in SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit
or Disposal Activities, (“FAS 146”). Our restructuring and integration plan is subject to continued future
refinement as additional information becomes available. Restructuring activities are currently expected to
continue through the second quarter of fiscal 2007,

Integration of REMEC's Wireless Systems Business

We recognized $10.4 million as liabilities in connection with the acquisition for estimated restructuring and
integration costs related to the consolidation of REMEC’s Wireless operations, including severance and future
lease obligations on excess facilities. These estimated costs were included in the allocation of the purchase
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consideration and resulted in additional goodwill pursuant to Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 95-3,
Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a Purchase Business Combination (or *95-37). The implementation
of the restructuring and integration plan is substantially complete.

Integration with LGP Allgon

We recognized $26.6 million as liabilities in connection with the acquisition for estimated restructuring and
integration costs related to the consolidation of the LGP Allgon operations. These estimated costs were included
in the allocation of the purchase consideration and resulted in additional goodwill pursuant to ETIF 95-3. The
implementation of the restructuring and integration plan is substantially complete.

We expect that the workforce reduction amounts will be paid out over the next 18 months and the facility
closure amounts will be paid out over the remaining lease terms which approximaie two years.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically financed our operations through a combination of cash on hand, cash provided from
operations, private debt placements, bank credit facilities and both private and public equity offerings. Our
principal sources of liquidity consist of existing cash balances, funds expected to be generated from future
operations and bank credit facilities. As of December 31, 2006, we had working capital of $249.5 million,
including $41.5 million in unrestricted cash and cash equivalents as compared to working capital of $384.7
million at January 1, 2006, which included $232.5 million in unrestricted cash and cash equivalents. We
currently invest our excess cash in short-term, invesiment-grade, money-market instruments with maturities of
three months or less. We typically hold such investments until maturity and then reinvest the proceeds in similar
money market instruments. We believe that all of our cash investments would be readily available to us should
the need arise.

On October 15, 2006 we completed the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition. As part of the purchase price, we
paid to Filtronic plc $185 million in cash and 17.7 million of newly issued shares of our common stock valued at
$163.1 million.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes Powerwave's cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
January 1, 2006:

Fiscal Years Ended
(in thousands)

December 31, January 1,
2006 006

Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities ... ... ..ot i $ (54,243)  $12,057
Investing activities, including acquisitions ...................... {152,036) 64,8006
Financing activities .. ....... .ot iiiiiinr i 9,127 9,158
Effect of foreign currency translation .................... .. .... 6,177 (953)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .......... $(190,975)  $85,068

Net cash used in operations during fiscal 2006 was $54.2 million as compared to $12.1 million of net cash
provided by operations during fiscal 2005. The increase in cash used in operations during fiscal 2006 is primarily
due to the net operating loss for the petiod coupled with higher inventory offset by a decrease in accounts
receivable.
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Net cash used in investing activitics during fiscal 2006 was $152.0 million as compared to net cash provided
by investing activities of $64.8 million during fiscal 2005. The larger amount in fiscal 2005 primarily reflects
maturities of short-term investments of $135.2 million related to our decision to cease investments in short-term
auction rate securities, In addition, during fiscal 2006, we generated $19.1 million from the disposition of our
Philippines operations and $24.7 million from the sale of Arkivator and spent $191.6 million for two
acquisitions. Total capital expenditures during fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 were approximately $11.9 million and
$29.6 million, respectively. The majority of the capital spending during such periods related to computer
software and hardware and test equipment utilized in our manufacturing and research and development areas.

The $9.1 million in net cash provided by financing activities during fiscal 2006 and $9.2 million during
fiscal 2003 resulted from the issuance of our Common Stock under our employee stock option programs and our
Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

We currently believe that our existing cash balances and funds expected to be generated from operations
will provide us with sufficient funds to finance our current operaticns for at least the next tweive months. Our
principal source of liquidity consists of our existing cash balances, funds expected to be generated from
operations and our revolving credit facility initially established October 13, 2006. We regularly review our cash
funding requirements and attempt to meet those requirements through a combination of cash on hand and cash
provided by operations. Our ability to increase revenues and generite profits is subject to numerous risks and
uncertainties, and any significant decrease in our revenues or profitability would reduce our operating cash flows
and erode our existing cash balances, No assurances can be given that we will be able to generate positive
operating cash flows in the future or maintain and/or grow our existing cash balances.

We have $130 million aggregate principal amount of 1.25% convertible subordinated notes that are due in
July 2008. The notes are callable by us beginning July 22, 2007. Our current intentton is to repay these notes
from a combination of our existing cash balances and cash generated from operations. No assurance can be given
that we will be able to generate positive operating cash flows in the future or maintain andfor grow ovr existing
cash balances. If we do not generate sufficient cash from operations, we will be required to refinance the notes
and no assurance can be given that we will be able to refinance the notes on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we
continue to generate losses from operations, we will likely encounter a more difficult environment in terms of
raising additional financing.

Financing Activities

Effective November 10, 2004, we completed the private placement of $200.0 million aggregate principal
amount of convertible subordinated notes due November 2024 to Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc. and raised
approximately $154.2 million in net proceeds afier the deduction of debt issuance costs and the repurchase of
$40.0 miliion or 3,050,505 shares of our Common Stock. The notes are convertible into the Common Stock of
Powerwave at a conversion price of $11.09 per share and accrue interest at an annual rate of 1.875%. The notes
mature in 2024. Powerwave may redeem the notes beginning on November 21, 2009 until November 20, 2010
and on or after November 21, 2010 until November 20, 2011, if the closing price of Powerwave’s Common
Stock is more than $17.74 and $14.42, respectively, for at least 20 trading days within a 30 consecutive trading
day period. The notes may be redeemed by Powerwave at any time after November 21, 2011 without any
restriction related to the trading price of our Common Stock. Holders of the notes may require Powerwave to
repurchase all or a portion of their notes for cash on November 15, 2011, 2014 and 2019 at 100% of the principal
amount of the notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest up to but not including the date of such repurchase.

On October 13, 2006, we entered into a Credit Agreement by and among Powerwave, the Lenders party
thereto from time to time, Bank of America, N.A., as Documentation Agent, and Comerica Bank, as
Administrative Agent. In February 2007, the Credit Agreement was amended with an effective date of
December 31, 2006, to adjust certain covenants. Prior to the Amendment, the Company received waivers from
the lenders waiving certain covenants under the Credit Agreement, which required the maintenance of certain
financial measures. ‘
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The Amended Credit Agreement provides for up to a $75 million Revolving Credit Facility which includes
a $10 million sublimit for the issuance of standby letters of credit and a $20 million sublimit for multicurrency
borrowings in Euro, Sterling, Yen and Swedish Krona. The obligations under the Amended Credit Agreement are
guaranteed by Powerwave Wireless, Inc. and secured by substantially all present and future assets and properties
of Powerwave, its subsidiaries and Powerwave Wireless, In¢, The obligations under the Amended Credit
Agreement are also secured by a pledge of 65% of the capital stock of Powerwave Technologies Sweden AB.
The Amended Credit Agreement requires us to maintain certain financial covenants, including liquidity ratio,
minimum EBITDA and accounts receivable borrowing base. Based on the accounts receivable outstanding at
December 31, 2006, approximately $66 million was available to the Company. There were no borrowings
outstanding at December 31, 2006.

The Amended Credit Agreement will terminate and all amounts outstanding thereunder will be due and
payable in full on June 1, 2008, which maturity date may be extended from time to time by one year with the
consent of all of the Lenders, Under the terms of the Amended Credit Agreement, the principal amount
outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility will bear interest at a per annum rate equal to either (i) the
LIBOR rate plus an adjustable applicable margin of between 1.375% and 1.875% or (ii) Comerica Bank’s prime
rate plus 0.25%, at the election of Powerwave, subject to specified restrictions. The Revolving Credit Facility is
subject to payment of a facility fee of .25% per annum of the aggregate commitments under the Revolving
Credit Facility, regardless of usage, an adjustable letter of credit fee of between 1.375% and 1.875% per annum
with respect to outstanding standby letters of credit and certain fronting and other fees in connection with the
issuance and amendment of standby letters of credit.

We expect to have the proceeds of the Revolving Credit Facility available for working capital and for other
general corporate purposes.

We have a total of $330 million of convertible subordinated notes outstanding of which $130 million is due
in July 2008. We are required to either repay or convert these notes prior to the due date.

On occasion, we have previously utilized both operating and capital lease financing for certain equipment
purchases used in our manufacturing and research and development operations and may selectively continue to
do so in the future. We may require additional funds in the future to support our working capital requirements or
for other purposes such as acquisitions, and we may seek to raise such additional funds through the sale of public
or private equity and/or debt financings, as well as from other sources. Our ability to secure additional financing
or sources of funding is dependent upon our financial performance, credit rating and the market price for our
Common Stock, which are both directly impacted by our ability to grow revenues and generate profits. We can
make no guarantees that we will be able to obtain additional financing or secure new financing arrangements in
the future. If our operating performance was to deteriorate and our cash balances were to be significantly
reduced, we would likely encounter a more difficult environment in terms of raising additional funding to
support our business.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Our off-balance sheet arrangements consist primarily of conventional operating leases, purchase
commitments and other commitments arising in the normal course of business, as further discussed below under
“Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments.” As of December 31, 2006, we did not have any other
relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partners, such as entities often referred to as structured
finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance
sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

We incur various contractual obligations and commercial commitments in our normal course of business.
Such obligations and commitments consist primarily of the following:

Long-Term Debt

At December 31, 2006, we had $330.0 million of long-term debt, consisting of our outstanding $130.0
million 1.25% convertible subordinated notes due July 2008 and our $200.0 million 1.875% convertible
subordinated notes due November 2024. These notes are convertible into shares of our Common Stock at the
option of the holder. See “Note 10. Financing Arrangements and Long-Term Debt” in the “Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements” included under Part I, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

Capital Lease Obligations

Qur current outstanding capital lease obligations of $0.3 million relate primarily to manufacturing and test
equipment and are included as part of other current and non-current liabilities within our conselidated balance
sheet.

Operating Lease Obligations

We have various operating leases covering vehicles, equipment, facilities and sales offices located
throughout the world.

Purchase Commitments with Contract Manufacturers

We generally issue purchase orders to our contract manufacturers with delivery dates from four to six weeks
from the purchase order date. In addition, we regularly provide such contract manufacturers with rolling
six-month forecasts of material and finished goods requirements for planning and long-lead time parts
procurement purposes onty. We are committed to accept delivery of materials pursuant to our purchase orders
subject to various contract provisions which allow us to delay receipt of such orders or cancel orders beyond
certain agreed lead times. Such cancellations may or may not result in cancellation costs payable by us. In the
past, we have been required to take delivery of materials from our suppliers that were in excess of our
requirements and we have previously recognized charges and expenses related to such excess material. If we are
unable to adequately manage our contract manufacturers and adjust such commitments for changes in demand,
we may incur additional inventory expenses related to excess and obsolete inventory. Such expenses could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Other Commitments

We also incur various purchase obligations with other vendors and suppliers for the purchase of inventory,
as well as other goods and services, in the normal course of business. These obligations are generally evidenced
by purchase orders with delivery dates from four to six weeks from the purchase order date, and in certain cases,
supply agreements that contain the terms and conditions associated with these purchase arrangements. We are
committed to accept delivery of such materials pursuant to such purchase orders subject to various contract
provisions which allow us to delay receipt of such orders or cancel orders beyond certain agreed lead times. Such
cancellations may or may not result in cancellation costs payable by us. In the past, we have been required to take
delivery of materials from our suppliers that were in excess of our requirements and we have previously
recognized charges and expenses related to such excess material, If we are not able to adequately manage our
supply chain and adjust such commitments for changes in demand, we may incur additional inventory expenses
related to excess and obsolete inventory. Such expenses could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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Guarantees Under Letters of Credit

We occasionally issue guarantees for certain contingent liabilities under various contractual arrangements,
including customer contracts, self-insured retentions under certain insurance policies, and governmental value-
added tax compliance programs. These guarantees normally take the form of standby letters of credit issued by
our bank that may be secured by cash deposits or pledges, or performance bonds issued by an insurance
company.

As of December 31, 2006, expected future cash payments related to contractual obligations and commercial
commitments were as follows:

Payments e by Period
(in thousands)

Less than 1
Year 1-3Years 3-S5 Years Thereafter Total
Short-term and long-term debt (including interest) .... $ 5,375 $139,125 $7.500 $248,750 $400,750
Capital lease obligations . ....................... 289 — — — 289
Operating lease obligations . ..................... 5,739 6,203 1,228 — 13,170
Purchase commitments with contract manufacturers .. 97318 — — — 97,318
Other purchase commitments ................. .., 12,849 — — — 12,849
Total contractual obligations and commercial
COMIMILMENTS .. o\ v it i ettt e, $121,570 $145328 $8,728  $248,750 $524,376

We believe that our existing cash balances and funds expected to be generated from future operations and
our available credit facilities will be sufficient to satisfy these contractual obligations and commercial
commitments and that the ultimate payments associated with these commitments will not have a material adverse
effect on our liquidity position.

Disclosure About Stock Option Plans

Qur stock option program is a broad-based, long-term retention program that is intended to attract and retain
talented employees and align stockholder and employee interests, The program consists of six separate plans: one
under which nen-employee directors may be granted options to purchase shares of stock and five broad-based
plans under which options may be granted to all employees, including officers. One plan provides for both option
grants and stock based awards including restricted stock awards. Options granted under these plans expire either
5 or 10 years from the grant date and generally vest over two to four years.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we granted options to purchase a total of 2,071,500 shares of
Common Stock to employees. After deducting 1,070,648 shares for options forfeited, the result was net options
granted of 1,000,852. Net options granted during the year represented 0.8% of our total outstanding common
shares of 130,080,730 as of December 31, 2006.

The following table summarizes the net stock option grants to our employees, directors and executive
officers during the three most recent fiscal periods:

Fiscal Years Ended
December 31, January 1, January2,
2006 2006 2005

Net grants (forfeitures) during the period as a % of total outstanding

commonshares ........ ... .. 0.8% 0.2% 0.2%
Grants to executive officers during the period as a % of total options

granted during the period . ... .. .. e, 27.0% — % 46.8%
Grants to executive officers during the period as a % of total outstanding

commonshares ... ... .. . ... . . 0.4% — % 0.8%
Cumulative options held by executive officers as a % of total options

outstanding ... 34.8% 30.5% 26.7%




At December 31, 2006, a total of 8,379,259 options were available for grant under ail of our option plans
and a total of 52,621 shares of Common Stock were held in escrow to cover all remaining exercises under the
1995 Stock Option Plan. See “Note 13. Stock Option Plans” in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements™
included under Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplemantary Data” included herein for additional
information regarding the 1995 Stock Option Plan.

The following table summarizes outstanding stock options that are “in-the-money™ and “out-of the-money™
as of December 31, 2006. For purposes of this table, in-the-money stock options are those options with an
exercise price less than $6.45 per share, the closing price of Powerwave Commen Stock on December 29, 2006,
the last trading day of the fiscal year, and out-of-the-money stock options are stock options with an exercise price
greater than or equal to the $6.45 per share closing price. In addition, at December 31, 2006, there were a total of
120,000 shares of restricted common stock awards outstanding.

Exercisable Unexercisable
Witd. Avg. Wid. Avg.
Exercise Exercise Total
Shares Price Shares Price Shares
In-the-Money . ... it i 1,858,559 § 4.87 311,597  $5.29 2,170,156
Qut-of-the-Money ................. ... ....... 2,277,770  $1598 2,608,316 $7.83 4,886,086
Total Options Qutstanding ................. 4,136,329 $1099 2919913 $7.56 7,056,242

ITEM 7A.QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, capital leases and long-term
debt. At December 31, 2006, the carrying values of our financial instruments approximated their fair values
based upon current market prices and rates.

We are exposed to a number of market risks in the ordinary course of business. These risks, which include
foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and'commodity price risk, arise in the normal course of business rather
than from trading. We have examined our exposures to these risks and have concluded that none of our exposures
in these areas are material to fair values, cash flows or earnings.

Foreign Currency Risk

Our international operations represent a substantial portion of our operating results and asset base. We
maintain various operattons in multiple foreign locations including Brazil, China, Estonia, Finland, France,
Hungary, India, Germany, Singapore, Sweden and the United Kingdom. These international operations generally
incur local operating costs and generate third party revenues in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Such foreign
currency revenues and expenses expose us to foreign currency risk and give rise to foreign exchange gains and
losses.

We regularly pursue new customers in various international locations where new deployments or upgrades
to existing wireless communication networks are planned. As a result, a significant portion of our revenues are
derived from international sources, with our international customers accounting for approximately 72% of our
net sales during fiscal 2006, 64% of our fiscal 2005 net sales, 719 of our fiscal 2004 net sales and 46% of our
fiscal 2003 net sales. Such international sources include Europe, Asia and South America, where there has been
historical volatility in several of the regions’ currencies. Changes in the value of the U.S. Dollar versus the local
currency in which our products are sold exposes us to foreign currency risk since the weakening of an
international customer’s local currency and banking market may nzgatively impact such customer’s ability to
meet their payment obligations to us. In addition, certain of our international customers require that we transact
business with them in their own local currency, regardless of the location of our operations, which also exposes
us to foreign currency risk. As we sell products or services in foreign currencies, we are regularly required to
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convert the payments received into U.S. Dollars or utilize such foreign currencies as payments for expenses of
our business, which gives rise to foreign exchange gains and losses. Given the uncertainty as to when and what
spectific foreign currencies we may be required or decide to accept as payment from our international customers,
we cannot predict the ultimate impact that such a decision would have on our business, gross margins and results
of operations.

While we monitor our foreign currency exposures, we do not currently maintain an active foreign currency
hedging program. We may decide in the future to implement an active hedging program utilizing derivative
instruments to assist in managing our foreign exchange rate risk. Based on our overall foreign exchange rate
gxposure at December 31, 2006, a 10% change in the Euro, the Pound Sterling or the Swedish Krona could have
a material effect on our consolidated results of operations or cash flows.

Interest Rate Risk

As of December 31, 2006, we had cash equivalents of approximately $47.9 million in both interest and
non-interest bearing accounts, including restricted cash. We also had $130.0 million of convertible subordinated
notes due July 2008 at a fixed annual interest rate of 1.25%, $200.0 mitlion of convertible subordinated notes due
November 2024 at a fixed annual interest rate of 1.875%, and $0.3 million capital lease obligations with various
maturities at fixed interest rates. We are exposed to interest rate risk primarily through our cash investment
portfolio. While short-term investment rates have increased significantly during the last year, we believe that we
are not subject to material fluctuations in principal given the short-term maturities and high-grade investment
quality of our investment portfolio, and the fact that the effective interest rate of our portfolic tracks closely to
various short-term money market interest rate benchmarks. Therefore, we currently do not use derivative
instruments to manage our interest rate risk. Based on our overall interest rate exposure at December 31, 2006,
we do not believe that a 100 basis point change in interest rates would have a material effect on our consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Commodity Price Risk

Our internal manufacturing operations and contract manufacturers require significant quantities of
transistors, semiconductors and various metals for use in the manufacture of our products. Therefore, we are
exposed Lo certain commodity price risk associated with variations in the market prices for these electronic
components as these prices directly impact the cost to manufacture products and the price we pay our contract
manufacturers to manufacture our products. We attempt to manage this risk by entering into supply agrecments
with our contract manufacturers and various suppliers of these components. These supply agreements are not
long-term supply agreements. If we or our contract manufacturers become subject to a significant increase in the
price of one of these components, we would likely be forced to pay such higher prices and we may be unable to
pass such costs onto our customers. In addition, certain transistors and semiconductors are regularly revised or
changed by their manufacturers, which may result in a requirement for us to redesign a product that utilizes such
components or cease to produce such products. In such events, our business, results of operations and financial
condition could be adversely affecied. Additionally, we require specialized electronic test equipment, which is
utilized in both the design and manufacture of our products. Such electronic test equipment is available from
limited sources and may not be available in the time periods required for us to meet our customers’ demand. If
required, we may be forced to pay higher prices for such equipment and/or we may not be able to obtain the
equipment in the time periods required, which would then delay our development or production of new products.
Such delays and any potential additional costs could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Powerwave Technologies, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Powerwave Technelogies, Inc. and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three
fiscal years in the period ended December 31, 2006. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule
listed in the Index at Itemn 15. These financial statements and the financial statement schedule are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
statements and the financtal statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Powerwave Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended December 31,
2006, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our
opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in notes 2 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of
accounting for stock-based compensation during the year ended December 31, 2006 as a result of adopting
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,”

As discussed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company sold its contract
manufacturing segment, The consolidated financial statements referred to above have been restated to report the
contract manufacturing segment as a discontinued operation for all periods presented.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2006, based on the criteria established in Juternal Control—integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 6, 2007 expressed an
unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internat control over
financial reporting.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Costa Mesa, California
March 6, 2007
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POWERWAVE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)

December 31,  January 1,

2006 2006
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cashand cash equivalents . ............. oo iiiii i, $ 41544 § 232477
Restricted Cash ... oot e e e 6,292 5,002
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for sales returns and doubtful accounts of
$9,074 and $8,558 at December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006,
reSPeCtiVelY L e 211,421 227,495
JEERTE= 1105 L= PR A 163,752 94,694
Prepaid expenses and other currentassets . ....... ... ... ... . e 58,915 23,166
Deferred 1aX ASSBES . o v vttt et e e e e 774 5,747
Assets of discontinued operations ............ .. ... . oo, — 11,311
Total CUIMTENT ASSELS . v v vt et et et ettt e e et e e e ettt 482,698 599,892
Property, plant and equipment, net ... .. ... .o 138,672 148,092
Intangible GSsels, MEL . . .. ...ttt i e 94,778 66,693
Asset held for sale . . . .t e 5,924 —
GoodwWill ..o e e e 485,475 261,956
Other NON-CUITENE ASSELS . 4 v v vt vt vttt e et e et e et e am e ee e e 8,185 8,222
Assets of discontinued Operations ... ....... .. .. i i — 45,329
TOT AL ASSE TS L e e e e e e $1,215,732  $1,130,184
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable .. ... ... $ 115966 § 102,253
Accrued payroll and employee benefits ........... ... o oo 18,338 18,332
ACCTUCH IMCOIMIE LAXES .+« v v vt ettt v e et e e e et e sttt 19,627 14,952
Accrued restructuring . ... . ..ottt e 11,131 16,389
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities . ............ ... .00 00 68,172 50,324
Liabilities of discontinued operations . ............. .. . iiiiiiiaiiin., — 12,965
Total current liabilitles . .. ... ... .. .. e 233234 215,215
Long-term debl . .. ... .o i i 330,000 330,000
Deferred tax Habilitles . ..ottt it e e e e e e e — 1,801
Other non-current Habilities ... ...t i e 900 525
Liabilities of discontinued Operations ................ ... iiiiiiiiaanaana — 1,382
Total liabilities . . .. .. ot e e 564,134 548,923
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 14and 15) ............ ... ... ..., — —
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 5,000 shares authorized and no shares issued
Or OUtSLAnding . . ... e — —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 250,000 shares authorized, 130,081 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2006; and 111,138 shares issued and
outstanding at January 1,2006 ....... ... ... oo 751,380 577,538
Deferred stock-based compensation .. ......... ... . oo o — (2,500)
Accumulated other comprehensive tncome (loss) . ............. ... .. ... 35,210 (17,688)
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) ... ... ... ... ... ..o e (134,992) 23,911
Total shareholders’ equity . ......... ..o i 651,598 581,261
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY . ......... ... ....... $1.215.732  $1,130.184

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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POWERWAVE TECHNOLOGIES, INC,

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

December 31, January 1, Janvary 2,

2006 2006 2005
Net SalES L, L. et e $ 716,886 $784,330 $448,868
Cost of sales:
Costof goods .. ... ... e 573975 570,034 338,826
} Intangible asset amortization ... ....... ... ... ... ... .. 20,603 8,238 4276
: Restructuring and impairment charges ... ........... ... ... ... 29,003 — 06
Acquired inventory incremental COStS ... . ... il 2414 1,405 877
Total costof SAlES . . . .. 625,995 579,677 344,485
Gross Profit . . ... e e 90,891 204,653 104,383
Operating expenses:
Salesand marketing . ... ... . i 38,836 39,199 28,070
Researchand development .. .. ... ...... ... ... ... ... .. .. ... 71,193 60,571 47,188
General and administrative . ... . ... i inr i 58,016 40,598 23,521
Intangible asset amortization . ........ ..ol 9,592 8,368 7,355
In-process research and development . ... ... ... ... . . oL 25,100 350 23,450
Restructuring and impairment charges ......... ... .. ... .. ... ... 23,993 1,331 2,103
Total Operating eXpenses ... .....ovuirrrnv i rrinernnnn. 226,730 150,417 131,687
Operating income {I0S8) ... ... .. . it e (135,839 54,236  (27,304)
Other inCome (EXPENSE), MEL . . . . ... it e i et e 2,908 2,301 (430)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes . ......... (132,931) 56,537 (27,734)
Provision for InCOME taxes . . .. ..ot e e 4,615 3,977 45,054
Income (loss) from continuing operations . ....... ... ... ... ... ... ... (137,546) 52,560  (72,788)
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes:
Income (loss) from discontinued operations ........... .. ... ... 2,107 {1914y 666
Lossonsaleof subsidiary .. ....... ... ... ... i (23,464) — —
Total discontinued operations, netoftax ............................ (21,357) (1,914) 666
Netincome (0S8} .. ..ottt e e e e $(158,903) $ 50,646 $(72,122)
Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations:
Basic ... e $ (L19) $ 051 % (081
Diluted ... e e $ (19 § 044 § (08D
Earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations
Basic ... $ (@18 § (©02) § 001
Diluted ... e e $ @18 § ©02 % 00
Net earnings (loss) per share:
BasiC ... e e e $§ (371 $ 049 $ (0.80)
Diluted .. .. e $ (137 § 042 3 (0.80)
Basic weighted average commonshares ......... ... ... ... .. ........ 115918 103,396 90,212
Diluted weighted average common shares .. ....... ... ... ., ... ....... 115,918 135,906 00,212

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consohdated financial statements.
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POWERWAVE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE OPERATIONS
(in thousands)

Fiscal Years Ended
December 31, January l, January 2,

2006 2006 2005
Net income (JOS5) . . oottt e e et ettt aa e $(158,903) $ 50646 §(72,122)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments . ....................... 52,898 74,717y 57,030
Comprehensive loSS . . ... ...t e e $(106,005) $(24,071) $(15,092)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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POWERWAVE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands)

Common Stock

Accumuiated Retained .
Deferred Other Earnings Total
Stock-Based  Comprehensive  (Accumulated  Shareholders’
Shares Amount  Compensation  Income (Loss) Deficit) Equity
Balance at December 28, 2003 . .. .. 63,257 $225,651 $ — $ (1 $ 457387 $ 271,037

Issuance of Common Stock for

acquisition, net of issuance

costsof 3255 ........ .. .. 40,686 296,748 — — — 296,748
Issuance of Common Stock

related to employee stock-

based compensation plans . . . 519 2,636 — — — 2,636
Tax benefit related to employee

stack-based compensation

plans ........ ... ...l — 283 — — — 283
Repurchases of Common

Stock ...l 5,051y  (40,000) — — — (40,000)
Foreign currency translation

adjustments .............. — — — 51,030 — 57,030
Netloss ............c..o.u. — — — — (72,122) (72,122)

Balance at January 2,2005 ........ 99411 485318 — 57,029 {26,735) 515.612

Issuance of Common Stock for

acquisition . .............. 10,000 79,500 — — — 79,500

Issuance of Common Stock
related to employee stock-

based compensation plans . . . 1,527 10,184 — — — 10,184
Deferred stock-based

COmpensation ............ 200 2,536 {2,536} — — —
Amortization of deferred stock-

based compensation ......, — — 36 — — 36
Foreign currency translation

adjustments .............. — — — (74,717) — (74,711
Netincome ................ — — — — 50,646 50,646

Balance at January 1,2006 ........ 111,138 577,538 (2,500) (17,688) 23,911 581,261

Reclassification of deferred

stock-based compensation . . — {2,500) 2,500 — — —
[ssuance of Common Stack for

acquisition . .............. 17,700 163,118 — — — 163,118

Issuance of Common Stock
related to employee stock-

based compensation plans . . . 1,243 12,210 — — — 12,210
Amontization of deferred stock-
based compensation ....... — 1,014 — — — 1,014
Foreign currency translation
adjustments .............. — — — 52,898 —_— 52,898
Netloss ............venn — — — — (158,903} (158,903)
Balance at December 31, 2006 .. . .. 130,081 $751,380 5 — $ 35,210 $(134,992) $ 651,598

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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POWERWAVE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Fiscal Years Ended
December 31, January 1, January 2,
2006 2006 2005
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Netincome (J0SS) . ..ot ettt et e e $(158,903) § 50646 % (72,122)
Adjustments to reconcile net income {loss) to nei cash provided by (used in}
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization ............. . i 56,511 47,565 37,555
Loss on disposal of Arkivator ........ ... . ..ol 23,464 — —
In-process research and developmentcharge . ....................... 25,100 350 23,450
Non-cash restructuring and impairment charges ..................... 52,996 1,331 458
Provision for sales returns and doubtful accounts .................... 217 4,554 822
Provision for excess and obsolete inventories ......... ... ... ... ... 15,799 14,559 2,249
Deferred INCOME TAXES . ..o o vttt i r v om e emer e et caaenras (10,394) (262) 45,748
Tax benefit from Stock ISSUANCES ... .. ovr vt it — — 283
Compensation costs related to stock-based awards ................... 4,143 36 —
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment .............. (1,374) 223 {624}
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
ACCOUNES TECRIVADIE . ... it i 97,747 (88.864) (129)
| §130 501 C0) 5 (=R AU (74.851) (19.388) (10,084)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ................o ol (28,993) 5,528 (7,986)
Accounts payable .. ... (33,739 19.418 (20,794)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities .................... ... (15,594) (30,777 (7,785
Other NON-CUITENT ASSELS . . v vt v v ee e ma e i s ar i s (8,234) 7,864 (4,681)
Other non-current liabilities ........ ... ... . i i 1,882 (756) (102)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ............... (54,243) 12,057 (13,742)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment .............. ...l {10,869} (29.581) (12,693)
Restricted CaSh ..ottt e et e e e e (730) 837 (25)
Short-term INVESIMELS .« o vt e et et et ettt e e — 135,200 (55,125)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment . .................. 21,789 1,281 1,384
Proceeds from sale of assets held forsale . ........ ... ... ... ... ... ... 4,644 4,480 6,382
Proceeds from sale of busingss . ... .. ... .. i e 24,723 1,062 —
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired . ... ... ..ol (191,593) (48,473} (88,537
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ............... (152,036) 64,806 (148,614)
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from long-term debt, net of issuance costs ... ool —— — 197,956
Principal payments on fong-termdebt ........ ... .ol — (1,027 (33,124)
Common Stock repurchases .. ... .vuui it ce et — — (40,000)
Proceeds from stock-based compensation arrangements . .................. 9,127 10,185 2,636
Net cash provided by financing activities ................... ..., 9,127 9,158 127,468
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ... .. 6,177 (953) 2,486
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ........ {190,975) 85,068 (32,402)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of period .. .................. 232,519 147,451 179,853
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of period ......... ... ... ... ..., $ 41,544 $232,519 § 147,451
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid for:
TMIETESt EXPEISE . . . o et e v v et e e e et $ 5375 % 619 3 2,149
INCOMIE LAKES .« . o\ttt et ie s s e e e e e e e e ey $ 1406 $ 3795 $ 2666
SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING
ACTIVITIES:
Unpaid purchases of property and equipment .......... ...t $ 1034 § — % —_—

For supplemental cash flow information related to the Company’s acquisitions, see “Note 17. Acquisitions.”

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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POWERWAVE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(tabular amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Note 1. Nature of Operations

Powerwave is a global supplier of end-to-end wireless solutions for wireless communications networks.
Powerwave designs, manufactures and markets antennas, boosters, combiners, filters, radio frequency power
amplifiers, repeaters, tower-mounted amplifiers and advanced coverage solutions for use in cellular, PCS and 3G
networks throughout the world.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America and include the accounts of Powerwave Technologies, Inc.
and its subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

On September 2, 2005, Powerwave completed the acquisition of selected assets and liabilities of
REMEC, Inc.’s Wireless Systems Business (the “REMEC Wireless Acquisition.”) Therefore, these consolidated
financial statements include the operations of the REMEC Wireless Acquisition for the year ended December 31,
2006, but only results for the months of September 2005 to December 2005 are included for the year ended
January 1, 2006,

On September 29, 2006, Powerwave completed the sale of Arkivator Falktping AB (“Arkivator™), a wholly-
owned subsidiary. Arkivator consisted of all of the Company’s contract manufacturing segment. Therefore, with
its sale, the contract manufacturing segment of the Company is classified as discontinued operations and its
results of operations are removed from continuing operations for all periods presented (see Note 18).

On October 15, 2006, Powerwave completed the acquisition of the Wireless Infrastructure Division business
of Filtronic plc (the “Filtronic Wireless Acquisition™). Therefore, these consolidated financial statements include
the operations of the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition only from October 15, 2006 to December 31, 2006 for the
year ended December 31, 2006.

Fiscal Year

The Company operates on a 52 week fiscal year of 13 week fiscal quarters that ends on the Sunday closest
to December 31. There is an exception of a 53-week fiscal year, that occurs approximately once every five years
when an additional week is added during the first quarter to adjust the year to the Sunday closest to December 31.
Fiscal year 2004, a 53-week fiscal year, ended on January 2, 2005. Fiscal year 2005 ended on January 1, 2006,
Fiscal year 2006 ended on December 31, 2006. Fiscal years 2005 and 2006 each consisted of 52 weeks. Fiscal
year 2007 ends on December 30, 2007.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) issued Interpretation No. 48,
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48”). FIN
48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement process for recording in the financial statements uncertain
tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109™). Tax positions must meet a more-likely-
than-not recognition threshold at the effective date to be recognized upon the adoption of FIN 48 and in
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POWERWAVE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
(tabular amounts in thousands, except per share data)

subsequent periods. The accounting provision of FIN 48 is effective for the Company beginning January 1,
2007. The cumulative effect of adopting FIN 48 will be recorded in retained earnings and other accounts, as
applicable. The Company is currently evaluating the provisions of FIN 48 and has not yet completed its
determination of the impact of adoption on the Company's financial position or results of operations.

Tn September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurement” (“SFAS 1577). SFAS 157
establishes a single authoritative definition of fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value, and
required additional disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 applies only to fair value
measurements that are already required or permitted by other accounting standards. SFAS 157 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, The Company is currently evaluating the impact that adopting
SFAS 157 will have on its results of operations and financial condition.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108,
“Considering the Effects Prior Period Year Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year
Financial Statements,” (“SAB 108™). SAB 108 provides interpretative guidance on how the effects of the
carryover or reversal of prior year misstatements should be considered in quantifying a current year
misstatement. SAB 108 was effective for the Company in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006. The adoption
of SAB 108 did not impact the Company’s results of operations or financial condition.

In November 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FAS123R-3, “Transition Election to Accounting
for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards.” The Company has elected to follow the alternative
transition method for computing its additional paid-in capital pool. In addition, the Company treats the
tax deductions from stock options as being realized when they reduce taxes payable in accordance with the
principles and timing under the relevant tax law. Under this transition method, compensation cost is recognized
on or after the required effective date for the portion of outstanding awards for which the requisite service has not
yet been rendered, based on the grant-date fair value of those awards previously calculated under SFAS No. 123
for pro forma disclosure purposes. The financial statements for periods prior to the date of adoption have not
been restated in accordance with the modified prospective application.

In May 2005 the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 154, “Accounting Changes
and Error Corrections” (“SFAS 154”). SFAS 154 replaces APB Opinion No. 20 and SFAS No. 3. SFAS 154
provides guidance on the accounting for and reporting of accounting changes and error corrections. SFAS
No. 154 is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2005. The Company adopted this Statement beginning January 1, 2006 and it had no impact on its
results of operations or financial condition.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during reporting years. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents generally consist of cash, time deposits, commercial paper, money market funds
and other money market instruments with original maturity dates of three months or less. The Company invests
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
(tabular amounts in thousands, except per share data)

its excess cash in only investment grade money market instruments from companies in a variety of industries
and, therefore, believes that it bears minimal principal risk. Such investments are stated at cost, which
approximates fair value.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists of cash and cash equivalents which the Company has pledged to fulfill certain
obligations and is not available for general corporate purposes.

Accounts Receivable

We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and adjust credit limits based upon payment
histery, the customer’s credit worthiness and various other factors, as determined by our review of their credit
information, We monitor collections and payments from our customers and maintain an allowance for estimated
credit losses based upon our historical experience and any specific customer collection issues that we have
identified. While such credit losses have historically been within our expectations and the provisions established,
we cannot guarantee that we will continue to experience the same credit loss rates that we have in the past. Since
our accounts receivable are highly concentrated in a small number of customers, a significant change in the
liquidity or financial position of any one of these customers could have a material adverse effect on the
collectibility of our accounts receivable, our liquidity and our future operating results.

Inventories

We value our inventory at the lower of the actual cost to purchase and/or manufacture the inveatory or the
current estimated market value of the inventory. We regularly review inventory quantities on hand and on order
and record a provision for excess and obsolete inventory and/or vendor cancellation charges related to purchase
commitments. Depending on the product line, such provisions are established based on historical usage for the
preceding twelve months, adjusted for known changes in demands for such products, or the estimated forecast of
product demand and production requirements for the next twelve months. These provisions reduce the cost basis
of the respective inventory. Our industry is characterized by rapid technological change, frequent new product
development, and rapid product obsolescence that could result in an increase in the amount of obsolete inventory
quantities on hand. As demonstrated during the past three fiscal years, demand for our products can fluctuate
significantly, A significant increase in the demand for our products could result in a short-term increase in the
cost of inventory purchases while a significant decrease in demand could result in an increase in the amount of
excess inventory quantities on hand. In addition, our estimates of future product demand may prove to be
inaccurate, in which case we may have understated or overstated the provision required for excess and obsolete
inventory. In the future, if our inventory is determined to be overvalued, we would be required to recognize
additional expense in our cost of goods sold at the time of such determination. Likewise, if our inventory is
determined to be undervalued, we may have over-reported our costs of goods sold in previous periods and would
be required to recognize additional gross profit at the time such inventory is sold. Although we make reasonable
efforts to ensure the accuracy of our forecasts of future product demand, any significant unanticipaied changes in
demand or technological developments could have a material effect on the value of our inventory and our
reported operating results,
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Properry, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. The Company depreciates or amortizes these assets using
the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the various classes of assets, as follows:

Machinery and equipment ........... ... ... 0 2 1o 10 years
Office furniture and equipment ....................... 3 to 10 years
Leasehold improvements . .......... ... i Remaining life of lease
Property under capital leases . .......... ... ... ... 310 5 years
Bulldings ...oorriiii e 30 years
Building improvements .......... . . oo, Remaining life of
building

The Company periodically reviews the recoverability of its long-lived assets using the methodology
prescribed in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets. We also review these assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is determined
by comparing the forecasted undiscounted future net cash flows from the operations to which the assets relate,
based on management’s best estimates using appropriate assumptions and projections at the time, to the carrying
amount of the assets. If the carrying value is determined not to be recoverable from future operating cash flows,
the asset is deemed impaired and an impairment loss is recognized equal to the amount by which the carrying
amount exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset.

Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Other Long-Lived Assets Management

We record the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations at their respective fair values
at the date of acquisition, with any excess purchase price recorded as goodwill. Because of the expertise required
to value intangible assets and in-process research and development, we typically engage independent valuation
specialists to assist us in determining those values. Valuation of intangible assets and in-process research and
development entails significant estimates and assumptions including, but not limited to, determining the timing
and expected costs to complete development projects, estimating future cash flows from product sales,
developing appropriate discount rates, estimating probability rates for the successful completion of development
projects, continuation of customer relationships and renewal of customer contracts, and approximating the useful
lives of the intangible assets acquired. To the extent actual results differ from these estimates, our future results
of operations may be affected.

We review the recoverability of the carrying value of goodwill on an annual basis or more frequently when an
event occurs or circumstances change to indicate that an impairment of goodwill has possibly occurred. The
determination of whether any potential impairment of goodwill exists is based upon a comparison of the fair value
of the reporting unit to the accounting value of the underlying net assets of such reporting unit. To determine the fair
value of the reporting unit, we utilize subjective valuations for the reporting unit based upon a discounted cash flow
analysis. The discounted cash flow analysis is dependent upon a number of various factors including estimates of
forecasted revenues and costs, appropriate discount rates and other variables. If the fair value of the reporting unit is
less than the carrying value of the underlying net assets, goodwill is deemed impaired and an impairment loss is
recorded to the extent that the carrying value of goodwill is less than the difference between the fair value of the
reporting unit and the fair value of all its underlying identifiable assets and liabilities.

Purchased intangible assets with determinable useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortization,
and are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which generally range up to 6
years. We review the recoverability of the carrying value of identified intangibles and other long-lived assets,
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including fixed assets, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is determined based upon the forecasted undiscounted
future net cash flows expected to result from the use of such asset and its eventual disposition. Our estimate of
future cash flows is based upon, among other things, certain assumptions about expected future operating
performance, growth rates and other factors. The actual cash flows realized from these assets may vary
significantly from our estimates due to increased competition, changes in technology, fluctuations in demand,
consolidation of our customers and reductions in average selling prices. If the carrying value of an asset is
determined not to be recoverable from future operating cash flows, the asset is deemed impaired and an
impairment loss is recognized to the extent the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair market value of the
asset. While we do not believe that any of our intangible or other long-lived assets are currently impaired, any
future impairment of such assets could have a material adverse affect on our financial position and results of
operations.

Warranties

We offer warranties of various lengths to our customers depending upon the specific product and terms of
the customer purchase agreement. Qur standard warranties require us to repair or replace defective product
returned to us during such warranty period at no cost to the custorner. We record an estimate for standard
warranty-related costs based on our actual historical return rates and repair costs at the time of the sale and
update such estimate throughout the warranty period. While our warranty costs have historically been within our
expectations and the provisions established, we cannot guarantee that we will continue to experience the same
warTanty return rates or repair costs that we have in the past. We also have contractual commitments to various
customers that require us to incur costs to repair an epidemic defect with respect to our products outside of our
standard warranty period if such defect were to occur. Any costs related to epidemic defects are generally
recorded at the time the epidemic defect becomes known 1o us and the costs of repair can be reasonably
estimated, While we have not historically experienced significant costs related to epidemic defects, we cannot
guarantee that we will not experience significant costs to repair epidemic defects in the future. A significant
increase in product return rates, a significant increase in the costs to repair our products, or an unexpected
epidemic defect in our products, could have a material adverse effect on cur operating results during the period in
which such returns or additional costs materialize.

Stock Based Compensation

On January 2, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised
2004), “Share-Based Payment” (or “SFAS 123R™), which supersedes our previous accounting under APB
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (or “APB 25”). SFAS 123R requires the
recognition of compensation expense, using a fair-value based method, for costs related to all share-based
payments including stock options and stock issued under our employee stock plans. SFAS [23R requires
companies to estimate the fair value of share-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing
model. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense on a
siraight-line basis over the requisite service periods in our consolidated statements of operations. We adopied
SFAS 123R using the modified prospective transition method, which requires that compensation expense be
recognized in the financial statements for all awards granted after the date of adoption as well as for existing
awards which have not vested as of the date of adoption. The modified prospective transition method does not
require restatement of prior periods to reflect the impact of SFAS 123R.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, we accounted for stock-based awards to employees and directors using
the intrinsic value method in accordance with APB 25 as allowed under Statement of Financial Accounting
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Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (or “SFAS 123”). Under the intrinsic value
method, employee stack-based compensation expense was not recognized in our consolidated statements of
operations for any period prior to our adoption of SFAS 123R on January 2, 2006, as long as the exercise price of
the stock options granted to employees and directors equaled the fair market value of the underlying stock at the
date of grant.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, we presented all tax benefits resulting from the exercise of stock
options as operating cash flows in our consolidated statements of cash flows. SFAS 123R requires that the
realized tax benefit related to the excess of the deductible amount over the compensation cost recognized (excess
tax benefits) be classified in the statement of cash flow as a cash inflow from financing activities and a cash
outflow from operating activities. At the end of 2004 we took a 100% valuation altowance against our U.S.
deferred tax assets. This valuation allowance is still in place. Accordingly we have booked no tax benefit related
to stock-based compensation as financing cash inflows and operating cash outflows on our accompanying
condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2006.

The Company has elected to follow the alternative transition method for computing its additional paid-in
capital pool. In addition, the Company treats the tax deductions from stock options as being realized when they
reduce taxes payable in accordance with the principles and timing under the relevant tax law. Under this
transition method, compensation cost is recognized on or after the required effective date for the portion of
outstanding awards for which the requisite service has not yet been rendered, based on the grant-date fair value of
those awards previously calculated under SFAS No. 123 for pro forma disclosure purposes. The financial
statements for periods prior to the date of adoption have not been restated in accordance with the modified
prospective application.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recognized total compensation expense of $4.1
million, which consists of $3.4 million for stock options and $0.7 million for employee stock purchase plan
awards in its consolidated statement of operations.

Stock-based compensation expense was recognized as follows in the consolidated statement of operations:

Fiscal Year
Ended
December 31,
2006
oSt O SAlBS . . o\t e e $ 245
Sales and Marketing eXPenses ... ..o vvun oo 358
Research and development eXpenses . ...........coivir oo nnn. 519
General and administrative eXpenses .. ... ..o vueir it 3,021
Reduction in operating income before income taxes ................. 4,143
Income tax effect using the current period effective tax rate ........... (126)
Reduction NNt iNCOME .. ..o oo vt it iaa s 017
Reduction in net income per share:
BaSiC « ottt e $ 003
DIlUted . .ottt e $ 0.03

As of December 31, 2006, unrecognized compensation expense related to the unvested portion of the
Company's stock options and employee stock purchase plan awards was approximately $5.4 million, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.
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The Black-Scholes option valuation madel was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options
that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. Option valuation methods require the input of highly
subjective assumptions including the weighted average nisk-free interest rate, the expected life, and the expected
stock price volatility. The weighted average risk-free interest rate was determined based upon actual U.S. treasury
rates over the actual vesting periods of the grants. The expected life was determined based upon actual option grant
lives over a 10 year period. We have utilized various market sources to calculate the implied volatility factor
utilized in the Black-Scholes option valuation model. These included the implied volatility utilized in the pricing of
options on the Company’s common stock as well as the implied volatility utilized in determining market prices of
the Company’s outstanding convertible notes. Using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, the estimated
weighted average fair value of options granted during fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 were $2.63 per share, $3.28
per share, and $2.48 per share, respectively. Had compensation cost for the Company’s stock option plans and its
stock purchase plans been determined based on the estimated fair value at the grant dates for awards under those
plans consistent with the fair value method of SFAS 123 utilizing the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, the
Company’s net income and basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended January 1, 2006 and January 2,
2005 would have approximated the pro forma amounts indicated below:

Fiscal Years Ended
January 1, January 2,

2006 2005

Net income (loss):

Asreported .. ... ... $50,646  $(72,122)

Deduct: Additional expense per SFAS 123, fair value method,

netof related tax effects .. ... i i (2,356) (4,760)

Basic pro forma net income (loss) ......... ... ... . o0 48,290 (76,882)

Add: Interest expense of convertible debt, netoftax ........ 6,651 e

Diluted pro forma net income (loss) .................. ... $54,941 $(76,882)
Basic income (loss) per share:

ASTEPOTTE . . .\ et e e et e et $§ 049 3§ (08D

Proforma ... .. e $ 047 % (085
Diluted income (loss) per share:

ASTEpOrted . ..o e e $ 042 $ (080

Proforma ... e $ 040 % (085

The fair value of options granted under the Company’s stock incentive plans during fiscal years 2006, 2005
and 2004 was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model utilizing the multiple
option approach using the following weighted-average assumptions:

Fiscal Years Ended
December 31, January 1, January 2,
2006 2006 2005
Weighted average risk-free interestrate .......... 4 .80% 3.88% 2.80%
Expected life (inyears) ....................... 4.6 59 53
Expected stock volatility ...................... 46% 44% 57%
Dividendyield ...... ... ... .. .. . . None None None

The weighted average risk free interest rate was calculated utilizing the 1.5 treasury rates over a one to ten
year horizon, based upon the actual life of options granted. The Company grants options with either a five year or
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ten year life. The expected life is based on the Company’s actual historical option exercise experience. For the
employee stock purchase plan, the actual life of 6 months is utilized in the calculation.

The expected stock volatility is based upon management’s review of both the actual implied volatility as
well as the actual historical stock price volatility. Management analyzes implied volatility from several market
sources, including implied volatility of the Company’s outstanding convertible notes as well as implied volatility
calculated within the options traded on the Company’s Common Stock.

Revenue Recognition

The majority of our revenue is derived from the sales of products. We recognize revenue from product sales
at the time of shipment or delivery and passage of title depending upon the terms of the sale. We offer certain of
our customers the right to return products within a limited time after delivery under specified circumstances,
generally related to product defects. We monitor and track such product returns and record a provision for the
estimated amount of such future returns based on historical experience and any notification we receive of
pending returns. While such returns have historically been within our expectations and the provisions established,
we cannot guarantee that we will continue to experience the same return rates that we have in the past. Any
significant increase in product returns could have a material adverse effect on our operating results for the period
or periods in which such returns materialize.

Foreign Currency

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 52, Foreign Currency Translation
(“SFAS 527), some of Powerwave’s international operations use the respective local currencies as their
functional currency while other international operations use the U.S. Dollar as their functional currency. Gains
and losses from foreign currency transactions are recorded in other income, net. Revenue and expenses from the
Company’s international subsidiaries are transiated using the monthly average exchange rates in effect for the
period in which they occur. The Company’s international subsidiaries that have the U.S. Dollar as their
functional currency translate monetary assets and liabilities using current rates of exchange at the balance sheet
date and translate non-monetary assets and liabilities using historical rates of exchange. Gains and losses from
remeasurement for such subsidiaries are included in other income, net and have historically not been significant.
The Company’s international subsidiaries that do not have the U.S. Dollar as their functional currency translate
assets and liabilities at current rates of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date. The resulting gains and losses
from translation for such subsidiaries are included as a component of shareholders’ equity.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (“SFAS 1097), which requires that the Company recognize deferred tax
liabilities and assets based on the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases
of assets and liabilities, using enacted tax rates in effect in the years the differences are expected to reverse.
Deferred income tax benefit (expense) results from the change in net deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities.
A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that some or all deferred tax assets will not be
realized.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 128, Earnings Per Share (“SFAS
128™), basic earnings (loss) per share is based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding.
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Diluted earnings (loss) per share is based upon the weighted average number of common and potential common
shares for each period presented. Potential common shares include stock options using the treasury stock method.

Note 3. Inventories

Balance for the years ended December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006 excluded Arkivator. Net inventories
consist of the following:

December 31, January 1,

2006 2006
Partsandcomponents . . .......... ...t $ 66,181 $40,740
WOrK-Im-Process - . .. ..ot 12,604 4,119
Finishedgoods ........ ... .. . i iiiiiiiiia, 84,967 49,835
Total INVENIOTIES . . v\ ottt et et e e e e ens $163,752 $94.694

Inventories are net of an allowance for excess and obsolete inventories of approximately $48.9 million and
$17.5 million as of December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006, respectively.

Note 4, Property, Plant and Equipment

Balance for the years ended December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006 excluded Arkivator. Net property,
plant and eguipment consist of the following:

December 31, January 1,

2006 2006

Machinery and equipment . .......... .. ... ... §217,624  $ 157457
Buildings and improvements . ...... ... .. .. . i e 69,401 72,489
Land ... 22,443 25,491
Office furniture and equipment . .............. ... . ... .... 68,357 23,464
Leasehold improvements ... ..............coivrvrienannn 10,573 2,830
Gross property, plant and equipment . ................. 388.398 281,740
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization ........... (249,726) {133,648)
Total property, plant and equipment, net ........... $ 138,672 5 148,092

During fiscal 2006, Powerwave entered into sale agreements for two of its three facilities located in Sweden.
The prices negotiated resulted in a net loss of approximately $3.5 million. These two facilities are classified as
assets held for sale at Gctober 1, 2006. In addition, the Company recognized an impairment in the value of its
remaining facility in Sweden of approximately $18.3 million, which the Company is currently preparing to sell.
The total amount of these impairments is recognized in operating expenses for fiscal 2006.
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Note 5. Goodwill

Balance for the years ended January 2, 2005 and January 1, 2006 included Arkivator. The changes in the
carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006 are as follows:

Balance, January 2, 2008 ... i e e e
Goodwill from acquisitions . ... . .. . e
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ........... ... .. ... ... ... .....

Balance, January 1,2006 ... ... ..
Goodwill from acquisitions . ... .. ... ... . L
Sale of Arkivator ... .. ... ... L
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes .. ......... ... ... ... ... .....

Balance, December 31,2006 .. ... e

Note 6. Intangible Assets

$277,223

49,560
(46,656)

280,127

190,361

(19,834)
34,821

$485,475

Balance for the years ended December 31, 2006 and January |, 2006 excluded Arkivator. Intangible assets

as of December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006, respectively, are comprised of the following:

December 31, 2006

Witd. Avg.

Gross
Carrt;sing Accumulated Net Book Amortization
Amount Amortization Yalue Period
Amortizing:
Developed technology ................ $ 98,261 $(38,699)  $59,562 4.5 years
Customer-relationship/contracts ... ...... 52,679 (17,463) 35,216 5.0 years
Distribution agreements .. ............. © 2,438 (2,438) —
Backlog . ... ..o 4,795 (4,795) —
$158,173 $(63,395)  $94,778
January 1, 2006
Gross Witd., Avg,
Carrying Accumulated Net Book Amortization
Amount Amortization Value Period
Amortizing:
Developed technology ................ $ 63,808 $(24,448)  $39,360 4.5 years
Customer-relationship/contracts . ........ 34,942 (7,960} 26,982 5.5 years
Distribution agreements ............... 2,107 (1,756) 351 2 years
Backlog . ...... ... . .. il 4,181 4,181} — 8 months
$105,038  $(38,345)  $66,693 '

Future amortization expense is expected to be $30.0 million, $29.6 million, $23.3 million, $11.5 million and

$0.4 million in fiscal years 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively.
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Note 7. Other Non-Current Assets

Balance for the years ended December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006 excluded Arkivator. Other non-current
assets consist of the following:

December 31,  January I,

2006 2006
Debtissue costs.net .. ... . oot 5,557 7,110
Long-term deposits . ......... ..ot 82 988
Other prepaid eXpenses . ...........vouinermneernneenn .. 2,546 124
Total other non-current assets . ....................... $8,185 $8222

Note 8. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Balance for the years ended December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006 excluded Arkivator. Accrued expenses
and other current liabilities consist of the following:

December 31,  January 1,
. 2006 2006
Accrued wartanty COSIS ... vivvr e i e $40,273 $20,321
Accrued compulsory share liability (Note 17) .. ... ... ... — 4,567
Accrued value addedtax . ... ... . ... i 165 6,505
Accrued Interest eXpense .. ... vt 901 805
Accruedsalestax ..., ... ... e e 866 268
Other accrued expenses and other current labilities .. ......... 25,967 17,758
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities .. ... .. $68,172 $50,324

Note 9. Restructuring and Impairment Charges
2006 Plan for Consolidation of Operations

In the fourth quarter of 2006, and in connection with the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition, we formulated and
began to implement a plan to restructure our global manufacturing operations with an initial primary focus on our
operations in China. As part of this plan to reduce our costs, we are consolidating our manufacturing facilities in
Wauxi and Shanghai, China, into the manufacturing facility located in Suzhou, China, acquired in the Filtronic
Wireless Acquisition. The plan is expected to be completed by the end of the second quarter of 2007 and includes
reduction of workforce, impairment and disposal of inventory and equipment utilized in discontinued product
lines, and facility closure costs. Management made a decision to cease production of certain product lines
manufactured in the two plants that are closing in China, as well as products manufactured in Costa Rica and
produced at a contract manufacturer in China due to efforts to reduce costs and to eliminate duplicative product
lines. The Costa Rica manufacturing facility was closed in December 2006. The Company recorded a charge of
approximately $21.2 million for the impairment of the related inventory value that will be disposed and not
generate future revenue, In addition, we recorded impairment of $0.7 million related to manufacturing equipment
located in our plants to be closed in both China and Costa Rica.

The inventory and manufacturing equipment impairment charges were recorded in restructuring and

impairment of cost of sales in the consolidated statements of operations. Also related 1o the discontinued product
lines, the Company recorded a charge of approximately $5.6 million for the impairment of the related developed
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technology intangible assets valued as part of the purchase accounting for the REMEC Wireless Acquisition. The
charge is included in within the intangible asset amortization line of cost of sales in the consolidated statements
of operations. There will be no future cash flows to sustain the value of these intangible assets subsequent to
December 31, 2006. In addition, the Company recorded approximately $3.8 million of inventory provision
related to the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition to conform to the Company’s accounting policies.

During fiscal 2006, Powerwave listed for sale three facilities located in Sweden and entered into sale
agreements for two of the three facilities. The prices negotiated resulted in a net loss of approximately $3.5
million. The total amount of these impairments was recognized in operating expenses for fiscal 2006. In the third
quarter of 2006, the Company recognized impairment in the value of its remaining facility in Sweden of
approximately $18.3 million. The Company is currently preparing to sell the facility and expects the facility to be
sold by the end of the second quarter of 2007,

In December 2006, we completed the closure of our manufacturing facility in Barreal de Heredia, Costa
Rica and offered the building for sale. The Company recorded an impairment charge of $0.2 million related to
the building in the fourth quarter of 2006 and expects that the sale of the building will be completed in 2007 (see
Note 19). The impairment charges are reflected within operating expenses and the restructuring and impairment
charges line in the consolidated statement of operations.

Lastly, in conjunction with the consolidation of operations described above, we recorded severance expense
of approximately $5.3 millien in 2006, of which $3.1 million and $2.2 million is reflected in both restructuring
and impairment of cost of sales and operating expenses, respectively, in the consolidated statements of
operations. The Company paid $0.3 million in 2005 and, as a result, the accrued severance is $5.0 million at
December 31, 2006.

A surnmary of the amounts recorded to the 2006 consolidated statements of operations and a summary the
activity affecting Company’s accrued restructuring liability for the year ended December 31, 2006 for the actions
described above are listed below:

For the Year

Ended

December 31,
2006

(in millions)
Intangible asSel FMPAITMENT . . ... ..\ttt e aaa e $ 5.6

Restructuring and impairment charges:

Inventory impairment . ............. . it 21.2
Acquired Inventory provision . ........... .. i e 3.8
Building impairment .. .. ... .. e 0.2
SEVETANCE . . .ottt t e et e ittt 3.1
Oher .. e e 0.7
290
Total forcostofsales ........ ... i 34.6
Building impairment . ... .. .. i i 21.8
SEVEMANMCE . . . ittt e et e e 22
Total for Operating expenses ... ..ot e 24.0
$58.6
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The costs associated with these exit activities were recorded in 2006 or will be recorded in the first half of
2007 in accordance with the accounting guidance in SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities, (“FAS 1467). Our restructuring and integration plan is subject to continued future refinement
as additional information becomes available. Restructuring activities are currently expected to continue through
the second guarter of fiscal 2007.

Integration of Filtronic’s Wireless Infrastructure Division Business

We are continuing to evaluate our initial restructuring and consolidation plans for the Filtronic Wireless
operations and we expect to finalize these plans in the first half of fiscal 2007.

Integration of REMEC’s Wireless Systems Business

We recognized $10.4 million as liabilities in connection with the acquisition for estimated restructuring and
integration costs related to the consolidation of REMEC’s Wireless operations, including severance and future
lease obligations on excess facilities. These estimated costs were included in the allocation of the purchase
consideration and resulted in additional goodwill pursuant to Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No, 95-3,
Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a Purchase Business Combination {or “95-3"). The implementation
of the restructuring and integration plan is substantially complete.

Integration with LGP Allgon

We recognized $26.6 million as liabilities in connection with the acquisition for estimated restructuring and
integration costs related to the consolidation of the LGP Allgon operations. These estimated costs were included
in the allocation of the purchase consideration and resulted in additional goodwill pursuant to Emerging Issues
Task Force Issue No. 95-3, Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a Purchase Business Combination (or
“95-3"). The implementation of the restructuring and integration plan is substantially complete.

A summary of the activity affecting the Company’s accrued restructuring liability related to the integration
of the REMEC Wireless Systems Business and LGP Allgon for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
January 1, 2006 is as follows:

Facility ,
Closures &
Workforce Equipment
Reductions Write-downs Other Total
Balance at January 2,2005 ..................... $ 12,754 $ 4,001 $599 $17.354
Amounts assumed from REMEC .. .......... 63 — 252 315
Amounts accrued in purchase accounting . .. .. 12,743 3,580 29 16,352
Amountsexpensed ... ... ... ... ... 402 929 — 1,331
Amounts paidfincurred ... ... .. ... ..., (15,270) (1,075) (590) (16,935)
Effect of exchangerates . .................. (1,805) (76} 4 (2,028}
Balance at January 1,2006 ..................... 8,787 7,359 243 16,389
Amounts accrued in purchase accounting .. ... (2,359 187 — (2,172)
Amounts paidfincorred .. ... ... Ll (4,887) (3,757 (50) (8,694)
Effect of exchangerates ................... 545 (80) 5 470

Balance at December 31,2006 .................. $ 2,086 $ 3,709 $198 $§ 5,993

We expect that the workforce reduction amounts will be paid out over the next 18 months and the facility
closure amounts will be paid out over the remaining lease terms which approximate two years,
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Note 10. Financing Arrangements and Long-Term Debt

On October 13, 2006, Powerwave entered into a Credit Agreement by and among the Company, the Lenders
party thereto from time to time, Bank of America, N.A., as Documentation Agent, and Comerica Bank, as
Administrative Agent (the “Credit Agreement”). The Credit Agreement was amended on February 28, 2007 with
an effective date of December 31, 2006, to adjust certain covenants. Prior to the Amendment, the Company
received waivers from the lenders waiving certain covenants under the Credit Agreement, which required the
maintenance of certain financial measure.

The Amended Credit Agreement provides for up to a $75 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolving
Credit Facility™), which includes a $10 million sublimit for the issuance of standby letters of credit and a $20
million subtimit for multicurrency berrowings in Euro, Sterling, Yen and Swedish Krona. The obligations under
the Amended Credit Agreement are guaranteed by Powerwave Wireless, Inc. and secured by substantially all
present and future assets and properties of the Company, its subsidiaries and Powerwave Wireless Inc. The
obligations under the Amended Credit Agreement are also secured by a pledge of 65% of the capital stock of
Powerwave Technologies Sweden AB. The Amended Credit Agreement requires the Company to maintain
certain financial covenants, including liquidity ratio, minimum EBITDA and an accounts receivable borrowing
base.

The Revolving Credit Facility will terminate and all amounts outstanding thereunder will be due and
payable in full on June 1, 2008, which maturity date may be extended from time to time by one year with the
consent of all of the lenders under the Revolving Credit Facility. Under the terms of the Amended Credit
Agreement, the principal amount outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility wili bear interest at a per
annum rate equal to either (i) the LIBOR rate plus an adjustable applicable margin of between 1.375% and
1.875% or (ii) Comerica Bank’s prime rate plus 0.25%, at the election of the Company, subject to specified
restrictions. The Revolving Credit Facility will be subject to payment of a facility fee of 0.25% per annum of the
aggregate commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility, regardless of usage, an adjustable letter of credit fee
of between 1.375% and 1.875% per annum with respect to outstanding standby letters of credit and certain
fronting and other fees in connection with the issuance and amendment of standby letters of credit. At
December 31, 2006, based on eligible accounts receivable, the Company had approximately $66 million
available 1o it under the Amended Credit Agreement. There were no borrowings outstanding under the Amended
Credit Agreement at December 31, 2006.

The Company expects to use the proceeds of the Revolving Credit Facility for working capital and for other
general corporate purposes.

On November 10, 2004, Powerwave completed the private placement of $200.0 million aggregate principal
amount of convertible subordinated notes due November 2024 (“2024 Notes™) to Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc.
The 2024 Notes are convertible into the Common Stock of Powerwave at a conversion price of $11.09 per share
and accrue interest at an annuat rate of 1.875%. Powerwave miy redeem the 2024 Notes beginning on
November 21, 2009 until November 20, 2010 and on or after November 21, 2010 until November 20, 2011, if the
closing price of Powerwave’s Common Stock is more than $17.74 and $14.42, respectively, for at least 20
trading days within a 30 consecutive trading day period. The notes may be redeemed by Powerwave at any time
after November 21, 201 1. Holders of the 2024 Notes may require Powerwave to repurchase all or a portion of
their notes for cash on November 15, 2011, 2014 and 2019 at 100% of the principal amount of the notes, plus
accrued and unpaid interest up to but not inciuding the date of such repurchase. Holders of the 2024 Notes may
also require Powerwave to repurchase alt or a portion of their notes in the case of a change in control. In addition,
under certain circumstances related to a change in control, the conversion price of the 2024 Notes may be
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adjusted downwards, thereby increasing the number of shares issuable upon conversion, if holders of the 2024
Notes elect to convert their notes at a time when the 2024 Notes are not redeemable by the Company, Powerwave
used a portion of the proceeds of the offering to fund the repurchase of $40.0 million of its Common Stock
(5,050,505 shares) simultaneously with the issuance of the 2024 Notes. The Company received net cash proceeds
of approximately $154.2 million after the deduction of the amount used for the Common Stock repurchase and
debt issuance costs.

On July 18, 2003, Powerwave completed the private placement of $130.0 million aggregate principal
amount of }.25% convertible subordinated notes due July 2008 (2008 Notes”). The 2008 Notes are convertible
into shares of the Common Stock of Powerwave at a conversion price of $10.49 per share and accrue interest at
an annual rate of 1.25% with interest payable semi-annually on January 15 and July 15. The 2008 Notes are
callable by the Company beginning July 22, 2007. Powerwave used a portion of the proceeds of the offering to
fund the repurchase of $25.0 million of the Company’s Common Stock (3,144,654 shares) simultaneously with
the issuance of the 2008 Notes. The Company received net cash proceeds of approximately $100.9 million after
the deduction of the amount used for the Common Stock repurchase and debt issuance costs.

Both the 2024 Notes and 2008 Notes are general unsecured obligations of the Company and are subordinate
in right of payment to all of the Company’s existing and future senior indebtedness. In addition, the indenture for
the notes does not restrict the Company from incurring senior debt or other indebtedness and does not impose
any financial covenants on the Company.

Note 11. 401(k) and Profit-Sharing Plans

The Company sponsors a 401(k) and profit-sharing plan covering all eligible U.S. employees and provides
for a Company match in cash on a portion of participant contributions. The Company’s 401(k) and profit sharing
plan is managed by Fidelity Investments, and is an employee self-directed plan which offers a variety of
investment choices via mutual funds. Employees may contribute up to 15% of their base salary, subject 1o IRS
maximums. During fiscal 2004, the Company matched 100% of the first 3% of eligible compensation contributed
and 50% of the next 2% of eligible compensation contributed. Beginning fiscal 2005, the Company matched
100% of the first 5% of eligible compensation contributed. The Company’s matching contributions are made in
cash and are invested in the same percentage among the various funds offered as selected by the employee.
Effective for fiscal year 2007, the Company will match 100% of the first 6% of eligible compensation
contributed. Employer matching contributions for the years ended December 31, 2006, January 1, 2006 and
January 2, 2005 were $1.2 million, $1.0 million, and $0.9 million, respectively. There were no discretionary
profit sharing contributions authorized for the years ended December 31, 2006, January 1, 2006 or January 2,
2005.

Note 12, Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP™) provides that a total of 3,000,000 shares of
Common Stock are reserved for issuance under the plan. The ESPP, which is intended to qualify as an “employee
stock purchase plan” under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code, is implemented utilizing six-month
offerings with purchases occurring at six-month intervals. The ESPP administration is overseen by the Board of
Directors. Employees are eligible to participate if they are employed by the Company for at least 20 hours per
week and if they have been employed by the Company for at least 90 days. The ESPP permits eligible employees
to purchase Common Stock through payroll deductions, which may not exceed 20% of an employee’s
compensation, The price of Common Stock purchased under the ESPP is 85% of the lower of the fair market
value of the Common Stock at the beginning of each six-month offering period or on the applicable purchase
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date. Employees may end their participation in an offering at any time during the offering period, and
participation ends automatically upon termination of employment. The Board may at any time amend or
terminate the ESPP, except that no such amendment or termination may adversely affect shares previously
granted under the ESPP. During fiscal 2006, the eighteenth and nineteenth purchases under the ESPP occurred on
January 31, 2006 and August 1, 2006, respectively. A total of 105,872 shares were purchased in the eighteenth
purchase at $10.03 per share and 129,575 shares were purchased in the nineteenth purchase at $6.75 per share. At
December 31, 2006, there were rights to purchase approximately 142,000 shares under the ESPP’s twentieth
offering, which will conclude on January 31, 2007. There were 793,164 shares available for purchase at
December 31, 2006 under the ESPP.

Note 13. Stock Option Plans

The purposes of the Company’s stock option plans are to attract and retain the best available personnel for
positions of substantial responsibility with the Company and to provide participants with additional incentives in
the form of options to purchase the Company’s Common Stock which will encourage them to acquire a
proprietary interest in, and to align their financial interests with those of the Company and its shareholders. All of
the Company’s stock option plans have been approved by the Company’s shareholders.

1995 Stock Option Plan

The Company’s 1995 Stock Option Plan (the “1995 Plan”), as amended, permits executive personnel, key
employees and non-employee members of the Board of Directors of the Company to participate in ownership of
the Company. The 1995 Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of
Directors. The 1995 Plan provides for the grant of non-statutory stock options under the applicable provisions of
the Internal Revenue Code. The option price per share may not be less than 85% of the fair market value of a
share of Common Stock on the grant date as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. In addition, for
any individual possessing 10% or more of the voting power of all classes of stock of the Company, the exercise
price may not be less than 110% of the fair market value of a share of Common Stock on the grant date, as
determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. Options generally vest at the rate of 25% on the first
anniversary of the grant date and 2% per month thereafter. All options expire no later than ten years after the
grant date. Up to 5,815,845 shares of the Company’s Common Stock were reserved for issuance under the 1995
Plan. Pursuant to the amended Stockholder’s Agreement dated as of November 8, 1996, between the Company
and certain of its original shareholders, those certain shareholders agreed that once the Company issued
3,285,000 shares of Common Stock under the 1995 Stock Option Plan, any additional shares issued under that
Plan upon an option exercise would be coupled with a redemption from those shareholders of an equal number of
shares at a redemption price equaling the option exercise price. The Company and those certain shareholders
have agreed that this share redemption agreement applies only to the exercise of options to purchase a total of
2,530,845 shares of the Company’s Common Stock. As of December 31, 2006, a total of 5,763,224 options have
been exercised under the 1995 Plan, of which a total of 2,478,224 shares of Common Stock have been funded
from those shareholders party to the amended Stockholder’s Agreement. The effect of this transaction is to
eliminate any dilution from the further exercise of optiens under the 1995 Plan. At December 31, 2006, there
were 52,621 options outstanding under the 1995 Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $8.72 share. The
ability to grant additional shares under the 1995 Plan expired in December 2005. Therefore, there are no shares
available for grant under the 1995 Plan at December 31, 2006 and there were a total of 52,621 shares of Common
Stock held in escrow by the Company on behalf of those shareholders party to the Stockholder’s Agreement to
fund all furture exercises under the 1995 Plan.
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1996 Stock Incentive Plan

The Company’s 1996 Stock Incentive Plan (the “1996 Plan™), as amended, provides for the granting of
“incentive stock options,” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
{the “Code"), non-statutory options and restricted stock grants to directors, officers, employees and consultants
of the Company, except that incentive stock options may not be granted to non-employee directors or
consultants. A total of 9,000,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock are reserved for issuance under the
1996 Plan. As of December 31, 2006, all of the options granted under the 1996 Plan have been non-statutory
options. The 1996 Plan provides that for non-statutory stock options, the option price per share may not be less
than 85% of the fair market value of a share of Common Stock on the grant date and that the exercise price may
not be less than 110% of the fair market value of a share of Common Stock on the grant date for any individual
possessing 109% or more of the voting power of all classes of stock of the Company. Authority to control and
manage the 1996 Plan is vested with the Company’s Board of Directors, which has sole discretion and authority,
consistent with the provisions of the 1996 Plan, to determine the administration of the 1996 Plan and to
determine which eligible participants will receive options, the time when options will be granted, the terms of
options granted and the number of shares which will be subject to options granted under the 1996 Plan. Options
generally vest at the rate of 25% on the first anniversary of the grant date and the remaining 75% vests in equal
monthly installments over the following three years. All options expire no later than ten years after the grant date.
As of December 31, 2006, a total of 5,273,798 options had been exercised under the 1996 Plan and there were
3,629,018 options outstanding under the 1996 Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $12.11 per share. The
ability to grant additional shares under the 1996 Plan expired on December 5, 2006. Therefore, there was no
shares available for grant under the 1996 Plan at December 31, 2006.

1996 Director Stock Option Plan

The Company’s 1996 Director Stock Option Plan (the “Director Plan™}, as amended, provides that a total of
1,200,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock are reserved for issuance under the plan. On November 10,
2003, our shareholders approved the Director Plan Amendment that extended the term of the Director Plan from
its current expiration date of December 5, 2006 1o December 5, 2016. The Director Plan provides that each
member of the Company’s Board of Directors who is not an employee or paid consultant of the Company will
automatically be eligible to receive non-statutory options to purchase common stock under the Director Plan.
Pursuant to the terms of the Director Plan, each director elected after December 5, 1996, wiil be granted an initial
option under the Director Plan covering 30,000 shares of Common Stock, that shall vest at the rate of 25% on the
first anniversary of the grant date and the remaining 75% shall vest in equal monthly instaliments over the
following three years. Furthermore, on each anniversary date of December 5, each director who shall have been
an eligible participant under the Director Plan for at least six (6) months shall be granted an annual option under
the Director Plan to purchase 10,000 shares of Common Stock that vests 100% on the fourth anniversary date of
the grant, The Director Plan provides that the exercise price per share of grants issued under the Director Plan
shall be equal to 100% of the fair market value of a share of Common Stock on the grant date. All options expire
no later than five years after the grant date, As of December 31, 2000, a total of 208,125 options had been
exercised under the Director Plan. There were 325,000 options outstanding under the Director Plan as of
December 31, 2006 at a weighted average exercise price of $8.01 per share. There were 666,875 shares available
for grant under the Director Plan at December 31, 2006,

2000 Stock Option Plan

The Company’s 2000 Stock Option Plan (the “2000 Plan™) provides that a total of 2,640,000 shares of the
Company's Common Stock are reserved for issuance under the 2000 Plan, The 2000 Plan provides for the
granting of only non-statutory stock options to employees, executive officers and consultants of the Company.,
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The exercise price per share of Common Stock of the Company covered by each option shall be equal to 100% of
the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date that the option is granted. In no event shall any
participant under the 2000 Plan be granted options under the 2000 Plan covering more than 300,000 shares in any
one calendar year. Authority to control and manage the 2000 Plan is vested with the Company’s Board of
Directors, which has sole discretion and authority, consistent with the provisions of the 2000 Plan, to determine
the administration of the 2000 Plan. The Board of Directors may delegate such responsibilities in whole or in part
1o a committee consisting of two or more members of the Board of Directors or two or more executive officers of
the Company (the “*Administrator”™). All option grants to executive officers of the Company shall be approved by
the Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The Administrator of the 2000
Plan shall have the authority, consistent with the provisions of the 2000 Plan and the authority granted by the
Board of Directors, to determine which eligible participants will receive options, the time when options will be
granted, the terms of options granted and the number of shares which will be subject to options granted under the
2000 Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrator shall not have the authority to amend an Option
Agreement to effect a “re-pricing” of the exercise price of an option either by (i) lowering the exercise price of a
previously granted option or (ii) by canceling a previously granted option and granting a new option, except that
changes in the Company’s capital structure or a change in control of the Company pursuant to the terms of the
2000 Plan shall not be considered a re-pricing of such option. Options generally vest at the rate of 25% on the
first anniversary of the grant date and the remaining 75% vests in equal monthly installments over the following
three years. All options expire no later than five years after the grant date. As of December 31, 2006, 708,939
shares had been exercised under the 2000 Plan. There were 585,257 options outstanding under the 2000 Plan as
of December 31, 2006 at a weighted average exercise price of $7.42 per share. There were 1,345,804 shares
available for grant under the 2000 plan at December 31, 2006. The 2000 Plan has a termination date of March 17,
2010.

2002 Stock Option Plan

The Company’s 2002 Stock Option Plan (the “2002 Plan™) was approved by the shareholders of the
Company on April 24, 2002. The 2002 Plan provides that a total of 2,000,000 shares of the Company’s Common
Stock are reserved for issuance under the 2002 Plan. Employees and consultants or independent advisors who are
in the service of the Company or its subsidiaries are eligible to participate in the 2002 Plan. The Company’s
executive officers and other highly paid employees are also eligible to participate in the 2002 Plan. The 2002
Plan provides only for the granting of non-statutory stock options. The exercise price per share of Common Stock
of the Company covered by each option shall be equal to 100%: of the fair market value of the Common Stock on
the date that the option is granted. In no event shall any participant under the 2002 Plan be granted options under
the 2002 plan covering more than 300,000 shares in any one calendar year. All options granted pursuant to the
2002 Plan shall have a maximum term of no more than ten vears from the grant date. Authority to control and
manage the 2002 Plan is vested with the Company’s Board of Directors, which has sole discretion and authority.
consistent with the provisions of the 2002 Plan, to determine the administration of the 2002 Plan. The Board of
Directors may delegate such responsibilities in whole or in part to a committee consisting of two or more
members of the Board of Directors or two or more officers of the Company. All option grants to executive
officers of the Company shall be approved by the Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors. The Administrator of the 2002 Plan shall have the authority, consistent with the provisions of
the 2002 Plan and the authority of the Board of Directors, to determine which eligible participants will receive
options, the time when options will be granted, the terms of options granted and the number of shares which will
be subject to options granted under the 2002 Plan, Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrator shall not
have the authority to amend an option agreement to effect a “re-pricing” of the exercise price of such option
either by (1) lowering the exercise price of a previously granted option or (2) by canceling a previously granied
option and granting a new option except that changes in the Company’s capital structure or a change in contro} of
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the Company pursuant to the terms of the 2002 Plan shall not be considered a re-pricing of such option. As of
December 31, 2006, 463,050 shares had been exercised under the 2002 Plan, There were 1,536,870 options
outstanding under the 2002 Plan as of December 31, 2006 at a weighted average exercise price of $6.01 per
share. There were 80 shares available for grant under the 2002 plan at December 31, 2006. The 2002 Plan has a
termination date of January 23, 2012.

2005 Stock Incentive Plan

The Company’s 2005 Stock Incentive Plan {the “2005 Plan™) was approved by the shareholders of the
Company on November 10, 2005. The 2005 Plan provides that a total of 7,500,000 shares of the Company’s
Common Stock are reserved for issuance under the 2005 Plan. Any person who is an employee of the Company
or any affiliate thereof, any person to whom an offer of employment with the Company has been extended, as
determined by the Committee, or any person who is a non-employee director is eligible to be designated by the
Committee to receive awards and become a participant under the 2005 Plan. The 2005 Plan includes the
following equity compensation awards: non-qualified stock options, restricted stock awards, unrestricted stock
awards, stock appreciation rights and restricted stock units. The exercise price per share of a stock option shall
not be less than the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date the opticn is granted, provided
that the Committee may in its discretion specify for any stock option an exercise price per share that is higher
than the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date the option is granted. The Committee
shall determine the period during which a vested stock option may be exercised, provided that the maximum term
of a stock option shall be ten years from the date the option is granted. A maximum of 7,500,000 shares of
common stock may be issued and sold under all awards, restricted and unrestricted, granted under the 2005 Plan.
Of such aggregate limit, the maximum number of shares of common stock that may be issued under all awards of
restricted stock, restricted stock units and stock awards, in the aggregate, shall be 3,000,000 shares. The
maximum number of shares of common stock that may be subject to stock options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock, stock units and stock awards, in the aggregate, granted to any one participant during any single
fiscal year period shall be 500,000 shares. The foregoing limitations shall each be applied on an aggregate basis
taking into account awards granted to a participant under the 2005 Plan as well as awards of the same type
granted to a participant under any other equity-based compensation plan of the Company or any affiliate thereof.
The 2005 Plan is to be administered by either the Board of Directors or one or more committees designated by
the Board (the “Committee”). The Committee shall have such powers and authority as may be necessary or
appropriate to carry out the functions of the Committee as described in the 2005 Plan. Subject to the express
limitations of the 2005 Plan, the Committee shall have authority in its discretion to determine the persons to
whom, and the time or times at which, awards may be granted, the number of shares, units or other rights subject
to each award, the exercise, base or purchase price of an award (if any), the time or times at which an award will
become vested, exercisable or payable, the performance goals and other conditions of an award, the duration of
the award and all other terms of the award. The Committee may prescribe, amend and rescind rules and
regulations relating io the 2005 Plan. All interpretations, determinations and actions by the Committee shail be
final, conclusive and binding upen all parties. Additionally, the Committee may delegate to one or more officers
of the Company the ability to grant and determine terms and conditions of awards under the 2005 Plan to certain
employees, and the Commitiee may delegate to any appropriate officer or employee of the Company
responsibility for performing certain ministerial functions under the 2005 Plan. Subject to anti-dilution
adjustment provisions in the 2005 Plan, without the prior approval of the Company’s shareholders, evidenced by
a majority of votes cast, neither the Committee nor the Board of Directors shall cause the cancellation,
substitution or amendment of a stock option that would have the effect of reducing the exercise price of such a
stock option previously granted under the 2005 Plan, or otherwise approve any modification to such a stock
option that would be treated as a “repricing” under the then applicable rules, regulations or listing requirements
adopted by the Nasdaq Stock Market. As of December 31, 2006, 200,000 shares of restricted stock had been
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granted under the 2005 Plan. There were 933,500 options outstanding under the 2005 Plan as of December 31,
2006 at a weighted average exercise price of $7.47 per share. There were 6,366,500 shares available for grant
under the 2005 plan at December 31, 2006. The 2005 Plan has a termination date of September 20, 2015.

The following table summarizes activity for outstanding options under the Company’s stock option plans:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Average  Contractual Aggregate
Number of Exercise Life Intrinsic Value
Shares Price (in years) (in thousands)

Balance at Decemnber 28,2003 . . ... ... ... . i 8952 $12.05

Granted . . ... 1,603 $ 7.51

Exercised . ...oviit e {(251) § 4.86

Canceled .. ... ... v (1,355 $14.41
Balance at January 2,2005 ... .. ... .. oo 8,949 $10.90

Granted . ..ot e e 660 $ 9.01

Exercised . ... e (1333) § 6.58

Canceled . ... (1,133)  $16.59
Balance at January 1,2006 . ......... ... ... oL 7,143 $10.63

Granted . ..o e 2,071 3 7.62

EXercised . ... ..ot (1,087) § 6.74

Canceled ........ i e (1,071)  $15.74
Balance at December 31,2006 ... ... ... oo i 7.056 $ 9.57 _GE $3,293
Vested or expected to vest at December 31,2006 ........... 6,468 $ 974 ﬁ $3.253
Exercisable at December 31,2006 .. ....... ... ..., 4,136 $10.99 4,29 $2,933

The following table summarizes information about all stock options outstanding at December 31, 2006
under the 1995 Plan, 1996 Plan, Director Plan, 2000 Plan, 2002 Plan and 2003 Plan:

Options Exercisable at

Options Qutstanding at December 31, 2006 December 31, 2006

Weighted Weighted Average Weighted
Options Average Remaining Options Average

Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Exercise: Price  Contractual Life  Exercisable  Exercise Price
$219—8 541 ...l 1,927 $ 4.78 4.81 1,687 $ 4795
$563—8% 7.03 ... 1,205 $ 652 5.18 840 $ 6.48
$ 7088 747 ...l 1,811 5747 9.59 26 $ 720
$ 75051312 ...l 1,418 $10.38 5.03 905 $10.86
$1327—$67.08 ................... 695 $31.95 3.57 678 $32.41

Total ...l 7,056 $ 957 6.02 4,136 $10.99

The Company granted 200,000 shares of restricted stock on December 19, 2005 that are subject to a risk of
forfeiture which lapses with respect to 20,000 shares every 3 months following the grant date so that the risk of
forfeiture lapses with respect 1o all shares on June 19, 2008. The market value per share on the date of the grant
was $12.68. The Company recorded $1.0 million of compensation expense during 2006 related to this grant that
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is reflected as a component of general and administrative expense. The Company will continue to record
compensation expense during the term of this award. With the adoption of FAS 123(R), the unamortized
compensation cost at January 2, 2006 was reclassified to common stock.

Note 14. Commitments and Contingencies

Future minimum lease payments required under all operating leases at December 31, 2006 are payable as
follows:

Fiscal Year Total
P % 5,739
200 L e e e e e 4,025
2000 L e e e 2,178
20T e 1,158
20D e 70
Thereafter - . ..o e e —
Total oo e $13,170

Total rent expense was $4.3 million, $4.6 million and $3.4 million for the years ended December 31,
2006, Janvary 1, 2006 and January 2, 2005, respectively.

On March 10, 2006, the Company sold the manufacturing facility in the Philippines to Celestica. As part of
this sale, the Company have committed to buy products from Celestica manufactured in the Philippines facility.
If the Company do not maintain certain production levels with Celestica, the Company could be adversely
impacted and required to pay certain penalties for failing to reach certain production volumes. Such failure could
have a negative impact on our operating results

In January and February 2007, three purported shareholder class action complaints were filed in the United
States District Court for the Central District of California against the Company, its President and Chief Executive
Officer, its Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors and its Chief Financial Officer. The complaints are
Jerry Crafton v. Powerwave Technologies, Inc., et. al., Kenneth Kwan v. Powerwave Technologies, Inc., et. al.,
and Achifle Tedesco v. Powerwave Technologies, Inc., et, al, and were brought under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, The complaints purport to state claims on behalf
of all persons who purchased Powerwave securities between May 2, 2005 and October 9, 2006. The essence of
the allegations are that the defendants made misleading statements or omissions concerning the Company’s
projected and actual sales revenues, the integration of certain acquisitions and the sufficiency of the Company’s
internal controls. The Company believes that the purported shareholder class actions are without merit and
intends to defend them vigorously.

Note 15. Contractual Guarantees and Indemnities

The Company establishes reserves for future product warranty costs that are expected to be incurred
pursuant to specific warranty provisions with its customers. The Company also has contractual requirements with
various customers that could require the Company to incur costs to repair an epidemic defect with respect to its
products outside of the normal warranty pertod if such defect were to occur. The Company’s warranty reserves
are generally established at the time of sale and updated throughout the warranty period based upon numerous
factors including historical warranty return rates and expenses over various warranty periods. The Company also
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accrues additional warranty liabilities for significant and unusual product performance issues at the time such
issues are identified and the associated warranty related costs can be reasonably estimated. A summary of the
activity that affected the Company’s accrued warranty costs for the years ended January 1, 2006 and
December 31, 2006 is as follows:

Accrued
Description Warranty Costs
Balance at January 2, 2005 ... ... ... ... e $ 10,164
Reserve balances assumed in acquisitions ........... ... o it 8,544
Reductions for warranty costs incurred .. ... oo o (6,075)
Warranty accrual related to current yearsales ........ ... . o 2,684
Change in estimate related to previous warranty aceruals ................... 6,157
Effect of exchange rates ............ ... i (1,153)
Balance at January 1,2006 ... ... .. 20,321
| Reserve balances assumed in acquisitions ............. ... . i 21,210
‘ Reductions for warranty costs inCurred . . . ... ....cvvriiuiin s (18,089)
Warranty accrual related to current yearsales .......... ... ... . ... 9,217
Change in estimate related to previous warranty accruals . ............. ..., 6,684
Effect of exchange rales ... ... it iinnn i 930
Balance at December 31,2006 . ... ... e $ 40,273

During its normal course of business, the Company makes certain contractual guarantees and indemnities
pursuant to which the Company may be required to make future payments under specific circumstances.
Powerwave has not recorded any liability for these contractual guarantees and indemnities in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. A description of significant contractual guarantees and indemnities existing as
of December 31, 2006 is included below:

Intellectual Property Indemnities

The Company indemnifies certain customers and its contract manufacturers against liability arising from
third-party claims of intellectual property rights infringement related to the Company’s products. These
indemnities appear in development and supply agreements with our customers as well as manufacturing service
agreements with our contract manufacturers, are not limited in amount or duration and generally survive the
expiration of the contract. Given that the amount of any potential liabilities related to such indemnities cannot be
determined until an infringement claim has been made, Powerwave is unable to determine the maximum amount
of Tosses that it could incur related to such indemnifications. Historically, any amounts payable pursuant to such
intellectual property indemnifications have not had a material effect on the Company’s business, financial
condition or results of operations.

Director and Officer Indemnities and Contractual Guarantees

The Company has entered into indemnification agreements with its directors and executive officers which
require the Company to indemnify such individuals to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. The
Company’s indemnification obligations under such agreements are not limited in amount or duration. Certain
costs incurred in connection with such indemnifications may be recovered under certain circumstances under
various insurance policies. Given that the amount of any potential liabilities related to such indemnities cannot be
determined until a lawsuit has been filed against a director or executive officer, the Company is unable to
determine the maximum amount of losses that it could incur relating to such indemnifications. Historically, any

84




POWERWAVE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
(tabular amounts in thousands, except per share data)

amounts payable pursuant to such director and officer indemnifications have not had a material negative effect on
the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations.

The Company has also entered into severance and change in control agreements with certain of its
executives. These agreements provide for the payment of specific compensation benefits to such executives upon
the termination of their employment with Powerwave.

General Contractual Indemnities/Products Liability

During the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts with customers where it has agreed
to indemnify the other party for personal injury or property damage caused by the Company’s products. The
Company’s indemnification obligations under such agreements are not limited in duration and are generally not
limited in amount. Historically, any amounts payable pursuant to such contractual indemnities have not had a
material negative effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations. The Company
maintains product liability insurance as well as errors and omissions insurance which may provide a source of
recovery to the Company in the event of an indemnification claim.

Other Guarantees and Indemnities

The Company occasionally issues guarantees for certain contingent liabilities under various contractual
arrangements, including customer contracts, self-insured retentions under certain insurance policies, and
governmental value-added tax compliance programs. These guarantees normally take the form of standby letters
of credit issued by the Company’s banks, which may be secured by cash deposits or pledges, or performance
bonds issued by an insurance company. Historically, any amounts payable pursuant to such guarantees have not
had a material negative effect on Powerwave’s business, financial condition or results of operations. In addition,
the Company, as part of the agreements to register the convertible notes it issued in November 2004 and July
2003, agreed to indemnify the selling security holders against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the
Securities Act of 1933, The Company’s indemnification obligations under such agreements are not limited in
duration and generally not limited in amount.
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Note 16. Income Taxes

The components of continuing operations income (loss) before income taxes and provision for (benefit
from) income taxes for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2006, Janvary 1, 2006 and January 2, 2003 consists
of the following:

Fiscal Years
December 31, January 1, January 2,
2006 2006 2005
income {loss) from continuing operations before income
taxes:
United States .. ... i § (36,769)  $43.313 $(20,206)
Foreign .. ... .. i e (96,162) 13,224 (7,528)
Total ... ... $(132,931)  $56,537 $(27,734)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes:
Current:
Federal . ........... . . . ... $ — $ 1,058 $ (63)
State . L — 668 {786}
Foreign..... .. .. . . ... 3,837 2,526 —
Total current provision (benefit) ............ 3,837 4,252 (1.418)
Deferred:
Federal ... ... ... .. .. . . —_ — 36,367
SIALE . ... — —_ 6.728
Foreign ....... ... ... i i 718 (275) 3,377
Total deferred provision (benefit) ........... 778 (275) 46,472
Total ... $ 4615 £ 3977 $ 45,054

The provision (benefit) for income taxes in the accompanying consolidated financial statements reconciles
to the amount computed by applying the federal statutory rate of 35% to income (loss) before income taxes for
the fiscal years ended December 31, 2006, January 1, 2006 and January 2, 2005 as follows:

Fiscal Years Ended
December 31, January 1, January 2,

2006 2006 2005

Taxes at federal statutoryrate .......................... $(46,526) $ 19,788 $(9,70M
State taxes, Nel . . .. ... . ...t e _ 435 3,746
In-process research and development charge .. ............ 2,004 — 8,208
Foreign income taxed at differentrates . .................. 9,230 (2,378) (824)
Research and experimentation tax credits ................. — —_ (1,139
Other ... e 105 215 (5)
Change in federal valuation allowance ................... 39,802 (14,083) 447

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes ............ $ 4,615 $ 3977 $45054
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of tax carry-forwards and temporary differences between
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for tax and financial reporting purposes. The Company’s deferred tax
assets and liabilities were comprised of the following major components:

December 31, January 1,
2006 2006

Deferred tax assets:

Accruals and provisions .. ... o $ 22710 $12,124
Inventory ... .. e 8,156 2,744
Net operating loss carry-forwards . .................... 67,760 22,377
Property, plant and equipment . ........... .. .. ..o 4,718 4,677
Intangibles . ... ... .. ... . 4227 —
Tax credit carry-forwards . ......... ... ... ... ..... 24.058 23,782
OINeT . e 43 122
Grossdeferred tax assets . ... .. it 131,672 65,826
Less: valuation allowance .............. .. ... ... .co... {130,898) (60,079)
Net deferred tax assets .. ... . i 774 5,747
Deferred tax liabilities:
Amortizable intangible assets ............... ... ... ... — (1,801)
Gross deferred tax liabilities . ........................ — (1,801
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) ................. $ 774 $ 3946

As of December 31, 2006, Powerwave had combined federal and state operating loss carry-forwards of
approximately $125.1 million and $90.7 million, respectively, that expire from 2021 to 2024 and foreign
operating loss carry-forwards of $126.6 million with no expiration date. The Company also had federal and
California tax credit carry-forwards of $8.8 million and $15.2 million, respectively. The federal tax credits will
begin to expire in 2021 and the California tax credits wiil begin to expire in 2007.

Foreign earnings of the company are primarily considered to be indefinitely reinvested. Upon distribution of
those earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, some portion of the distribution would be subject to both
foreign withholding taxes and U.S. income taxes, less applicable foreign tax credits. Determination of the amount
of U.S. income tax liability that would be incurred is not practicable because of the complexities associated with
its hypothetical calculation, but is not expected to result in additional U.S. tax expense as a result of the
Company’s U.S. net operating losses and valuation allowance.

The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income and
the actual timing within which the underlying temporary differences become taxable or deductible. Based on
historical and forecasted earnings, the Company established a valuation allowance against its net deferred tax
assets of approximately $20.8 million and $7.1 million in Sweden and the UK, respectively, during the fourth
quarter of 2006. The Company continued to maintain a valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets in
the U.S. and various foreign jurisdictions in 2006 where the Company believes it is more likely than not that
deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Note 17. Acquisitions
Filtronic Wireless Acquisition

On October 15, 2006, Powerwave completed the acquisition of all the outstanding voting securities of
Filtronic (Overseas Holdings) Limited and substantially all of the assets of Filtronic Comtek (UK) Limited, each
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such entity a wholly-owned subsidiary of Filtronic plc, a company registered in England and Wales (such
transaction, the “Filtronic Wireless Acquisition”). The purchase price consisted of $185 million in cash and

17.7 million shares of Powerwave’s Common Stock valued at $163.1 million based on the average closing price
of $9.22 per share for three days before and after the announcement of the acquisition on June 12, 2006. The
Filtronic Wireless Acquisition was made pursuant to an Agreement by and among Powerwave, Filtronic plc and
Filtronic Comtek (UK) Limited dated as of June 12, 2006 and amended on September 4, 2006 (together, the
“Filtronic Acquisition Agreement”). There were several reasons for the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition, and these
included expansion of our transit and receive filter product lines and acquisition of complementing remote radio
head products and RF conditicning products, as well as strengthening of our design and engineering resources.

The aggregate purchase price of the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition was comprised of the following:

Common Stock .. ... $163,118
s 185.000
Transaction costs paid by Powerwave .. ..., ... ... ... ciiiiirnnnnn... 5,116

Total purchase price .. ... ... i e $353,234

The Company completed a preliminary allocation of the purchase consideration to tangible and intangible
assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon estimates of fair value determined by management with the
assistance of independent valuation specialists. Such allocation and amounts may change as management
finalizes its restructuring and integration plan, product line rationalization decisions, as well as its final
evaluation of liabilities associated with warranty obligations assumed in the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition, We
currently expect to finalize the consolidation and integration plan for the Filtronic Wireless business in the first
half of fiscal 2007. The purchase price may change as we finalize the settlement of certain transition agreements
with Filtronic plc. Powerwave allocated approximately $41.8 million to various identifiable intangible assets
related to technology and customers, with a weighted average life of 4 years. In addition, Powerwave wrote up
the acquired Filtronic Wireless finished goods inventory to fair value, all of which was sold during the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2006 and resulted in acquired inventory incremental costs of approximately $2.2 million.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2006 include a charge of
$25.1 million for the write-off of acquired in-process research and development expenses associated with the
acquisition of Filtronic Wireless. The in-process research and development expenses arose from new product
projects that were under development at the date of the acquisition and were expected to eventually lead to new
products but had not yet established technological feasibility and for which no future alternative use was
identified. The valuation of the in-process research and development projects was based upon the discounted
expected future net cash flows of the products over the products expected life, reflecting the estimated stage of
completion of the projects and the estimate of the costs to complete the projects.

New product development projects underway at Filtronic at the time of the acquisition included, among
others, passive filter/diplexer products covering multiple frequency bands, various transmit and receive modules
covering multiple frequency bands, a tower-mounted amplifier project covering full band capability and digital
remote radio head products covering multiple frequency bands power levels. At the date of the acquisition, the
Company estimated that the cost to complete these projects aggregated approximately $3.5 million and expected
the cost to be incurred over a three year period. As of December 31, 2006, the remaining expected cost to be
incurred is $2.9 million.

As part of the Filtronic Acquisition, the Company committed to establishing a new defined contribution
pension arrangement for the employees of the UK operations of Filtronic with effect from November 1, 2006.
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The intent is that the overall pension and death benefits will be broadly equivalent, but not identical, to those
provided under a similar plan established by Filtronic plc. All benefits for employees covered under the plan only
accrue from the start date of November 1, 2006. As of December 31, 2006, the arrangement was not in place.
Included in accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheet was $0.2 million related to the anticipated
arrangement at December 31, 2006.

The tollowing table summarizes the preliminary allocation of the aggregate purchase price to the fair value
of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Fiitronic Wireless Acquisition:

Assets:
LN g £ 11 L1 - $110,061
Goodwill . . 186,493
Identifiable intangible assets . ....... . ... ... .. . e i 42,600
Other NON-CUITENL ASSELS - . . . . ottt e e e e e, 39275
T Ota] B85S L, vttt e e 378,429
Liabilities:
Current liabilities . ... ... . . . . . (47,475)
Other non-current liabilities ... ... ... i e (2,820)
Total labilities . . .. ... ... (50,295)
In-process research and development . ......... ... ... .. ... . ... .. ...... 25,100
Total purchase price . ...ttt $353,234

The goodwill recorded as part of the purchase accounting is not deductible for income tax purposes.

The following unaudited pro forma financial information for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
January 1, 2006, assumes that the Filtronic Wireless Acquisition had occurred on the first day of each period
presented. The pro forma financial information is presented for information purposes only. Such information is
based upon the standalone historical results of each company and does not reflect the actual results that would
have been reported had the acquisition been completed when assumed, nor is it indicative of the future results of
operations for the combined enterprise.

Fiscal Years Ended

December 31,  January 1,
Pro forma 2006 2006
m ........................................... $ 992,080  $1,095,601
Net income (10S8) ..t v it e et $(202,644)y $ 76,209
Basic income (loss) pershare ........................... $ (156 % 0.63
Diluted income (loss) pershare ....................c.c.... $ (356 3% 0.50

REMEC Wireless Acquisition:

On September 2, 2005, the Company completed the REMEC Wireless Acquisition pursuant to the Assel
Purchase Agreement entered into by the Company and REMEC, Inc. (“REMEC”) on March 13, 2005, and as
amended on July i1, 2005. As consideration, the Company paid a purchase price consisting of $40 million in
cash, and 10 million shares of the Company’s common stock, valued at $79.5 million based upon the average
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closing price for the three days before and after the announcement of the transaction. The purchase price is
subject to certain post-closing adjustments. To cover any potential indemnification claims, REMEC deposited
$15 million of the purchase price into an escrow. There were several reasons for the REMEC Wireless
Acquisition, and these included increased customer diversification, increased product coverage and industry
consolidation.

The aggregate purchase price of the REMEC Wireless Acquisition was comprised of the following:

CommoOon StOCK . ... o e $ 79.500
Cash . e 40,000
Transaction costs paid by Powerwave .. ...... ... ... .. .. ... ... ... 2,854

Total purchase price ... ... ... ... . e $122.354

In connection with the acquisition, we formulated and began to implement a plan to restructure and integrate
the operations of the combined companies. Initial estimated costs to restructure and integrate the REMEC
Wireless operations were included in the allocation of the purchase consideration. See “Note 9. Restructuring and
Impairment Charges™ for additional information on the Company’s restructuring and integration plans.

The Company completed an allocation of the purchase consideration 10 tangible and intangible assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based upon estimates of fair value determined by management with the
assistance of independent valuation specialists. Such allocation and amounts may change as management
finalizes its evaluation of liabilities associated with warranty obligations assumed in the REMEC Wireless
Acquisition. Powerwave allocated approximately $28.7 million to various identifiable intangible assets related to
technology and customers, with a weighted average life of 4 years. In addition, Powerwave wrote up the acquired
REMEC Wireless finished goods inventory to fair value, all of which was sold during the third quarter of fiscal
2005 and resulted in a charge of $1.4 mitlion.

The following table summarizes the allocation of the aggregate purchase price to the fair value of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in the REMEC Wireless Acquisition:

Assets:
L0 g = |1 T 1 S $ 72,802
Goodwill . ... 49,113
Identifiable intangible assets .. ... ... ... .. ... ... il 28,720
Other NON-CUITENt A8S€1S . .. . ... ittt it et eeianns 39,816
Total assels: ............... .. 190,451
Liabilities:
Current liabilities .. ... .. i e (67,995)
Other non-current liabilities .. ... ... ... . ... . . . . i (102)
Total iabilities . ... ... . (68,097)
Total purchase price .................................... $122.354

Approximately $36.9 million of goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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The following unaudited pro forma financial information for the years ended January I, 2006 and January 2,
20035, assumes that the REMEC Wireless Acquisition had occurred on the first day of each period presented. The
pro forma financial information is presented for information purposes only. Such information is based upon the
standalone historical results of each company and does not reflect the actual results that would have been
reported had the acquisition been completed when assumed, nor is it indicative of the future results of operations
for the combined enterprise. '

Fiscal Year

Ended
. January 1,

Pro forma 2006
Nt SIS .« o oot $993 660
NetinComE (10S8) . . vttt e e e e et e e $ 32,350
Basic income (loss} pershare ........... . ... ... . i $ 029
Diluted income (loss) pershare . ... .. .. .. . i e $ 022

Kaval Wireless Acquisition:

On February 9, 2005, the Company acquired certain assets-and assumed certain liabilities of Kaval Wireless
Technologies, Inc. (“Kaval”) for $10.8 miltion in cash. The Company has completed an allocation of the
purchase consideration to tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon estimates of
fair value determined by management, with the assistance of independent vatuation specialists. Such allocation
includes $0.4 million to purchased in-process research and development that was expensed upon completion of
the acquisition (as a charge not deductible for tax purposes) since the underlying products had not reached
technological feasibility, successful development was uncertain and no future alternative uses existed. The results
of operations of Kaval are included in Powerwave’s consolidated financial statements from February 9, 2005
forward. The pro-forma effect of the acquisition is not material to the Company’s results of operations for fiscal
2005.

Note 18, Discontinued Operations

In the third quarter of fiscal 2006, Powerwave received an offer for the purchase of Arkivator Falképing
AB, it’s wholly-owned subsidiary. Arkivator consisted of Powerwave’s entire contract manufacturing segment.
Powerwave’s Board of Directors accepted the offer with the sale being completed on September 29, 2006. The
sales price was approximately $27.1 million, which includes the repayment of certain indebtedness. The sales
price was received in cash at closing with the exception of $1.5 million due and payable in three equal
installments of $500,000 on September 30, 2007, 2008 and 2009. The sale resulted in a loss of $23.5 million.
There is no tax benefit associated with this capital loss under Swedish tax law. Consequently, the contract
manufacturing segment of Powerwave is classified as a discontinued operation and its resulis are removed from
Powerwave’s continuing operations for all reporting periods presented. The cash flows activities of the contract
manufacturing segment remain in the staterments of cash flows for all periods presented.

For fiscal 2006, Powerwave classified the contract manufacturing segment as a discontinued operation as a
result of the sale of the business. For operating segment reporting, the contract manufacturing business was
previously reported as a separate operating segment.
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Summarized financial information for discontinued operations is set forth below:

Fiscal Years Ended
(in thousands)

December 31, January 1, January2,
2006 2006 2005

Netsales. .. ... i e e $ 35,736 $40,748  $25,046

Income (loss) from discontinued operations (net of tax of $888, $744 and
$259 for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2006, January 1, 2006 and

January 2, 2005 respectively) ... ... . $ 2,107 $(1914) $ 666
Lossonsale of subsidiary . ... ... . . . ... . . .. . . e (23,464) — —
Total discontinued operations, netoftax ............................ $21,337)  $(1914) § o666

Note 19. Asset Held For Sale

As part of the restructuring plan related to the REMEC Wireless Acquisition, we moved production of
certain wireless communications equipment out of Costa Rica primarily to Asia and vacated the building in
Barreal de Heredia, Costa Rica. In the fourth quarter of 2006, we completed the final consolidation of the
building and made it available for sale. The Company expects that the final sale and disposal of the building will
: be completed in 2007. The carrying value of the building has been separately presented in the accompanying
balance sheet in the caption “Assets held for sale,” and effective November 2006, this asset is no longer
depreciated (see Note 9).

Neote 20. Other Income, Net

Other income, net, includes gains and losses on foreign currency transactions, interest income and interest
expense associated with our subordinated convertible notes. The components of other income, net, are as follows:

Fiscal Years Ended
December 31, January 1, January 2,

2006 2006 2005
Interest INCOME . ... ... ... $ 7,301 $ 7,609 $ 2,906
INterest eXPense . ... ...ttt e {7,931) (7,718) (3,801
Foreign currency gain(loss), net . ....................... 205 1,361 (182)
Other income (expense), net . ....... ...t .. 3,333 1,049 647
Total .o e e $2908 | §2301 $ (430)

Note 21. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

In accordance with SFAS 128, basic earnings (loss) per share is based upon the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is based upon the weighted average number of
common and potential common shares for each period presented and income available to common stockholders
is adjusted to reflect any changes in income or loss that would result from the issuance of the dilutive common
shares. The Company’s potential common shares include stock options under the treasury stock method and
convertible subordinated debt under the if-converted method, Potential common shares of 31,768,205 and
15,892,536 related to the Company’s convertible debt and stock option programs have been excluded from
diluted weighted average common shares for the years ended December 31, 2006 and January 2, 2005, as the
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effect would be anti-dilutive. Diluted earnings per share for the year ended January 1, 2006 includes the add-back
of interest expense (net of tax) of approximately $6.7 million associated with the assumed conversion of the
Company’s outstanding convertible subordinated debt with the addition of 30,427,017 shares, as well as stock
options under the treasury stock method of 2,083,031 shares.

The following details the calculation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:

December 31, January 1, January 2,

2006 2006 2005
Basic:
Income {loss) from continuing operations ............ $(137,546) $ 52,560  $(72,788)
Weighted average common shares .................. 115,918 103,396 90,212
Basic income (loss) per share from continuing
OPETALIONS ... .\ \ 'ttt et § (1 $ 051 § (08D
Loss from discontinuing operations ................. $ (21,357 % (1,914) $ 666
Loss per share from discontinuing operations ......... $ (18 § (002 $ 001
Diluted:
Income (loss) from continuing operations ............ $(137,546) % 52,560  $(72,788)
Interest expense of convertible debt, netof tax ........ — 6,651 —
Income (loss) from continuing operations, as adjusted ..  $(137,546) $ 59,211  $(72,788)
Weighted average common shares .................. 115918 103,396 90,212
Potential common shares ... ...................... — 32,510 —
Weighted average common shares, as adjusted ........ 115918 135,906 90,212
Diluted income (loss) per share from continuing
OPErAtIONS ..\ vvv ittt $ (.19 $ 044 § (081
Loss from discontinuing operations ................. $(21,357) $ (1914) § 666
Loss per share from discontinuing operations ......... $ @18 & (©02) § 001

Note 22. Customer Concentrations

Powerwave's product sales have historically been concentrated in a small number of customers, During the
years ended December 31, 2006, January 1, 2006, and January 2, 2003, sales to customers that accounted for
10% or more of revenues for the year totated $242.3 million, $235.6 million, and $163.7 million, respectively.
For fiscal year 2006, sales to Nokia accounted for approximately 21% of revenues, and sales to Siemens
accounted for approximately 13% of revenues. For fiscal year 2005, sales to Cingular Wireless accounted for
approximately 16% of revenues, and sales to Nokia accounted for approximately 14% of revenues. For fiscal
year 2004, sales to Norte] accounted for approximately 25% of revenues, and sales to Nokia accounted for
approximately 11%.

As of December 31, 2006, approximately 31% of total accounts receivable related to two customers that
each accounted for 10% or more of Powerwave’s total revenue during fiscal 2006. The inability to collect
outstanding receivables from the customers or the loss of, or reduction in, sales to any of these customers could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Note 23. Supplier Concentrations ‘

Certain of Powerwave’s products, as well as components utitized in such products, are available in the
short-term only from a single or a limited number of sources. In addition, in order to take advantage of volume
pricing discounts, the Company purchases certain customized components from single-source suppliers as well
as finished products from single-source contract manufacturers. The inability to obtain single-source components
or finished products in the amounts needed on a timely basis or at commercially reasonable prices could result in
delays in product introductions, interruption in product shipments or increases in product costs, which could have
a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and resulis of operations until
alternative sources could be developed at & reasonable cost,

Note 24. Segment

Powerwave operates in one reportable business segment: “Wireless Communications.” Powerwave’s
revenues are derived from the sale of wireless communications network products and coverage solutions,
including antennas, boosters, combiners, filters, radio frequency power amplifiers, repeaters, tower-mounted
amplifiers and advanced coverage solutiens for use in cellular, PCS, and 3G wireless communications networks
throughout the world.

On September 29, 2006, Powerwave sold its Arkivator subsidiary which operated its entire contract
manufacturing segment. Consequently, the contract manufacturing segment of Powerwave is classified as a
discontinued operation and its results are removed from continuing operations for all reporting periods (see
Note 18). The cash flow activities of the contract manufacturing segment remain in the statements of cash flows
for all periods presented.

Powerwave manufactures multiple product categories at its manufacturing locations and produces certain
products at more than one location. With regards to sales, Powerwave sells its products through two major sales
channels. The largest channel is the original equipment manufacturers channel, which consists of large global
companies such as Alcatel/Lucent, Ericsson, Motorola, Nokia, Nortel, Siemens and Samsung. The other major
channel is direct to wireless network operators, such as Cinguiar Wireless, Bouyges, Orange, Sprint, Verizon
Wireless and Vodafone. A majority of our products are sold to both sales channels. The Company maintains
global relationships with most of our customers. Qur original equipment manufacturer customers normally
purchase on a globally basis and the sales to these customers, while recognized in various reporting regions, are
managed on a global basis. For network operator customers, where they have a global presence, the Company
typically maintains a global purchasing agreement. Individual sales are made on a regional basis.

The Company measures its success by monitoring our net sales by product and consolidated gross margins,
with a short-term goal of maintaining a positive operating cash flow while striving to achieve tong-term
operating profits.

Balance for the years ended December 31, 2006 and January |, 2006 excluded Arkivator. The following
table presents a further analysis of Powerwave’s sales based upon product groups: i

Fiscal Years Ended

December 31, January 1, January 2,
Wireless Communications Product Groups 2006 2006 2005
ANennasystems . ...t $195.879 27.3%%246,220 314%S$110,99% 24.7%
Base station subsystems .. ....... .. 0. 449276  62.7% 457,260 58.3% 277,521 61.8%
Coverage solutions ............. ... .. ..., 71,731 100% 80,850 103% 60356 13.5%
Total net segmentsales .................... $716,880 100.0% $784,330 100.0% $448,868 100.0%

\
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Antenna systems consist of base station antennas and tower-mounted amplifiers. Base station subsystems
consist of products that are installed into or around the base station of wireless networks and include products
such as boosters, combiners, filters and radio frequency power amplifiers. Coverage solutions consist primarily
of repeaters and advanced coverage solutions,

Balance for the years ended December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006 exctuded Arkivator. The following
schedule presents an analysis of Powerwave’s net sales based upon the geographic area to which a product was
shipped:

Fiscal Years Ended

December 31, January {, January 2,
2006 2005

Geographic Area 2006

United States . . ....oer i i et $183,149 $293,137  $114,665

AT e 102,731 76,303 61,895

BULOPE . . oo e 396,872 393,022 235,792

Other international ... .. ..... .. ... .. ... . ..... 34,134 21,868 36,516
Totalnetsales ..........0iveuvnvnnnen.. $716,886 $784,330  $448,868

Asian sales include sales to China, India, South Korea and other locations in Asia. Other international sales
include sales to Canada, Mexico, Latin and South America and all other foreign countries, Sales to Canada were
$12.7 million, $4.9 million, and $22.9 million during the years ended December 31, 2006, January 1, 2006, and
January 2, 2003, respectively. Sales to Finland were $106.0 million, $49.0 million, and $22.8 million during the
years ended December 31, 2006, January 1, 2006, and January 2, 2005, respectively. Sales to France were $38.9
million, $36.8 million, and $49.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2006, January 1, 2006, and
January 2, 2005, respectively.
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
(in thousands, except per share data)

Quarters Ended

April 2, July 2, October 1, December 31,
2006 2006 2006 20060
Fiscal 2006:
Netsales ... o e $181.811 $219,555 $145768  $ 169,752
Gross profit (J0S8) ...\ vurer i e $ 36284 $51.264 320364 3 (17,021)
Operating income (10S8) .. ... vttt $ (3.783) $ 12914 $(41,256) $(103,714)
Income (loss) from continuing operations .. ................... $ (34300 $ 11,780 3529214 $(116,682)2
Netincome (10s8) . ... it $ (2280) $ 12,622 $(54,370) $(114,875)
Basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations ........ $ 003 $ 010 § 026 $ (091)
Diluted eamings (loss) per share from continuing operations ... ... $ ©03) %5 009 3 (026) 3 (09D
Basic earnings (loss) pershare .............................. $ (002 § 011 § (048 $ (090
Diluted earnings (loss) pershare . .............. .. ... ........ § (002) 8 010 $ (048 $ (090
Basic weighted average commonshares . ................ ....., 111,660 112,166 112,306 127,542
Diluted weighted average commonshares ..................... 111,660 144,007 112,306 127,542
Quarters Ended
April 3, July 3, October 2, January 1,
2005 2005 20050 20061
Fiscal 2005
Netsales . ..o ot $152,388 $174,538 3207992  § 249412
Grossprofit. ... ... ..o $ 40363 $ 47525 § 53740 $ 63,025
Operaling inCome .. ...t $ 5791 % 11,687 3§ 16690 $ 20068
Income from continuing operations . ........ ..o $ 5094™% 13921 5 13488 § 20,057
Netincome ....... .. ... . i $§ 5371 ™3 13,0i4 $ 13,105 § 19,156
Basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations ... $ 005 § 014 % 013 § 0.i8
Diluted earmings (loss) per share from continuing
operations ......... e e $ 005 $ 012 § 011 3 015
Basic earnings (loss)pershare . ......................... $ 005 % 013 § 013 % 017
Diluted earnings (loss) pershare ........................ $ 005 % o011 3 01l $ 015
Basic weighted average common shares .................. 99,574 99,734 103,473 110,801
Diluted weighted average common shares ................. 131,229 131,908 136,214 143,803

n
@)

)]

)

Financial results include the Filtronic business beginning October 2006.

Powerwave incurred acquisition, amortization, restructuring and impairment related charges during the founth quarier of
2006, For the fourth quarter of 2006. we incurred an intangible assct impairment charge of approximately $5.6 million
related to the deciston to cease production of certain products acquired as part of the REMEC Wireless acquisition.
Included in the restructuring and impairment charges is approximately $21.2 million of inventory related charges related
to the restructuring and planned closures of the company’s Costa Rica, Wuxi, China and Shanghai, China manufacturing
tocations, approximately $0.9 million related to equipment impairments at these manufacturing locations, an additional
approximately $5.1 million in severance costs related 1o facility closures, approximately $0.9 million for additional
impairment of facilities in Sweden, and approximately $3.8 million of inventery provision related to the acquired
Filtronic Wireless Infrastructure Division business to conform with the Company’s accounting policies.
Operating income and net income for the quarter ended April 3, 2005 include a non-cash charge of $0.4 million for
in-process research and development that was expensed upon completion of the Kaval acquisition. See “Note 17.

Acquisitions” of the preceding “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”
Financial results include the REMEC Wireless business beginning September 2005,
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A.CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Controls and Procedures

We have established disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to
Powerwave and its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to the officers who certify the Company’s financial
reports, as well as other members of senior management and the Board of Directors, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosures. As of the end of the period covered by this report, Powerwave carried out an
evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation
of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 of the Securities and Exchange Act
of 1934, Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting them to material information
related to the Company that is required to be included in Powerwave’s annuval and periodic SEC filings.

There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of the year
ended December 31, 2006 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal
controls over financial reporting.

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that
our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A control
system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there
are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the
inherent limitations in ali control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all
control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within Powerwave have been detected.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial
reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Our
management assessed the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006.
Such assessment excluded the internal controls over financial reporting related to our acquisition of Filtronic.
Since we completed the acquisition of Filtronic on October 15, 2006, it was not possible to conduct a complete
assessment of Filtronic’s internal control over financial reporting in the period between the completion of the
acquisition and the date of our management’s assessment of our internal controls over financial reporting.
Therefore, our concluston in this Annual Report on Form 10-K regarding the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 does not include the internal controls over financial reporting
of Filtronic. Our fiscal 2006 consolidated financial statements include the operating results of Filtronic for two
and one-half months. During this period, these operations generated approximately 5% of total revenues,
Additionally, Filtronic’s total assets as of December 31, 2006 were approximately 17% of consolidated total
assets.

In making its assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting. our
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COS0”) in Internal Control-Integrated Framewoerk. Based on these criteria, our management has
concluded that, as of December 31, 2006, our internal control over financial reporting, excluding internal
controls over financial reporting with respect to Filtronic, are effective. Qur independent registered public
accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, has issued an audit report on our assessment of our internal control
over financial reporting, which is included herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Sharcholders of Powerwave Technologies, Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that Powerwave Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company™)
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission. As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting,
management excluded from their assessment the internal control over financial reporting at Filtronic, which was
acquired on October 15, 2006 and whose financial statements reflect total assets and revenues constituting 17 and
5 percent, respectively, of the related total consolidated financial statement amounts of assets and revenues as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2006. Accordingly, our audit did not include the internal control over
financial reporting at Filtronic. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of,
the company's principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and
effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepiled accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2} provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of
collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal
control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.
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We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated financial statements and financia! statement schedule as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2006 of the Company and our report dated March 6, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion
on those financial statements and the financial statement schedule.

fs/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Costa Mesa, California
March 6, 2007
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART 111

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
(a) [Identification of Director's and Executive Officers.

The information required hereunder is incorporated by reference from the sections of Powerwave’s Proxy
Statement filed in connection with our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions “Election of
Directors™ and “Executive Compensation.”

(b) Compliance with Section 16{a) of the Exchange Act.

The information required hereunder is incorporated by reference from the sections of Powerwave’s Proxy
Statement filed in connection with our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption “Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.”

{c) Ceode of Ethics.

The information required hereunder is incorporated by reference from the sections of Powerwave’s Proxy
Statement filed in connection with our 2007 Annval Meeting of Stockholders under the caption “Code of Ethics.”

(d) Nominating Committee, Audit Committee, Audit Committee Financial Expert,

The information required hereunder is incorporated by reference from the sections of Powerwave’s Proxy
Statement filed in connection with our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption “What
committees has the Board of Directors established?”

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required hereunder is incorporated by reference from the sections of the Powerwave’s
Proxy Statement filed in connection with its 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the headings
“Executive Compensation” and “Stock Performance Comparison,”

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required hereunder is incorporated by reference from the sections of the Powerwave's
Proxy Statement filed in connection with its 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption “Stock
Ownership.”

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required hereunder is incorporated by reference from the sections in Powerwave’s Proxy
Statement filed in connection with its 2007 Annual Meeting of the Stockholders under the captions *“Certain
Relationships” and “Transactions with Management and Others” and “Election of Directors.”

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required hereunder is incorporated by reference from the sections in Powerwave's Proxy
Statement filed in connection with its 2007 Annual Meeting of the Stockholders under the captions “Audit and
Non-Audit Fees.”
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

{a) Documents filed as a part of this report:

(1) Financial Statements

The financial statements included in Part I, Item 8 of this document are filed as part of this Report.

(2) Financial Statement Schedule

The financial statement schedule included in Part 11, Item 8 of this document is filed as part of this Report.
All other schedules are omitted as the required information is inapplicable or the information is included in the
consolidated financial statements or related notes.

(3) Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of this Report:

Exhibit
Number

Description

32

34

34.1

342

35

3.6

3.7

4.1

42

Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form-S-1 (File No. 333-13679) as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 3, 1996).

Form of Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to
the Company's Registration Statement on Form-S-1 (File No. 333-13679) as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on December 3, 1996).

Amendment to Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 12, 2006).

Amendment to Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4.1 to the
Company's Current Report on form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
October 27, 2006).

Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Powerwave
Technologies, Inc., a Delaware Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s
Form 10-Q as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 15, 2000).

Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferences and Privileges of Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock of Powerwave Technologies, Inc, (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to
Registrant’s Form 8-A dated June 4, 2001).

Centificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation {incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 3.1.2 to Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 10, 2005).

Stockholders” Agreement, dated October 10, 1995, among the Company and certain stockholders
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form-S-1 (File
No. 333-13679) as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 8, 1996).

Amendment to Stockholders Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form-S-1 (File No. 333-13679) as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on October 8, 1996).
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Exhibit
Number

Description

43

44

4.5

4.5.1

452

4.6

47

4.8

4.9
4.10

10.1

10.2

10.3

Indenture, dated as of July 18, 2003, by and between Powerwave Technologies, Inc. and Deutsche Bank
Trust Company Americas, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-107633) filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August 4, 2003).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 18, 2003, by and between Powerwave Technologies,
Inc. and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-107633) filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Aungust 4, 2003).

Rights Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2001 between Powerwave Technologies, Inc. and U.S. Stock
Transfer Corporation, as Rights Agent, which includes as Exhibit A thereto the form of Certificate of
Designation for the Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, as Exhibit B thereto the Form of
Rights Certificate and as Exhibit C thereto a Summary of Terms of Stockholder Rights Plan.
{incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Registrant’s Form 8-A12G dated June 4, 2001).

First Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated fune 19, 2003, between Powerwave Technologies, Inc.
and U.S. Stock Transfer Corporation, as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2 of the
Company’s Form 8-A12G/A as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 10, 2003).

Second Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated September 29, 2006, between Powerwave
Technologies, Inc. and U.S. Stock Transfer Corporation, as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on September 29, 2006).

Form of Global 1.25% Convertible Subordinated Note Due 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.4 to the Company’s Form §-3 (File No. 333-107633) as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August 4, 2003),

Indenture, dated as of November 10, 2004, by and between Powerwave Technologies, Inc. and Deusche
Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 4, 2004 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on November {0, 2004).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of November 10, 2004, by and between Powerwave
Technologies, Inc. and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 4, 2004 filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 10, 2004),

Form of Global 1.875% Convertible Subordinated Note due 2024 (included in Exhibit 4.7).

Registration Rights Agreement by and between Powerwave Technologies, Inc. and Filtronic plc dated
as of June 12, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 3-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 153, 2006).

Milcom International, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan (the “1995 Plan™) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form-5-1 (File No, 333-13679) as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 8, 1996).*

Form of Stock Option Agreement for 1995 Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form-5-1 (File No. 333-13679) as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on October 8, 1996).*

Amendment No. 1 to 1995 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form-S-1 (File No. 333-13679) as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on October 8, 1996).*
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.3.1

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.6.1

10.6.2

10.7

10.7.1

10.7.2

10.8

10.9

10.9.1

109.2

10.11

10.14

Amendment No. 2 to the 1995 Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form-$-1 (File No. 333-28463) as filed with the Securilies and Exchange
Commission on June 4, [997).*

Powerwave Technologies, Inc. 1996 Stock Incentive Plan (the “1996 Plan™) (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form-8-1 {File No. 333-13679) as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 8, 1996).*

Form of Stock Option Agreement for 1996 Ptan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form-8-1 (File No. 333-13679) as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on October 8, 1996).*

Form of Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement for 1996 Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form-$-1 (File No. 333-13679) as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on October 8, 1996).*

Amendment No. | to 1996 Plan (incerporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6.1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form-S-1 (File No. 333-28463) as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on June 4, 1997).*

Amendment No. 2 to 1996 Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-20549) as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on October 8, 1998).*

Powerwave Technologies, Inc. 1996 Director Stock Option Plan (the “Director Plan™} (incorporaied by
reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form-5-1 (File No. 333-1367%)
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 8, 1996).*

Amendment No.1 to Director Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-20549) as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on October 8, 1998).*

Amendment to 1996 Director Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 17, 2005).*

Form of Stock Option Agreement for Director Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form-S-1 {File No. 333-13679) as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on October 8, 1996).*

Powerwave Technologies, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.9 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form-8-1 (File No, 333-13679) as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on October 8, 1996).*

Amendment No. 1 to Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form-S-1 (File No. 333-28463) as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on June 4, 1997).*

Amendment to Employee Stock Purchase Plan {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on form S-8 (File No. 333-107645) as filed with the Securities and
Exchange commission on August 4, 2003). *

Redemption Agreement, dated October 10, 1995, among the Company and certain stockholders
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form-5-1 (File
No. 333-13679) as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 8, 1996).

Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form-S-1 (File No. 333-13679) as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Qctober 8, 1996).*
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.24

10.25

10.33

10.33.1

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43

10.44

10.48

Powerwave Technologies, Inc. 2000 Stock Option Plan (the “2000 Plan”) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 5-8 (File No. 333-38568) as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on June 5, 2000).*

Form of Stock Option Agreement for the 2000 Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the
Company’s Form 3-8 (File No. 333-38568) as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
June 5, 2000).*

Manufacturing Services and Supply Agreement between the Company and Celestica Corporation dated
as of November 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Company’s form 10-K as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 24, 2003).**

Amending Agreement dated March 10, 2006 between the Company and Celestica Corporation
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 12, 2005). **

Powerwave Technologies, Inc. 2002 Stock Option Plan (“2002 Plan™) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form 5-8 (File No. 333-88836) as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on May 22, 2002).*

Form of Stock Option Agreement for the 2002 Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the
Company’s Form S$-8 (File No. 333-88836) as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
May 22, 2002).*

Manufacturing Services and Supply Agreement between the Company and Venture Corporation
Limited dated as of January 13, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the Company’s
Form 10-Q as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 7, 2003).**

Repair Services Agreement between the Company and VM Services, Inc. dated June 26, 2003
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Company’s Form 10-Q as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on August 5, 2003).**

Change in Control Agreement dated as of August 1, 2003, between the Company and Bruce C.
Edwards (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the Company’s Form 10-Q as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on October 29, 2003).*

Change in Contro! Agreement dated as of August 1, 2003, between the Company and Ronald J.
Buschur (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to the Company’s Form 10-Q as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on October 29, 2003}).*

Change in Control Agreement dated as of August |, 2003, between the Company and Kevin T.
Michaels (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to the Company’s Form 10-Q as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Octaber 29, 2003).*

Severance Agreement dated as of August I, 2003, between the Company and Bruce C. Edwards
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to the Company’s Form 10-Q as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on October 29, 2003).*

Severance Agreement dated as of August 1, 2003, between the Company and Ronald J. Buschur
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the Company’s Form 10-Q as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on October 29, 2003).*

Severance Agreement dated as of August 1, 2003, between the Company and Kevin T. Michaels
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the Company’s Form 10-Q as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on Qctober 29, 2003).*

Amendment to Severance Agreement between the Company and Bruce C. Edwards dated May 3, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48 to the Company’s Form 10-Q as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on August 12, 2005).*
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.49

10.50

10.51

10.52

10.53

10.54

10.55

10.56

10.57

10.57.1

10.58

10.58.1

10.59

Amendment to Change of Control Agreement between the Company and Bruce C. Edwards dated
May 3, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.49 to the Company’s Form 10-Q as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 12, 2005).*

Powerwave Technologies, Inc. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,1 of
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 17, 2005).*

Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on November 17, 2005).*

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on November 17, 2005).*

Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Award Agreement under 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on November 17, 2005).*

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on November 17, 2005).*

Form of Stock Award Agreement under 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.7 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on November 17, 2005).*

Share Purchase Agreement between LGP Allgon Holding AB and IGC Industrial Growth Company AB
dated September 29,2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.56 of the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 13, 2006).

Credit Agreement by and among the Powerwave Technologies, Inc., the Lenders party thereto from
time to time (the “Lenders™), Bank of America, N.A., as Documentation Agent, and Comerica Bank, as
Administrative Agent dated October 13, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 of the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 13, 2006).

First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of February 28. 2007 between Powerwave
Technologies, Inc., the lenders party thereto from time to time (“Lenders”), Bank of America, N.A., as
Documentation Agent and Comerica Bank, as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 2, 2007).

Agreement by and among Powerwave Technologies, Inc., Filtronic ple and Filtronic Comtek (UK)
Limited dated as of June 12, 2006 (certain schedules omitied) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1
of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on June 15, 2006).

Deed of Amendment dated September 4, 2006 between Powerwave Technologies, Inc., Filtronic plc
and Filtronic Comtek (UK) Limited {(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 of the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 3,
2006).

Powerwave Technologies Executive Officer Cash Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.58 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commissicn on November 16, 2006). *
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Exhibit
Number

Description

14

23.1
24.1
311

31.2

321

322

Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14 10 the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 28, 2003 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 13,
2004).

Subsidiaries of the registrant.
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
Power of Attorney (included in signature page.)

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934,

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
18 U.S.C. Section 1350.%**

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
18 U.S.C. Section 1350.%**

*  Indicates Item 15¢a)(3) exhibit (management contract or compensation plan or arrangement).

** Registrant has sought confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Exchange Act for a portion of the
referenced exhibit.

*** In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of Regulation S-K, this exhibit shall not be deemed “filed” for the
purposes of Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise subject to the liability of
that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933
or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of
Santa Ana, State of California, on the 6th day of March 2007.

POWERWAVE TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By: /s/  RONALD J. BUSCHUR

Ronald J. Buschur
President and Chief Executive Officer

We, the undersigned directors and officers of Powerwave Technologies, Inc., do hereby constitute and
appoint Ronald J. Baschur and Kevin T. Michaels as our true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agents with power
of substitution, to do any and all acts and things in our name and behalf in cur capacities as directors and officers
and to execute any and all instruments for us and in our names in the capacities indicated below, which said
attorney-in-fact and agent may deem necessary or advisable to enable said corporation to comply with the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and any rules, regulations and requirements of the Securities
and Exchange Commission, in connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including specifically but
without limitation, power and authority to sign for us or any of us in our names in the capacities indicated below,
any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) hereto; and we do hereby ratify and confirm all
that said attorney-in-fact and agent, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature T_itE Pitf
fs/  RONALD J. BUSCHUR President, Chief Executive Officer March 6, 2007
Ronald ). Buschur and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/  KEVIN T. MICHAELS Chief Financial Officer March 6, 2007
Kevin T. Michaels (Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer)
fs/  BRUCE C. EDWARDS Executive Chairman of the Board of March 6, 2007
Bruce C. Edwards Directors
/s/  JonN L. CLENDENIN Director March 6, 2007
John L. Clendenin
fs/ DANIEL A. ARTUS1 Director March 6, 2007
Daniel A. Artusi
fs/  DavID L. GEORGE Director March 6, 2007
David. L. George
/s/ EUGENE L. GobDA Director March 6, 2007
Eugene L. Goda
/s CarL W.NEUN Director March 6, 2007
Carl W. Neun
fs/  ANDREW J. SUKAWATY Director March 6, 2007

Andrew ]J. Sukawaty
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SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(in thousands)

Balance at Balance Charges to Balance at

Beginning  Assumed in  Costs and End of
Description of Period  Acquisitions Expenses  Deductions Period
Year ended December 31, 2006:
Allowance for doubtful accounts and sales
e 11T © % 8,558 778 7,144 (7.400) 3 9.074
Allowance for excess and obsolete inventory . .. $17,467 12,695 35,696 (16,920) §$ 48938
Allowance for tax valuation ................ $60,079 26,910 43,909 — $130.898
Year ended January 1, 2006:
Allowance for doubtful accounts and sales
(=101 o 113N $ 6,309 1,675 4,584 (4,010) $ 8,558
Allowance for excess and obsolete inventory ... $15,476 24,486 14,290 (36,785) § 17,467
Allowance for tax valuation ................ $63.680 -_ 12,208 (15,809) % 60,079
Year ended January 2, 2005:
Allowance for doubtful accounts and sales
=2 1101 o T S $ 2,332 4,025 822 (870) % 6,309
Allowance for excess and obsolete inventory ...  $ 8,586 18,274 2,249 (13,633) $ 15476
Allowance for tax valuation ................ 3 — — 63,680 — $ 63,680
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- Corporate Information

Investor Information

A copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006 has been filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Additional copies of the Annual Report on
Form 10-K, including financial statements but excluding exhibits,
as well as copies of other reports filed with the Commission will be
provided to stockholders by writing to:

Invastor Relations
Powerwave Technologies, Inc.
1801 E. St. Andrew Place
Santa Ana, CA 92705

Requests for investor information can also be sent via electronic
mail to invest@pwav.com. In addition, Powerwave Technologies’
annual repert, press releases and certain filings with the Securities
and Exchange Commission can be found on Powerwave’s website at
WWW.DOWET Wave.com.

Product Information

Further information regarding Powerwave's products can be
obtained by contacting our Sales & Marketing Department at
(714) 466-1000, by fax [ 714) 466-5805, or by visiting our website
al: Www.powerwave.com.

Stock Listing
Powerwave Technologies, inc. Comman Stock trades on the NASDAD
Global Select Market under the symbal “PWAY™.

Commaon Stock Prices

Powerwave has never paid any tash dividends on its Common Stock.
Powerwave’s Board of Directors currently believes that earnings will
create greater long-term value if reinvested to create growth. There-
fore, the Company does not anticipate paying cash dividends for
the foreseeable future. Set forth below are the high and low sales
prices as reported by NASDAD for Powerwave's Common Stock for
the periods indicated.

FISCAL YEAR 2006

High Low
First Quarter  Ended April 2, 2006 $ 1576 $12.05
Second Quarter Ended July 2, 2006 $ 1360 § 862
Third Quarter  Ended October 1, 2006 $ 936 $ 6.20
Fourth Quarter Ended December 31, 2006 $ 7282 % 587
FISCAL YEAR 2005

High Low
First Quarter  Ended April 3, 2005 § BBO % 6.64
Second Quarter Ended July 3, 2005 $ 1067 $ 6.84
Third Quarter  Ended Qctober 2, 2005 $ 1308 §$ 9.99
Fourth Quarter Ended January 1, 2006 $ 1392 $10./5

Forward Looking Statements

Please refer to the forward looking statements notice contained
in the attached Form 10-K which is incorporated herein by
reference

Board of Directors

Bruce C. Edwards

Executive Chairman of the Board

John L. Clendenin
Lead Director

Daniel A. Artusi
Ronald J. Buschur
David L. George
Eugene L. Goda
Carl W. Neun

Andrew J. Sukawaty

POWERWAVE ANNUAL REPORTY EVERYWHERE

20
06

Independent Auditors
Public Accounting Firm
DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Costa Mesa, California

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Computershare Trust Company, N.A,
250 Royall Street

Canton, MA 02021

{B00) 962-4284

(303) 262-0700
www.computershare.com

Corporate Headquarters
Powerwave Technelogies, Inc.
1801 E. St. Andrew Place
Santa Ana, CA 92705

[714] 466-1000

(888) PWR-WAVE [797-9283)
[714) 466-5809 Fax
WWW,pOWErwave.com

©2007 Powerwave Technelogias, inc. All rights reserved. Powarwava, Powarwave Technologies, the Powerwava logo are registered trademarks of Powerwave Technologies, Inc VarsaFlex 13 a trademark of Powarwave
Technologes, Inc, All other compeny, produtt or senvice names referenced are used for dentification purposas only and may be frademarks of their respective owners.
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